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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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(As at the Latest Practicable Date)
(REEEMAITHE)

Board of Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Hu (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Xu Yongle™ (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Meng Xuefeng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Lv Jia
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Song Ming
Dr. Sun Mingchun
Ms. Liu Yan

Audit Committee

Ms. Liu Yan (Chairlady)
Dr. Song Ming
Ms. Lv Jia

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Song Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Meng Xuefeng
Dr. Sun Mingchun

Nomination Committee

Mr. Huang Hu (Chairman)
Dr. Song Ming

Dr. Sun Mingchun

™ Mr. Xu Yongle, who was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company by the Board with effect from 26 March 2021
and holds office until the next following general meeting
of the Company after his appointment pursuant to Bye-
Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws, will retire and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election as Director at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 16 June
2021. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 March 2021.
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(As at the Latest Practicable Date)

(REEERFITTRE)

Shareholder Information Online

www.gwpaholdings.com

Our website contains up-to-date information about our Company
including financial information, corporate communications and

other corporate information
Authorised Representatives

Mr. Meng Xuefeng
Mr. Kong Hok Kan

Company Secretary
Mr. Kong Hok Kan (ACG and ACS)

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent in
Bermuda

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North, Cedar House, 41 Cedar Avenue
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Registered Office in Bermuda

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

21st Floor, Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road

Central

Hong Kong

Stock Listing

Listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Stock Code: 583
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EEROBFELTE
BEPREFEAELARAT
BT 2B AER183%
BB LTTME
BREDMRER

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

HPRERERNEBCETEERME

&5

IR

ERRE12%
ERRITH L2118

R EmER

EEEMAXZERLM
BRAn 5% + 583

RBBRDZERERAE T -_TFERE

3



CORPORATE INFORMATION
2 8 &

(As at the Latest Practicable Date)

(REEERFTRE)

Principal Bankers

1. The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

2. Bankof China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road, Hong Kong

3. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
33/F, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

4. China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
28/F, CCB Tower, 3 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong
Kong

5. Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
25/F., Agricultural Bank of China Tower,
50 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

6. Bankof China Limited, Macau Branch
Bank of China Building, Avenida Doutor Mario Soares, Macau

7. United Overseas Bank Limited
23/F, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong Legal Adviser

lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries
Rooms 2201, 2201A & 2202
22nd Floor, Tower |

Admiralty Centre

No. 18 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Bk

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | hereby
present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 and am pleased to report that we continued to
successfully execute our strategic objectives in year 2020.

Financial Results

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately HK$130.2 million and a consolidated
net loss attributable to Shareholders of approximately HK$319.6
million, which included fair value loss on investment properties
of approximately HK$170.6 million.

Carving out this exceptional item, the consolidated net loss
attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2020 amounted to approximately HK$149.0 million, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 146.9% as compared with the
consolidated net profit attributable to Shareholders of HK$317.8
million in 2019. The swing from profit to loss was mainly due
to the significant decrease in share of profits of associates of
approximately HK$57.5 million in 2020, representing a decrease
of 87% as compared with HK$427.4 million in 2019, resulting
from the slowdown in the growth of fair value revaluation gains
on the investment properties of an associate of the Group. Loss
per share was HK20.4 cents in 2020, based on weighted average
of 1,567,745,596 shares in issue, compared with earnings per
share of HK31.1 cents in 2019.

Property Investment

During the year 2020, the Group’s property investment segment
continued to contribute stable rental income to the Group by
maintaining satisfactory occupancy rates of and income from the
investment properties in Hong Kong, comprising of Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central,
Yue King Building in Causeway Bay (including the outdoor
billboards at the exterior wall), Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau
Tong and Sea View Estate in North Point. Despite the borderless
COVID-19 outbreak which has adversely affected the fair value of
the investment properties held by the Group, these investment
properties generated segment operating revenue of HK$104.1
million during the year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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The Group has made substantial steps in improving its existing
positions within the property industry in Hong Kong by investing,
through a joint venture, in a diversified retail portfolio in Hong
Kong. The portfolio comprises a number of strategically-
located commercial properties and shopping centres, plazas
and carparks across Hong Kong that sit in the heart of densely-
populated communities and in close proximity to Mass Transit
Railway stations.

The gross floor area of the portfolio totals 2.048 million sq. ft. of
prime retail space and comes with over 7,760 parking spaces
that are connected to highly-convenient transport links. Their
excellent accessibility and holistic shopping environments have
made them attractive destinations for retailers and hubs of
community life for residents. This investment enabled the Group
to further expand its property investment business and gain
sizeable retail presence in Hong Kong, thereby creating additional
source of revenue and enhancing its profitability.

Financial Services

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
holds license under the SFO to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities) (restricted by certain conditions), Type 4 (advising
on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities in Hong Kong. The
asset management business generates revenue by charging
management fees based on the amount of assets under
management and the scope of services of corporate finance
services includes advising on corporate finance transactions,
advising on deal structure and financing strategies in the context
of mergers and acquisitions, takeovers and other notifiable
transactions. The revenue and profit generated from financial
services segment decreased by approximately 45% and 83%
respectively, from HK$47.5 million and HK$6.9 million in prior
year to approximately HK$26.1 million and HK$1.2 million in the
current year. The decreases were mainly due to the unfavourable
economic environment and fluctuating capital markets during
the year.
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The financial year 2020 was a challenging year for the Group.
Hong Kong, as the Group’s key operating market, slipped into a
further recession as the COVID-19 outbreak took its toll on the
economy. These major headwinds created a tough business
environment for the Group and the operating environment in
the 2021 fiscal year is expected to be full of challenges. Due
to unrelenting trade disputes between China and the United
States, a slowdown in global economic growth and the COVID-19
pandemic, we expect the operating performance of relevant
assets and businesses and the estimation of changes in the fair
value of investment properties will be temporarily affected, yet
we believe that the local economy will be gradually stabilized
once the current epidemic ends, and remains confident of the
long-term economic fundamentals and prospects of Hong Kong.

Moreover, the Group will actively seize the investment
opportunities, especially the development opportunities arising
from the China’s Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
strategic plan, in expanding its scope of businesses and exploring
potential investment projects by continuously leveraging on
the brand of GWAMCC. With the support and experience of the
Group’s controlling Shareholder, the Board and the management
of the Company are committed to expanding prudently and
thoroughly the Group’s businesses to generate favourable
investment returns to our Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express the Board’s sincere
gratitude to all our Shareholders, investors, customers and
business partners for their continuous support and to express
my appreciation to my fellow Directors, management and all
the staff of the Company, who have contributed substantially
to the Group, for their hard work, dedication and contribution
throughout the year.

Mr. Huang Hu
Chairman of the Board

9 March 2021
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Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Hu, aged 57, was born in Ledong County, Hainan
Province, and graduated from postgraduate course. He has
engaged in finance-related work since August 1983, and
obtained the title of senior economist in 1998. He holds a Master
degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business, and has investigated and studied asset
management and investment banking business in the United
States of America, United Kingdom, Germany and Japan. He
served as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company from 5 November 2016 until 15
March 2019. He was subsequently re-designated as an executive
Director and was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 15 March 2019. He served as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company from 15 March 2019 until 8 December
2020. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
chairman of the Nomination Committee on 8 December 2020.
From August 1983 to October 1995, Mr. Huang served as deputy
division chief, division chief of human resources department,
assistant to director and deputy director of human resources
department (in charge of comprehensive work) in Guangdong
branch of Agricultural Bank of China (“ABChina”). From October
1995 to October 1996, he served as deputy governor and Party
member in Guangdong Province Jiangmen branch of ABChina,
and governor of Waihai branch of ABChina. From October 1996
to June 1998, he served as Party member in Guangzhou branch
and Party secretary and governor in Guangzhou Suixi branch of
ABChina. From June 1998 to December 1999, he served as Party
secretary and governor in Guangdong Province Shaoguan branch
of ABChina. From December 1999 to January 2007, he served
as deputy general manager, Party member and secretary of the
Commission for discipline inspection of the Guangzhou office
of GWAMCC. From January 2007 to January 2014, Mr. Huang
served as general manager and Party secretary of the Haikou
office of GWAMCC. From January 2014 to March 2019, Mr. Huang
served as supervisor and chief supervisor of Great Wall Financing
Assurance Co., Ltd.* (RMEERERER AR, while also held
the positions of supervisor and vice chairman of the supervisory
committee of Great Wall Xinsheng Trust Co., Ltd. (RIRFE(E
ARSI AR]). From May 2015 to March 2019, he served as
director of Great Wall Guofu Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (EHEEE
¥BBRA7R)). Since June 2015, he has served as director of Great
Wall International.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Meng Xuefeng, aged 50, has been an executive Director and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company since
5 November 2016, and a Deputy Chief Executive Officer since
22 March 2017. Mr. Meng is also currently a director of various
subsidiaries and associates of the Company. Mr. Meng holds a
Master degree in economics from Jinan University. From 2000 to
June 2006, Mr. Meng worked in Guangzhou office of GWAMCC,
and served as deputy director of the business development
department of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC from May 2005 to
June 2006. From June 2006 to July 2010, Mr. Meng served as
director of Guangdong Zhongchangxin Investment Management
Co., Ltd.* (BRAREKEEEARAA]). From July 2010 to
February 2012, Mr. Meng held the position of senior deputy
manager and senior manager of the assets operation department
of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC. From February 2012 to March
2015, Mr. Meng served as senior manager of the intermediary
business department of Guangzhou office of GWAMCC, where he
also once acted as senior manager of the second intermediary
business department. From March 2015 to July 2017, Mr. Meng
served as senior manager of Great Wall International and has
served as deputy general manager of Great Wall International
since July 2017.

Non-executive Director

Ms. Lv Jia, aged 46, has been our non-executive Director since
5 November 2016 and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company since 8 December 2020. Ms. Lv holds a Master degree
in Management from Beijing Technology and Business University.
From December 2007 to January 2011, Ms. Lv served as chief
financial officer of Golden Credit Rating International Co., Ltd. (&=
F & RS AR E AR AR]). From January 2011 to December
2011, she served as vice president and chief financial officer of
Golden Credit Rating International Co., Ltd. (3R 5 & BBz AT
fHEBRAT]). From December 2011 to June 2013, Ms. Lv worked
as general manager assistant in the subsidiaries management
department (formerly known as division synergy department)
of GWAMCC, and she served as a deputy general manager of
such department from June 2013 to May 2020. From June 2020,
she acts as deputy director of the office of supervisory board (in
charge) of GWAMCC.

*  For identification purpose only
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Song Ming, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 5 November
2016. Dr. Song graduated from Zhejiang University in July
1982 with a bachelor degree in applied mathematics. Dr. Song
obtained his master degree in applied mathematics from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology (formerly
known as Huazhong Institute of Technology), and was awarded
a doctorate by Ohio State University. He has over 28 years of
experience in the research of bank regulation and management,
financial market, derivatives and macroeconomics. Between
1991 and 1997, Dr. Song was the associate professor and
assistant professor at the department of economics, Cleveland
State University. From 1997 to 2018, Dr. Song was employed by
the school of economics and finance of the University of Hong
Kong, and he was a professor, the director of Centre for China
Financial Research and the associate director of the Institute for
China and Global Development at the University of Hong Kong.
He is currently the Dean of the Economics and Management
School of Wuhan University. Dr. Song has been heavily involved
in various academic conferences, researches and consultation
projects. He served as an independent non-executive director of
Wuzhou International Holdings Limited (previously listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1369 (delisted))
from May 2013 to December 2020. Dr. Song is currently an
independent non-executive director of The United Laboratories
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3933) and Guotai
Junan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1788), both
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In
addition, Dr. Song is also an independent director of Tande Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600665), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange.
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Dr. Sun Mingchun, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 5 November 2016. He is the Chief Economist of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
November 2019. During the period from October 2014 to October
2019, Dr. Sun served as the chairman and chief investment
officer of Deepwater Capital Limited. Prior to joining Deepwater
Capital Limited, Dr. Sun held the positions as the senior partner
and chief economist at China Broad Capital Co., Limited, the
managing director, head of China research and chief Greater
China economist at Daiwa Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited,
the chief China economist, head of China equity research and
managing director at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited
and the senior China economist, vice president at Lehman
Brothers Asia Limited. During the period from July 1993 to August
1999, Dr. Sun was also an economist of the State Administration
of Foreign Exchange of the PRC. Dr. Sun is currently the vice
chairman of the Chinese Financial Association of Hong Kong
and a member of the China Finance 40 Forum. He is also a guest
professor of the Finance EMBA program of Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance, the School of Economics of Fudan University
and the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University, and the
honorary institute fellow of The Asia-Pacific Institute of Business
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. Sun received a
bachelor’'s degree in international economics from Fudan
University in July 1993. He also obtained a master’'s degree in
engineering economic systems and operations research and a
doctoral degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in June 2001 and June 2006, respectively.
From July 2014 to June 2020, Dr. Sun served as an independent
non-executive director of HJ Capital (International) Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 982), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive
director of Weimob Inc. (stock code: 2013), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRERENE

Ms. Liu Yan, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairlady of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 26 November 2018. Ms. Liu obtained a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Central University of Finance
and Economics in 1992 and a Master degree in Business
Administration from University of Rochester in 2005. She is a
member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(CICPA) and passed all three levels for Chartered Financial
Analyst (CFA) Program. Ms. Liu has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, financial management, taxation and fund management.
From 1992 to 1994, Ms. Liu worked at Brilliance Group Holdings
Limited in Shanghai. From 1994 to 2001, she worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Guangzhou. From 2005 to 2007, she
worked at the Global Financial Risk Management Department
at Barclays Capital in New York City. From 2007 to 2010, Ms. Liu
served as vice president at Angelo Gordon Asia Limited. From
2010 to 2015, she served as managing director of Investment
Management Department and Fund Management Department
at China Everbright Limited (Hong Kong). From November 2016
to September 2018, Ms. Liu served as an independent non-
executive director of U Banquet Group Holding Limited (stock
code: 1483), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. She is currently an independent non-executive
director of Tai United Holdings Limited (stock code: 718), Haitong
International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665) and
Planetree International Development Limited (stock code: 613),
all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Mr. Xu Yongle, aged 50, has been the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company since 8 December 2020. He holds a Doctoral
degree in management (accounting) from the Institute of Fiscal
Science under the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic
of China (% AR HFE B BEREA IR RH2HITAT) and holds the
title of senior economist. He is a supervisor for candidates for
master degree. He has engaged in finance-related work since
July 2005. From July 1995 to December 2011, he served as
senior staff member, principal staff member, deputy director of
general foreign affairs division and director of foreign exchange
credit division of the head office and the international business
department of the Agricultural Development Bank of China (
B2 2 34E ER17). From January 2012 to August 2017, he served
as assistant to general manager, deputy general manager of
the office (international business department) of GWAMCC
and deputy general manager of the international business
department of GWAMCC. From May 2017 to January 2019, he
served as general manager, managing partner and a member of
the investment committee of Great Wall WL Ross Fund (K3 Z&HT
EF). From February 2019 to November 2020, he served as the
deputy general manager of Great Wall International (in charge
of operations). Since October 2012, he has served as director of
Great Wall International.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRERENE

Mr. Xiao Ling, aged 50, was appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of the Company with effect from 11 October 2019. He
holds a Doctoral degree in economics and holds the title of senior
economist. He graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University with
a Bachelor degree in engineering majoring in thermal turbine
in 1992, and obtained a Master degree in economics majoring
in monetary banking and a Doctoral degree in economics
majoring in finance from Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in 1997 and 2007, respectively. From July 1992
to September 1994, Mr. Xiao served as an assistant engineer of
the second chemical factory of Chengdu (AX#&ME T —f&). From
July 1997 to February 2000, he served as senior staff member of
international business department of Sichuan Province branch
of ABChina. From February 2000 to August 2010, Mr. Xiao served
as deputy division chief of the asset operation and management
department, principal staff member of third division of asset
operation department, and business executive of general affairs
department of Chengdu office of GWAMCC. He was re-designated
to the human resource department of the headquarter of
GWAMCC in August 2010 and served as business executive of
remuneration management division, senior deputy manager
of remuneration management division and senior manager of
veteran cadre management division. From March 2015 to June
2019, he worked in the capital management department of the
headquarter of GWAMCC, served as senior manager of capital
market division, senior manager of capital management division
and senior manager of debt planning division.
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Ms. Li Li Hua, aged 58, was appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of the Company with effect from 21 September 2017
and the Chief Operating Officer of the Company with effect
from 15 March 2019. Prior to joining our Company, she was
an executive director of Shanghai Zendai Property Limited
(‘Shanghai Zendai”), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 755), during 18 August 2014 to
20 September 2017. From March 2008 to June 2015, she held
various positions in Shanghai Zendai, including manager of
finance department, general manager of the Hong Kong region,
vice president and chief executive officer and her principal duties
were corporate governance, expansion of overseas business,
financial management, financing arrangement and public
relations management. Ms. Li was an on-the-job postgraduate
majoring in monetary banking in the finance division of the
Graduate School of Renmin University of China. Ms. Li has over
23 years of experience in the investment and management of
securities investment and capital markets. She served as chief
economist of Xiangcai Securities Co., Ltd. and general manager of
its southern headquarter, as well as deputy chief economist and
general manager of the finance department of Hainan Securities
Company Limited.

Ms. Zheng Yuanyuan, aged 42, was appointed as the Deputy
General Management of the Company with effect from 15
March 2019. She was the company secretary of the Company
from 31 October 2016 to 11 October 2019 and acted as head
of the legal department of the Company from the same date
to June 2018. Ms. Zheng has extensive experience in handling
large investment and transaction projects. She passed the
National Judicial Examination of the PRC and obtained the Legal
Profession Qualification Certificate in 2002. She acquired bar
qualification in the New York State of the United States in 2008
and qualified as a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong in 2015. After
obtaining a Master degree in Common Law from the University of
Pennsylvania in the United States, Ms. Zheng worked in the Hong
Kong office of Baker & McKenzie from 2007 to 2015, and served
as special counsel prior to her resignation. From December
2015 to June 2018, Ms. Zheng served as co-head of the legal
department of Great Wall International and acted as the Chief
Administrative Officer of the general affairs department of Great
Wall International from June 2018 to March 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRERENE

Mr. Wang Han, aged 40, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 22 March 2017. Mr. Wang
has extensive experience in financial analysis, valuation analysis
and audit. He obtained his bachelor degree majoring in finance
from the business school of The University of Auckland in New
Zealand in 2004 and master degree of business administration
from City University of Seattle in the United States of America in
2014. He is also a Certified Public Accountant and a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. From 2012
to 2015, Mr. Wang worked in the debt valuation department of
Great Wall Golden Bridge Financial Consulting Co., Ltd.. He acted
as the head of finance department of Great Wall International
from 2015 to August 2019. Prior to 2012, he worked as Assistant
to chief financial officer of Carlton Party Hire in New Zealand,
auditor of Ernst & Young Hua Ming and worked in the research
department of ICBC Credit Suisse Asset Management Co., Ltd..

Company Secretary

Mr. Kong Hok Kan, aged 37, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 11 October 2019. He
joined the Company as the Deputy Company Secretary in April
2017 and is primarily responsible for the company secretarial
and listing compliance functions of the Group. He is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional, and an
associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University
of Brighton and a Master of Science degree in Professional
Accounting and Corporate Governance from City University
of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kong has served
various listed companies during the period from August 2006 to
March 2017 and has over 14 years of extensive experiences in
company secretarial and corporate governance practices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE V&

Operating Results of the Group

The Group’s consolidated operating results for the years ended

31 December 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

A

AEBBEE_ZT_TFER_T-AF+-A=1
*EIJJ:@EZ@Q?%%%ZWDT

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HL%¥E

(HK$ millions, except percentages (B8AT Bt 2020 2019 % Change
and per share amounts) Lk Eke BRI BB ZT-NF EFAask
Revenue Wi 130.2 168.4 (23%)
Rental and utilities A& K&k (13.3) (13.6) (2%)
Other operating expenses Hig ey (49.4) (64.0) (23%)
Operating costs before depreciation and impairment RETTE RRE 2 &R A (62.7) (77.6) (19%)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment WE - BERREME (92.9) - *x
Depreciation e (12.5) (20.9) (40%)
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit’ THBRLE (FR)/ BR (37.9) 69.9 *K
Other income Hip A 0.1 0.2 (50%)
RENMENTE(EE)/
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties Wezs (170.6) 169.2 o
Operating (loss)/profit L2 (F5R) /B (208.4) 239.3 *K
Net finance cost B ATE (160.9) (173.4) (7%)
Share of profits of associates JEIREEZ N R BF 57.5 427.4 (87%)
Income tax expense TSRy (7.8) (6.3) 24%
(Loss)/profit for the year 2F (B8)/ B (319.6) 487.0 *x
BRBEAEE (EB)/
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders 27 (319.6) 487.0 e
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) SR (B8),/ B (&) (20.4) 31.1 *k
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit is defined as operating (loss)/ KREGE (B18) BRARTARFTEMKRA R
profit before other income and fair value (loss)/gain on investment BEMENTE (B1B), Wz ae (B1E), /&
properties. K o

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.

** RINVEB)EBH100% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE V&

Loss attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31
December 2020 amounted to HK$319.6 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 165.6% as compared with profit
attributable to equity holders of HK$487.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. Loss per share was HK20.4 cents
for the year ended 31 December 2020, based on weighted
average of 1,667,745,596 shares in issue (earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019: HK31.1 cents based
on 1,567,745,596 shares in issue). Loss for the year ended 31
December 2020 is mainly attributable to the fair value loss on
investment properties, the significant decrease in share of profits
of associates, and the impairment charge against the property,
plant and equipment.

Excluding the revaluation loss of investment properties for the
year ended 31 December 2020 of HK$170.6 million (revaluation
gain of investment properties for the year ended 31 December
2019: HK$169.2 million), the net loss attributable to equity
holders for the year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$149.0
million (the net profit attributable to equity holders for the year
ended 31 December 2019: HK$317.8 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of HK$466.8 million or 146.9%. The swing
from profit to loss was mainly due to (i) the significant decrease
in share of profits of associates to approximately HK$57.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (share of profits
of associates for the year ended 31 December 2019: HK$427.4
million), resulting from the slowdown in the growth of fair value
revaluation gains on the investment properties of an associate of
the Group; and (i) the impairment provision charge of HK$92.8
million against the property, plant and equipment (‘PP&E”) of the
Group as a result of the prolonged decline in commercial property
prices under the outbreak of the novel COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE V&

Business Review

The Group principally engages in the operation of two segments,
namely, the property investment segment and the financial
services segment.

The Group has maintained a diversified investment property
portfolio in Hong Kong which comprises Kwai Fong Plaza, certain
floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue King Building
in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau Tong and
Seaview Estate in North Point. On the other hand, the Group has
also participated in the investment in the JV Group (as defined in
the paragraph headed “Significant Investment in relation to the
Investment in an Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate”
on page 25 of this Annual Report) which holds a diversified
portfolio of properties in Hong Kong. Details of the said
investment in the JV Group have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in
an Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate” in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

The borderless COVID-19 outbreak has ravaged the global
economy and business activities. Coupled with the unrelenting
trade disputes between China and the United States, the
property market in Hong Kong, especially the commercial
property market, has been double hit and far more challenging
than any other time. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
rental concessions of HK$3.6 million (for the year ended 31
December 2019: Nil) were provided to support our tenants
according to their circumstances. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group’s revenue decreased by 23% to
HK$130.2 million and loss attributable to shareholders of
HK$319.6 million was recorded (31 December 2019: profit
attributable to shareholders of HK$487.0 million) due to the
drastic deterioration in property market performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE V&

The outbreak of COVID-19 has adversely affected the property
market and the fair value of the investment properties held by
the Group and its associate, which resulted in the recognition
of a significant loss in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties of HK$170.6 million (31 December 2019: gain of
HK$169.2 million) and the significant decrease in share of profits
of the Group’s associates to HK$57.5 million (31 December 2019:
share of profits of associates of HK$427.4 million). As a result
of the adverse economic effects of the COVID-19, the level of
estimation uncertainty and judgement for the fair valuation of
investment properties has increased since 31 December 2019.
At 31 December 2020, capitalisation rates range from 2.75% to
3.90% (at 31 December 2019: range from 2.50% to 3.75%) are
used in the income capitalization approach for the investment
properties which are owned by the Group. With other variable(s)
held constant, the higher the rates, the lower the fair value. At
31 December 2020, rental rates of HK$10.0 psf to HK$98.0 psf
and HK$3,326.0 per car parking space (at 31 December 2019:
HK$13.3 psf to HK$100.5 psf and HK$3,326.0 per car parking
space) are used for investment properties and car parking space
respectively in the income capitalisation approach. With other
variable(s) held constant, the lower the rental rates, the lower
the fair value. Given the unknown future impact that COVID-19
might have on the real estate market, management will keep the
valuation under frequent review.

Further on the discussion of the adverse impact of COVID-19,
the prolonged decline in commercial property prices under the
outbreak of the novel COVID-19 has resulted in an impairment
provision charge of HK$92.8 million being made against the
PP&E of the Group.

Since the revaluation loss is non-cash in nature and the Group’s
investment properties and investment in the JV Group are held
as long-term investments for stable and recurring rental income,
the management considers that there is no material effect on the
operating cash flow of the Group.
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The Company expects that the impacts on the operating
performance of relevant assets and businesses and the changes
in the fair value of investment properties are temporary and the
management believes the current epidemic will soon be resolved,
and remains confident of the long-term economic prospects of
Hong Kong. The Group will continue to leverage on the successful
strategy in diversifying its portfolio of investment properties
as outlined in our 2019 Annual Report and we are confident
that it will continue to succeed in the future so as to generate
sustainable return for our shareholders.

The Group also operates in the financial services segment which
comprises provision of asset management and corporate finance
services (licensed by the SFC to carry out Types 1, 4, 6 and 9
regulated activities). Although the Group recorded a year-on-year
decrease in the revenue generated from the financial services
segment for the year ended 31 December 2020 given the volatile
financial market in 2020, as more particularly discussed in
the paragraph headed “Financial Services” below, the Group
will continue to explore and seize opportunities to develop its
financial services segment.

Revenue
The consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December

2020 and 2019 by business segments and for the Group were as
follows:
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T RIRIE D BB
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLFE

(HK$ millions, (BEBT - 2020 2019 % Change
except percentages) B2 BRI —ECEF —T-hEF gEHOLL
Property investment YR E 104.1 120.9 (14%)
Financial services T RLARTS 26.1 47.5 (45%)
Total revenue W58 130.2 168.4 (23%)
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Financial Review by Operating Segments

The Group’s reportable and operating segments during the year
ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

(@) property investment segment which comprises the
investment in retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces for rental income; and

(b) financial services segment which comprises provision of
asset management and corporate finance services (licensed
by the SFC to carry out Types 1, 4, 6 and 9 regulated
activities).

Property Investment

LE D2 BT ERE

ARERHE—F-FET A=t BLFE
TS BREEH BT

F+§+

(a) MEREHDBBEFERENEHESRAZEE
JEAKE TEREESEMN &

(b) & RARFE D H a%hfm\?gﬁ&m%mﬁﬁ
AR5 (EEESRENEF - 4 6 9N
XHEE) °

YIRIRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+-BHLHFE

(HK$ millions, (BEBT - 2020 2019 % Change
except percentages) B2 BRI —EZEF ZE-NE EHEol
Revenue g 104.1 120.9 (14%)
Adjusted EBITDA" RARHRFE
BE EREH
Z BRI 56.4 74.2 (24%)
Depreciation e (11.5) (9.4) 22%
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 1% - ¥ R RERE (92.8) - ok
Adjusted operating (loss)/ profit RRRKE (Eﬁ?ﬁ)/
B (47.9) 64.8 S
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment REMENTE
properties and other income (&B18),/ =k
HUA (153.9) 180.3 **
Net finance cost IR F R (29.5) (38.6) (24%)
Income tax expense FTefimAS (6.5) (6.3) 3%
(Loss)/profit attributable to RREM (B5B),/
shareholders? BF* (237.8) 200.2 *k

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, impairment, other income and fair value gain/loss on
investment properties.

# Including fair value loss on investment properties of HK$170.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and fair value gain on
investment properties of HK$169.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019.

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.

RABRARFTNE - HIR - ERBH BN
FERARFFE ~ BIA - I8 - BE - HblRAR
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+ - A=1+—BHIFEEREWELATERZE169.2
BEBTT

x> RINEBNRIBE100% °
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Revenue of property investment segment for the year ended 31
December 2020 was HK$104.1 million, compared with HK$120.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease
is mainly due to the decrease in revenue generated from the
outdoor billboards at the exterior wall of Yue King Building.

The loss attributable to shareholders from property investment
segment was mainly due to the fair value loss on investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2020. An adjusted
operating loss of approximately HK$47.9 million was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2020, compared to an adjusted
operating profit of approximately HK$64.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which was mainly attributable to the
recognition of impairment charge of PP&E.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Group’s diversified
investment property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue
King Building in Causeway Bay (including the outdoor billboards
at the exterior wall), Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau Tong and
Seaview Estate in North Point.

Revaluation loss on investment properties for the year ended
31 December 2020 was HK$170.6 million, compared with the
revaluation gain of HK$169.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. The revaluation loss for the year ended 31
December 2020 was mainly caused by the decrease in fair value
of certain floors of Yue King Building and the Bank of America
Tower of around HK$82 million and HK$67.5 million respectively.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2020 by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited (31
December 2019: Cushman & Wakefield Limited and Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited), which holds a
recognised relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties being valued. For all investment properties,
their current use equates to the highest and best use. The
revaluation gains or losses are shown as “Fair value gain or
loss on investment properties” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Fair values of the retail shops, office
buildings, industrial properties and car parking spaces are
derived using the income capitalisation approach. There were no
changes to the valuation techniques during the year.
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Financial Services

TRARTS

For the year ended 31 December

BEZt-A=+—HLEFE

(HK$ millions, (BBAT 2020 2019 % Change
except percentages) BALEBRIN) —ECEF —E-NE 2FE
Revenue e & 26.1 47.5 (45%)
Adjusted EBITDA" RAEHOKRFE -

BE - TEREHEZ

B 2.7 10.9 (75%)
Depreciation nE (0.3) (0.6) (50%)
Adjusted operating profit RARKERT 2.4 10.3 (77%)
Net finance cost CUR I RNE S 0.1 (3.4) o
Income tax credit BiREykinc) (1.3) - o
Profit attributable to equity holders ERFEAEERR 1.2 6.9 (83%)

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and other income.

Represents a change in excess of 100%.

The revenue derived from asset management services for the
year ended 31 December 2020 was around HK$25.7 million (31
December 2019: HK$36.6 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 30%). The corporate finance services fees for the
year ended 31 December 2020 were around HK$0.2 million (31
December 2019: HK$1.1 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 82%). There was no revenue from loan investment
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019:
HK$9.8 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 100%).
The decrease of the financial services income was mainly due
to the repayment of the loan investment receivable in 2019 and
the decrease in the number of projects under corporate finance
services as compared with 2019.
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Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in an
Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate

Significant investment in an associate represents the Group’s
35.78% equity interests in a joint venture, Everwell City Limited
(together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “JV Group”), which
owns 16 diversified commercial properties and shopping centres,
plazas and carparks across Hong Kong at Cheung Hang Shopping
Centre, Kai Yip Commercial Centre, Kam Tai Shopping Centre, Lei
Cheng Uk Shopping Centre, On Ting Commercial Complex, Shek
Lei Shopping Centre | & I, Tai Wo Hau Commercial Centre, Tsz
Ching Shopping Centre, Yau Oi Commercial Centre, Yung Shing
Shopping Centre, Kwai Shing East Shopping Centre, Lai Kok
Shopping Centre, Lee On Shopping Centre, Retail and Car Park
within Shun Tin Estate, Tsing Yi Commercial Complex and Lions
Rise Mall. The initial investment was HK$3,123.4 million in 2018.
The fair value of the investment was HK$3,863.7 million as at
31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: HK$3,806.9 million) and
represents around 49.3% of the total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2020 (31 December 2019: 47.4%). The Group’s share of
profit of an associate from JV Group was approximately HK$56.8
million in 2020 (share of profit for the year ended 31 December
2019: HK$424.5 million). The decrease in the share of profit of an
associate of the Group in 2020 is mainly due to the slowdown in
the growth of fair value gains of the investment properties of the
JV Group (which comprise of commercial properties), attributable
to the unprecedented adverse market condition caused by the
outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The Group presently
intends to hold the abovementioned equity interests in the JV
Group as long-term investment.
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REERRIZEARERAEEREGE QA
Everwell City Limited GERIEMMBARTSRHE &
M ]|) 235.78% 8k - AEEEME DM
REBR16IBZ AL EMEU KRB+ L
BiZREEE  BERTHES  BMERS 8%
i TEEES  RERS - AEEE—HRk
—H - KBOBS - BEAE - KRERS - BR
i RERRES  BRERS  FeEs - JBX
W EHEEES  SKABERARILES -
RZZT—N\FEHYPERE RS, 123488 °
N_ZE-_TFE+_A=1+—H KREQLFEA
3,863.7EEBT(ZE—h&E+-_A=+—8:
3,806.9BEEIT)  MAKER T _TF+=
B=+—BZHBEENL3I%(ZT—NF+=
B=1—8 :47.4%) - —E-FF - X&EEAH
AEEBDE—RBE NRIAFLS6.8BEET
(BE=_Z—NWF+-_A=+—BHLEFEHER
B : 4245 BBEBT) - AEBR_ZZTF NG
BEQBBARD  WHRE S _TFIEE
B FT AL AR R SR 1B R A BT FT AR B AR I T L 5
2 BYLLEEBREME (HEmEMEME
BR) A AW RN - ANEBE B ATHE it
REERENRERERIRIRE -

RFBLERERAR —_Z_TFERE | 25



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Eiﬁﬁnj liﬁfﬁ

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group’s main source of liquidity is recurring cash flows from
the property investment and financial services segments. The
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were
as follows:

31 December

RBEERERKR

AEEZEERFECRRARBEMERER S
BIRIEHEF 2 KB HIRERE - AEER-ZT=
TERZFE-NF+ZA=T—HBZHBRRN
T

31 December

2020 2019 % Change
(HK$ millions, (B&BT i St 223 —E-NEF
except percentages) B LEBRIN) +=-RA=+—H +-A=+—H 2EEI
Cash and bank balances Be RRTHE 212.5 182.3 17%
Shareholders’ funds BRRES 2,640.7 2,959.2 (11%)
Current ratio BN & 0.25 3.99 (94%)
Gearing ratio EEARBLE 63.2% 60.7% 4%

The Group’s cash and bank balances are held predominantly
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has no significant exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group has maintained a
strong cash position and expects its cash and cash equivalents
and cash generated from operations to be adequate to meeting
its working capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$212.5 million, as compared to
HK$182.3 million as at 31 December 2019. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 December 2020 was 63.2% (as at 31 December
2019: 60.7%), being calculated as total debts (which includes the
loan from an intermediate holding company and bank borrowing)
less cash and bank balances (‘net debt”), over the Company’s
total capital employed. Total capital employed is equivalent to
the sum of net debt and shareholders’ funds. The slight increase
in gearing ratio is mainly due to the drop in shareholders’ funds
as a result of the fair value drop of the investment properties.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had outstanding principal
of unsecured shareholder loans of HK$3,848.4 million (as at
31 December 2019: HK$3,848.4 million). As at 31 December
2020, the Group has undrawn bank facility of approximately
HK$485.0 million (as at 31 December 2019: HK$485.0 million),
and the Group had outstanding bank borrowing of approximately
HK$901.0 million as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31 December
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2019: HK$897.3 million). As disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has repaid the
bank borrowing in February 2021 by a term loan provided by
Great Wall International. The Group actively and regularly reviews
and manages its liquidity position and financial resources and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions
and business development needs.

For the SFC licensed corporations under the Group, the Group
has ensured that each of the licensed corporations maintains
a liquidity level adequate to support the level of activities
with a sufficient buffer to accommodate increases in liquidity
requirements arising from potential increases in the level of
business activities. During the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2020, all the licensed subsidiaries have complied with
the liquidity requirements under the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2020, an investment property of the Group
with fair value of approximately HK$1,840.0 million (as at
31 December 2019: investment property with fair value of
approximately HK$1,832.0 million) and restricted cash of HK$6.2
million (as at 31 December 2019: restricted cash of HK$10.2
million) were pledged to secure the mortgage loan granted to
the Group. Please refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2020 was HK$59.4 million, compared with net cash
generated from operating activities of HK$67.7 million in 2019.
The decrease in operating cash inflow was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Investing Activities

Net cash generated from investing activities for the year ended
31 December 2020 was HK$2.4 million, compared with the net
cash generated from investing activities of HK$112.7 million in
2019. The decrease in investment cash inflow was mainly due
to the one-off repayment of loan receivable by the debtor to
the Group of HK$116.7 million and repayment of loan from an
associate of HK$13.7 million in 2019.
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Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2020 was HK$31.5 million, compared with the net
cash used in financing activities of HK$167.6 million in 2019. The
decrease in financing cash outflow was mainly due to the one-off
repayment of HK$66.6 million loan from an intermediate holding
company of the Company and HK$49.8 million bank borrowing in
2019.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 21 employees
(as at 31 December 2019: 19). As the Group’s businesses will
continue to grow, its remuneration philosophy is designed to
provide its employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values.

The Group’s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance to market terms and statutory
requirements, aim to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivate and reward employees in order to achieve
its business performance targets, retain and attract key talents
and ensure alignment with the interests of our businesses, and
thereby enhancing shareholder value. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical insurance, medical check-up scheme,
mandatory and voluntary provident fund scheme and rental
reimbursement scheme are offered to eligible employees.

The Group’s employee recruitment and promotion are primarily

based on individuals’ merits, relevant experiences, development
potentials for the positions offered and performance.
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Outlook

The management expects that the 2021 fiscal year will be
full of challenges in view of the uncertainties in the global
macroeconomy due to the outbreak of COVID-19.

The COVID-19 pandemic’s socio-economic impact is being
experienced not just in Hong Kong, but also across the world.
Numerous uncertainties arising from the unrelenting trade
disputes between China and the United States coupled with
the outbreak of the COVID-19 have dampened the investment
sentiment in the financial market and further deepened market
concerns about the economic prospects, which have presented
us with unprecedented severe challenges. Nonetheless, the
overall financial and business positions of the Group remain
healthy.

To cope with such challenges, the Board and management of
the Company will fully leverage on the competitive edges of the
Group to drive the performance of core businesses at a steady
pace and will also actively seize investment opportunities
prudently and thoroughly in order to generate favourable returns
for our Shareholders while maintaining strong cash position.

The Company is of the view that the impacts on the operating
performance of relevant assets and businesses and the
estimation of changes in the fair value of investment properties
are temporary, and the management believes the current
epidemic will soon be resolved, and remains confident of the
long-term economic prospects of Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, in the complicated and constantly-changing
macro-economic environment with fierce competition, the
Group will seize the development opportunities arising from
the China’s Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
strategic plan and further strengthen the synergy effect by
leveraging on the substantial resources from GWAMCC, our
controlling Shareholder, through the integration of domestic and
foreign capital markets, and aggressively expanding its domestic
business, to ensure the Group can make full use of its role as the
sole overseas listed platform of GWAMCC.
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The Board and the Company’s management are committed to
upholding the Group’s obligations to Shareholders. We regard the
promotion and protection of Shareholders’ interests as one of our
priorities and keys to success.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders and enhance corporate value,
formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its
transparency and accountability.

The Group has put in place sound corporate governance practices
to ensure it adheres to high ethical and business standards. The
key test of corporate governance practices is whether they can
align the interests of management with those of Shareholders
to adequately protect and promote Shareholders’ interests. The
Group is committed to the continuous improvement of corporate
governance practices to support the performance of our
business and enable effective oversight. The Group constantly
reviews these guidelines and policies and implements new ones
to ensure they remain relevant and practical in today’s fast
changing business environment and market expectations.

The Group has adopted and applied the applicable principles
and code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its corporate
governance practices. The Group also adheres to certain
recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code
insofar as they are relevant and practicable.

The Board is of the view that, throughout the year ended 31
December 2020, the Company has complied with the applicable
principles and code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, save for the deviations from code provisions
A.2.7 and E.1.2 as explained in this report.
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The Group believes that its current corporate governance
practices, which combine governance framework and practices
that develop over time and new practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, provide the Group with a sound and sensible
framework for balancing the business of the Group and the
interests of its Shareholders. The Group will continue to evaluate
its corporate governance practices in light of its business needs,
regulatory changes and new corporate governance philosophies.

Set out below are our current framework of governance and
explanations about how the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code have been applied.

The Board of Directors

The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the interests
of Shareholders. As at the date of this Annual Report, the
Board comprises six Directors: two executive Directors and
four non-executive Directors (including three independent
non-executive Directors). Independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board.

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date
of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Huang Hu
Mr. Meng Xuefeng

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Zenan (resigned on 8 December 2020 due to his other
business engagements)

Ms. Lv Jia

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Song Ming

Dr. Sun Mingchun

Ms. Liu Yan

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship) among members of
the Board. The biographies of all the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 8 to 16 of this Annual Report.
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The Board’s main responsibility and purpose is to deliver the
long-term success of the Group and to create long-term value
for its Shareholders by providing strategic and entrepreneurial
leadership, and by exercising prudent oversight and control over
the Company. As the business continues to grow, the Board
needs to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources —
both funding and talent - to deliver success. The Board also
recognises the need for effective engagement by the Company
with its key stakeholders, including all its investors.

Each Director brings a wide range and years of business
experience to the Board to meet our long-term objectives.
The Directors’ combined knowledge, expertise and experience
are extremely valuable in overseeing the Group’s business
operations.

The Board sets the strategic direction and oversees the
performance of the Group’s business and management. The
principal matters the Board is responsible for include:

- approval of strategic direction, policies and objectives

« review and approval of business plans and budgets

« monitoring operational and financial performance

« review and approval of annual results and interim results

« review and approval of annual report and interim report as
well as the related financial statements

« review and approval of dividend policy and recommendation
of final dividend, and declaration of interim dividend and
where appropriate, special dividends

« appointment of auditor

« review and approval of significant acquisitions and disposals
and major financings, borrowings and guarantees

« approval of material contracts

« overseeing the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring their effectiveness

In addition, the Board discusses major operating issues,
evaluates opportunities and business risks. Decisions and
conduct of matters other than those specifically reserved to
the Board are delegated to the management whilst structured
monthly updates on the Group’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient details are provided to the Directors to
enable them to discharge their duties.
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The Board reviews the arrangements between the responsibilities
of the Board and the matters delegated to the management
periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group and its businesses.

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code and adopted a revised Terms of
Reference of the Board on Corporate Governance Functions in
March 2017, including:

« developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance

+ review and monitoring of the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management

+ review and monitoring of the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

« development, review and monitoring of the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report as specified under the Listing Rules

Key corporate governance matters reviewed by the Board during
the year were:

«  review of the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

« review of the effectiveness of the internal control system

« proposal on the re-appointment of the Company’s external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers

+ appointment of Mr. Huang Hu as Chairman of the Board and
Chairman of the Nomination Committee

« appointment of Ms. Lv Jia as member of the Audit Committee
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- appointment of Chief Executive Officer

« annual review of continuing connected transactions

« review and adoption of revised Property Management and
Investment Management, Personal Account Transaction
Policy and certain internal policies

The Group has devised a Whistleblowing Policy (updated on 21
June 2019) on malpractice reporting and investigation setting
out specific procedures facilitating whistle-blowing reports and
investigation thereof.

The Company is also committed to upholding sound corporate
governance practices and complying with its obligations to
disclose inside information under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as well as the Listing Rules. The Company had
adopted a Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information setting
out specific policies and procedures facilitating the Company’s
compliance with these obligations.

Board Proceedings

The Board holds four regular meetings annually as a minimum,
usually quarterly, and also meets at such other times as
necessary. The Company generally gives notice and draft agenda
of regular Board and Board Committees meetings at least 14
days in advance. For other Board and Committees meetings,
notice is generally given pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and the respective Terms of Reference of the Committees.

Agenda of Board meetings are prepared by the Company
Secretary in consultation with the Chairman, and based on a
forward calendar that helps to ensure that all relevant matters
for the year ahead are considered by the Board in a timely
manner. Each Director is encouraged to contribute to the agenda
setting process. The Board is provided with adequate, timely
and reliable information about the Group’s businesses and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors
actively participate and make informed discussions. Each
Director is asked to review and comment on the Board minutes
within a reasonable time after each meeting to maintain accurate
records of Board discussions and decisions.
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During the year, the Board held four Board meetings. The
attendance of each Director at Board and Committee meetings,
and the annual general meeting is detailed in the table below.

FA EFECRTUAEFTESH - BEFH

= oA A s

EFRREEREH  ARBREFARHEE
P -

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

HERY  SEHE

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENEEE FHZEES REZEE RREF
Name of Director Esps Ezxged L L e AE
Mr. Chen Zenan!” BEmEED 3/3 2/2 -/- 1/1 0/1
Mr. Huang Hu® BREAED 414 -/- -/- -/- 0/1
Mr. Meng Xuefeng AZELE A -/- 171 -/- 11
Ms. Lv Jia® BERLO 4/4 1/1 =[= == 0/1
Dr. Song Ming AEEL 4l 3/3 1/1 1/1 171
Dr. Sun Mingchun FREET A -/~ 171 171 11
Ms. Liu Yan £l ik 4/4 3/3 == =f= 11

Notes: BEE -

(1) Resigned as Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director,
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee on 8 December 2020. Three Board meetings, one
Nomination Committee meeting and two Audit Committee meetings
were held on or before 8 December 2020.

(2) Appointed as the Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 8 December 2020.

(38) Appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 8 December
2020. One Audit Committee meeting was held on or after 8
December 2020.
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All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure all board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied with.
The Directors update the Board regarding offices held in
public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments once every half year. There are also procedures for
the Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense.

Code provision A.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code
stipulated that the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive directors without
the presence of other directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a formal meeting
could not be arranged between the Chairman of the Board and
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors due to the scheduling difficulties on account
of the COVID-19 pandemic situation in Hong Kong. However,
the independent non-executive Directors may communicate
and discuss with the Chairman of the Board directly at any time
to voice their opinions and share their views on the Company’s
affairs. The Company considers that there are sufficient channels
and communication for discussion of the Company’s affairs
between the Chairman and the independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of other Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of the Company’s
performance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board is primarily responsible
for leading the process for Board appointments and for
identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
benefits of diversity continue to influence the succession
planning of the Board.
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When identifying candidates for Board membership of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes into account the
board diversity policy of the Company (‘Board Diversity Policy”).
A range of diversity factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional and
industry experience, skills, knowledge and time commitments
will be considered in selection of each candidate to become
member of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merits and contribution that the selected individuals will bring
to the Board. The Company’s own business model and specific
needs has also been taken into consideration in setting the
Board Diversity Policy. External recruitment professionals might
be engaged to carry out the selection and recruitment process
when necessary.

In conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the balance
of talents, skills, experience and background and the diversity
representation of the Board. The Nomination Committee will
review annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
The Nomination Committee will report annually on the process it
has used for Board appointments.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process and
Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”),
which aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures to assist the Nomination Committee
and the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirement of the Group’s businesses. A summary of the
Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria
The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for

directorships:

« Character and integrity.
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« Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

+ Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and
significant commitments.

« Requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

« Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee or the Board for
achieving diversity on the Board.

«  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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Nomination Process 2. BEBRE

2.1 Appointment of New Director

2.1.1The Nomination Committee or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1 above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

2.1.21f the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

2.1.3The Nomination Committee shall then recommend

to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship.

| GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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2.1.4For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting

2.21The Nomination Committee and the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in section 1 above.

2.2.3The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Board confirms the term of appointment and functions of
all non-executive Directors and Board Committee members with
formal letters of appointment.

Directors who are appointed to fill vacancies or as an addition to
the Board are subject to re-election at the next following general
meeting of the Company after his or her appointment. In addition,
every Director, including every non-executive Director, shall retire
from office no later than the third annual general meeting after
he/she was last elected or re-elected. One-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then a number not less than one-third, are required to
retire by rotation from office at every annual general meeting
under the Company’s Bye-Laws. A retiring Director is eligible for
re-election.
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The Company maintains procedures for Shareholders to propose
a person for election as a director of the Company. The details of
these procedures are published on the Company’s website.

Directors’ Remunerations

The Directors’ fees and all other reimbursements and
emoluments (if any) paid or payable to the Directors during the
year are set out, on an individual and named basis, in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report on
pages 192 to 198.

The remuneration policy of the Group is set out on page 28 of this
Annual Report.

Compliance with the Model Code and the Company’s
Guidelines

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020 and
up to the date of this Annual Report.

The Company has also adopted written guidelines (the
“Company’s Guidelines”), which are equally stringent as the
Model Code, in respect of securities transactions by relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company pursuant to code
provision A.6.4 of the Corporate Governance Code. No incident
of non-compliance against the Model Code or the Company’s
Guidelines by the Company’s relevant employees has been noted
after making reasonable enquiry.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules and is grateful for the
contribution and independent advice and guidance that they
have been giving to the Board and the Board Committees.

Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in any proposals or transactions to be considered by the
Board at Board meetings and withdraw if appropriate.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors are arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics are distributed to Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, all the Directors
had participated in continuous professional development
programmes, including but not limited to internally-facilitated
briefings organised by the Company and qualified professionals
and trainings conducted by law firm, and reading materials
relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities. A record of
the trainings received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the Company. The training areas that the Directors
received during the year were as follow.
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Training Areas
I g8
Corporate Legal and

Governance Regulatory Group’s Business
Name of Director BEEpE tEER FREREERTE FEEEY
Mr. Chen Zenan® PRIZRm STED v v v
Mr. Huang Hu |mTAAE v v v
Mr. Meng Xuefeng hEEEE v v v
Ms. Lv Jia BiEZT v v v
Dr. Song Ming REEL v v v
Dr. Sun Mingchun EREEL v v v
Ms. Liu Yan 2186 20 + v v v
Notes: ByEE -

(1) Resigned as a non-executive Director on 8 December 2020.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Other matters relating to the Board

The Group has appropriate insurance in place to cover the
liabilities of the Directors and officers of the Group.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The primary role of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for the proper functioning of the Board
and for securing the application of good corporate governance
practices. The Chairman ensures the Board has formulated the
corporate goals and objectives, long-term business model and
strategy for delivering the corporate strategy of the Group, and
establishes an effective system for monitoring the progress of
their effective implementation and achievement. He directs the
corporate development activities of the Group, and ensures that
effective steps are taken to provide effective communication
with Shareholders and that their views are communicated to the
Board as a whole. The Chairman is also responsible for setting
the Board’s agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available
for discussion of all agenda items in particular strategic issues.
He promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors. Furthermore, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely
manner, accurate, clear, complete and reliable information.

The primary role of the Chief Executive Officer is to focus on
attending to the formulation and implementation of Group’s
policies and overseeing the implementation of the strategies
and objectives agreed by the Board. The senior management
should support the Chief Executive Officer in performing this.
The Chief Executive Officer has principal responsibility for
overseeing day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses
and operations, maintaining the operational performance of the
Group and monitoring the operating and financial results of the
Group’s businesses against plans and budgets.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees with mandates to deal with certain
corporate governance affairs of the Group. The Terms of
Reference of each of the above-mentioned Committees
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website.

FERITHRAR

ITRNEBRBEEEREESTEAC  YAE
EEemMZEEF  BERIFEEEATEREN
BT - TFEBRREFSFEARENEEERR
R REEBEANRBUABRAEENEE
BIRE - MRS R R DA B R HETT R SE RN
ER - BHESIAKENEERREE MERE R
BAMRERRRFREENME  BEREER
AEEREEEE - ETRTAE TEFEEH
12 HERA KRN mEELPIESIR - /h
ARG ENEE - TREBBIEFFRITESEL
RFER - BERATEIFATESHNZRILE
1% - EmEERB R ERMIE - 1IN EHEE
BERE FERRUCER B - TERAIEN
Bl e

THAERNTIERBEEEI2EHFTRETAS
BHR  AREEREFTERENRBERAETL
EEBL - WERHESREREHNIER - TR
RHEEREREARBEERLEENREE
B ERAKERERT - WEREEIREE
ERAREEBEE RITEFEE -

EEERE8T

SR IRATFR  FMEERZEE AR
REASENETEREREK - LKL ESR
2 B &6 B EA B R A 2 48k R AR R B 2 A8
uf ©

RFBLERERAR —_Z_TFERE | 43



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

P EEBRE

From time to time, the Board will also establish other board
committee(s) to deal with specific aspects of its business.

Each Committee is established with written terms of reference
which are no less exacting than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, setting out its roles and functions. Each
member of the Committee has a formal letter of appointment
setting out key terms and conditions relating to his/her
appointment.

Each Committee meets as frequently as required by business
developments and the operation of the Group. Committee
members are provided with adequate and timely information
before each meeting or discussion. All Committee members are
asked to review and comment on the minutes of their meetings
within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The procedures and arrangements relating to the meetings of
the Board are applied to meetings of the Board Committees
whenever it is appropriate.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1998 with its defined
written terms of reference (which was revised in August 2018).
As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Yan
(Chairlady of the Audit Committee) and Dr. Song Ming, and a
non-executive Director, Ms. Lv Jia. A majority of Audit Committee
members are independent non-executive Directors, with Mr. Liu
Yan and Dr. Song Ming possessing the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The Audit Committee members have professional qualifications
and experience in financial matters that enable the Committee
to exercise its powers effectively and provide the Board with
independent views and recommendations in relation to financial
matters.

The principal roles of the Audit Committee are to ensure that
the Company has formal and transparent arrangements for
considering matters relating to the Group’s financial reporting,
and risk management and internal control systems and for
maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
internal auditor (if any) and external auditor.
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The duties of the Audit Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Audit Committee holds two regular meetings annually
and also meets at such other times as circumstances require.
Any Audit Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee. The external auditor may also request the Committee
Chairman to convene a meeting of the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee may invite the external auditor and/or members
of management to attend any of the meetings. Special meetings
may be called at the discretion of the Committee Chairman or at
the request of management to review significant internal control,
risk management or financial issues. The Committee Chairman
reports to the Board at least twice a year on the Committee’s
activities and highlights any significant issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Audit Committee held
three meetings and the individual attendance records of each
of the Audit Committee members are set out on page 35 of this
Annual Report.

The Audit Committee’s main works during the year included
reviewing:

« 2019 Annual Report, including the Corporate Governance
Report, Directors’ Report and the audited consolidated
financial statements, as well as the related annual results
announcement (with recommendations made to the Board
for approval)

« 2020 Interim Report and interim results announcement (with
recommendations made to the Board for approval)

« compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the SFO,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules

« in relation to the external auditor, their report on the review
of interim consolidated financial information and the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, key audit
findings, audit services plan and letter of management’s
representation, and their re-appointment and terms of
engagement

« Internal Control Assessment Report (with areas of concerns
discussed and highlighted to the Board)

- effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems and associated
procedures within the Group

« annual review of the continuing connected transactions
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During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is
different from that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any
recommendation presented by the Audit Committee.

There were no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which in turn
endorsed the view) that, subject to Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers
be re-appointed as the external auditor for year 2021.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2000 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Dr. Sun Mingchun, and an executive Director, Mr.
Meng Xuefeng.

The Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration policies
and structure of the Group with the delegated responsibility to
determine the remuneration packages of executive Director(s)
and senior management of the Group (as defined in the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee). It also
makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

In conducting its work in relation to the determination of
remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee ensures that no individual (or any of
his/her close associates) was involved in determining his or her
own remuneration.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee meets once a year and at such

other time as necessary. Any Committee member may convene a
meeting of the Remuneration Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Remuneration Committee members are
set out on page 35 of this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee’s main works during the year
included:

« review of the remuneration policy and structure of the Group

- review and determination of the remuneration package of
executive Directors and senior management

« review and recommendation of the Directors’ fees of all the
independent non-executive Directors for approval by the
Board

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2005 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises an executive Director, Mr. Huang Hu
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming and Dr. Sun
Mingchun.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors and senior management, reviewing
the size, structure and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board, reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s Board Diversity Policy annually
and making recommendations to the Board on the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board. It also assesses
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Before an appointment is made, the Nomination Committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepares a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.
If deemed appropriate, external consultants may be engaged to
identify suitable candidates.
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The duties of the Nomination Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least annually or meet
at such time as the Committee Chairman shall require. Any
Nomination Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Nomination Committee members are set
out on page 35 of this Annual Report.

During 2020, the Nomination Committee completed the review of
the size, structure and composition of the Board and assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to code provision A.5.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code and made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of retiring Directors. It also conducted a review on the diversity
of the Board and recommended to the Board for approval of the
appointment of Mr. Huang Hu as Chairman of the Board and the
appointment of Mr. Xu Yongle as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer and is responsible
for ensuring there is a good and timely flow of information
to Directors, both in their roles as Board members and as
members of individual Board Committees. He also assists with
the continuing professional development of Board members.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board and Board Committee meetings.

The Company Secretary also plays an important role in advising
the Board on all corporate governance-related matters and is
also available to provide advice to the Board. Mr. Kong Hok Kan,
the Company Secretary, has confirmed that he has undertaken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

All activities conducted and all decisions made by the Company
may involve risks to a certain extent. The Board plays a critical
role of monitoring the risk exposure of the Company. The Board
considers the risks in an active manner in setting of strategies.
The Board also considers the risks in assessing opportunities for
business development and growth so as to determine the risk
appetite of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and for reviewing
the effectiveness of these systems annually so as to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.
Accordingly, the Company has established internal control and
risk management systems to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage or mitigate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Company’s objective is to establish a comprehensive and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is aware of its responsibility to ensure that an appropriate
and effective risk management system is established and
maintained by the Company.

The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management (‘ERM”)
framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate and
monitor key risks. The framework provides a proactive and
structured approach to identify, manage and monitor risks
on an on-going basis with a common framework across the
organisation to evaluate risk significance and likelihood of
occurrence.

Risks faced by the Company fall into a number of principal
categories: strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk,
financial risk and information risk. The procedures of ERM
of the Company involve risk identification, risk assessment/
prioritisation, risk response and risk monitoring and reporting.
Risks and uncertainties associated with the business of the
Company may have an adverse effect on business, financial
conditions and results of the Company. The Company has
identified certain principal risks through risk identification and
assessment, and has developed risks monitoring mechanism to
facilitate risk monitoring and control.
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The Group operates a “Three Lines of Defence” risk governance
model to delegate and coordinate essential risk management
and control duties in a clear and cohesive manner:

(a)

First line of defence — Business units are responsible for
maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk
and control procedures on a day-to-day basis. Operational
management identifies, assesses, controls, and mitigates
risks, guides the development and implementation of
internal policies and procedures and ensures that activities
are consistent with goals and objectives. Through a
cascading responsibility structure, mid-level managers
design and implement detailed procedures that serve as
controls and supervise execution of those procedures by
their employees.

Second line of defence - (1) Business Management
Department monitors the risk management system,
and facilitates the development, setting and effective
implementation of policies and guidelines. It provides
advice and guidance to the first-line functional units on
implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems; (2) Legal and Compliance Department
monitors various specific risks such as non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations; (3) Company Secretarial
Department monitors various specific risks such as violation
of applicable rules and regulations; (4) Finance Department
serves as a controllership function that monitors financial
risks and financial reporting issues.

Third line of defence — internal audit function, which reports
to the Audit Committee, provides independent assessment
over the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and makes recommendations based on the
audit findings.

During the year, an independent professional advisory firm
has been engaged by the Company as the consultant of the
Group. It is responsible for conducting in-depth review on
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The advisory firm has issued a report with its opinion that
the Company has maintained effective and adequate risk
management and internal control systems, which are compliant
and align with the Company’s operational and management
systems.
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The purpose of the internal control system of the Company is to
improve the operating effectiveness and efficiency, safeguard
assets against abuse and unauthorised disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and that the financial
statements give a true and fair view, and ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss,
and manages, rather than eliminates, risks associated with the
business activities of the Company.

The Board together with the Audit Committee have reviewed
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company during the year. The
Board will upgrade the existing systems of the Company with
reference to the recommendations given by the above-mentioned
independent professional advisory firm, in the areas of
financial management, operation and corporate controls and
risk management. The Board is satisfied that effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are maintained and align with the operational and
management systems of the Company. The Directors consider
that it is necessary for the Company to continuously improve its
internal control system to the extent that the risks preventing the
Company from achieving its objectives can be properly managed.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and implemented specific policies
and procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, including limiting employees’
access to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis and
ensuring that those who need to know understand their
obligations to maintain the confidentiality of any confidential
information of the Group. Appropriate confidentiality agreements
are put in place when the Company enters into significant
negotiations. All inside information is disclosed to the public
pursuant to the requirements under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and is kept strictly confidential before disclosure.

ARBRMEERRE EIRS 2 E W R -
REETNSHERAIAERERE - #5108
S NEERA T 2 B®REK - WHEREST
MHEDEARLRTE - NEEER R S FHEEKRIEAR
RASBARMEAREIEH 2 RE - XEEM
IFHRERRR XD AB R

EXEREZZE@CNFARS AR A ER
EENAMEERGELBRSLEH - EFSH
WAL B R B A ARENE RIRT A RREN
A BREMBER  SERCEEFIREARE
BEHH - EESEMARRBHTE R THN
FERRERE N NRRERE R - WEARREERE
BRBITA - EFERANRRALENEFET
ZNEEAERL - ABIHBEER AR AR B IRHE
BRREEZEERE

BEERBHARHES

AR RILERIE K B4 ARH B E R AT THRE
BER N IZFIARAEREE - Bt FEME R
AIRBIE TRISAREE - LRERBNIETE T#
HUASEE AT EREGREREBZEE -
ARREITERERR AR B RE W © I
BERBHEBRERES MG ERD & EmRRIE
TIREMARIKE - WA X BIBIBRE

REBLERERAR —Z_FEHRE | 51



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
o % 1

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results. Key risks affecting the Group are
identified below. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may
also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Group
employs an ERM framework to identify current and foreseeable
risks at different levels of the organisation so as to take
preventive actions to manage and mitigate their adverse impacts.

(1) Regulatory compliance risks

52

The Hong Kong financial market in which the Group operates
is highly regulated. The Company, as a listed company in
Hong Kong, together with certain subsidiaries with SFC
licences to carry out relevant regulated activities, are
required to comply with the rules and regulations from
various regulatory bodies. The regulatory and compliance
regime in the financial industry of Hong Kong is changing
constantly, which increases the likelihood of regulatory
non-compliance as new rules are introduced and existing
ones are tightened. The Group may encounter challenges
in keeping abreast of the changes and managing regulatory
compliance risks, particularly in the areas of handling
connected transactions, notifiable transactions and
managing the disclosure of inside information, preventing
money laundering transactions for money lending business.
In case of failure to comply with the applicable rules and
regulations, the Group may be subject to fines, or even
suspension or revocation of some or all of the licenses for
carrying on the business activities. Accordingly, the Group’s
business operations and financial results might be materially
and adversely affected.
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(2) The Group requires the right people, skills and

3

capability to manage growth and change

The Group has established an organisation structure to
address recent business changes and relevant regulatory
requirements. Staff roles and responsibilities, authorities
and limits, reporting lines and segregation of duties need to
be clearly defined. Since most of the Group’s core businesses
commenced operation with limited number of key personnel
in each business segment, the Group is required to review
the needs of staff resources in order to cope with the
business expansion and deliver success in the future.
Given that the competition for competent personnel in the
industry is intense, there is high likelihood that competent
personnel may leave the Company, therefore, the Group may
encounter difficulties in attracting or retaining the services
of the necessary key personnel for that business segment.
The Group should hire and retain highly skilled employees
with particular expertise or leadership capability in order
to remain competitive. The implementation of the Group’s
strategic business plans could be undermined by failure to
build a resilient corporate culture, failure to recruit or retain
key personnel, unexpected loss of key senior employees,
failures in the Group’s succession planning and incentive
plans, or failure to invest in the development of key skills.

The Group is subject to a competitive and changing
industry

Financial services segment is one of the reportable and
operating segments of the Group. The financial service
industry in Hong Kong has a large number of participants
which makes the industry highly competitive. The Group has
to compete against competitors which may have greater
brand recognition in the market, more human and financial
resources, a wider range of services and longer operating
history than that of the Group. Apart from large multinational
financial institutions, the Group also faces competition from
local small and medium-sized financial services firms which
offer a similar range of services. Failure to maintain the
Group’s competitive strengths by responding rapidly to the
changing business environment and intensified competition
may erode the Group’s market share and result in an adverse.
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(4) Risks related to strategic planning and reputation

54

GWAMCC, one of the four major state-owned financial
asset management corporations in the PRC, is engaged in
the businesses of acquisition, management and disposal
of non-performing assets, asset management, banking,
securities, insurance, trust, leasing, investment, etc. As a
result of changes in the Group’s shareholding structure and
businesses in 2016 and 2017, GWAMCC became the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. The Group is now
principally engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services including asset management and
corporate finance. The Board has formulated development
plans and strategies to accomplish the strategic objectives of
transforming the Group into a conglomerate with businesses
in property investment and integrated financial services,
and developing the Company as a major listed entity and
an integrated development platform of GWAMCC outside
Mainland China.

The Group will leverage the solid foundation, strengths and
reputation that GWAMCC has formed in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, in order to constantly expand its businesses.
As such, the Group is exposed to inherent reputation risks,
failure to deliver quality services to clients could result in an
adverse impact on Great Wall’'s brand reputation.
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(5) Financial and regulatory reporting risks

As a listed company, the Company has statutory and social
responsibilities to prepare accurate and timely financial
statements which provide objective and reliable information
for stakeholders to base their decisions upon. Inaccurate
or untimely reporting could seriously affect the Group’s
position such as a drop in share price, or impaired sourcing/
financing ability. The Group carried out asset management
and corporate finance businesses, which indicates that
new financial reporting processes are implemented and
experienced finance staff would be required to extract,
assemble, aggregate and analyse financial data to ensure
accurate financial reporting. The process of financial
reporting becomes more complex and frequent, and
transactions may involve complex accounting treatment or
estimation. The Finance Department is required to assess
the impact of the new or revised standards upon adoption
from time to time. In addition, licensed corporations are
subject to various statutory returns (i.e. the Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules, Disclosure of Interests,
etc.) under the requirement of the SFC and other regulatory
bodies.

The Group is exposed to various key risks including credit
risks, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Details of the
aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are
elaborated in Note 30 “Financial Risk Management” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.
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(6) The Group requires a robust internal control system

and controls

The Group is operating under a highly regulated environment.
As a listed company with SFC licensed subsidiaries,
members of the Group are required to establish sound and
effective internal controls which are designed to identify and
manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
ensure reliable financial reporting, effective and efficient
operations, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Apart from the investment property business,
other core businesses, including asset management and
corporate finance were introduced in 2017. The Group has
established relevant policies and procedures to cope with the
business development. Strengthening of the internal control
and risk management systems is an ongoing process, the
Group is expected to continue designing and implementing
appropriate measures to meet the changing business
environment. Failure in delivering services in a proper
manner, the Group may result in facing a loss in market
share, reputation and sales revenue.

(7) Risks pertaining to investment properties

56

The prospects of the Group’s property investment business
depend on the performance of the property market in
Hong Kong. The property market in Hong Kong is affected
by many factors, including but not limited to, changes
in local and international economic, political, social and
legal environments and changes in Hong Kong’s fiscal and
monetary policies including the impact of COVID-19, all of
which are beyond the control of the Group. The Group holds
various commercial, retail and industrial buildings in Hong
Kong and derives revenue through leasing out the properties.
Being one of the Group’s core businesses, any property
market downturn in Hong Kong may materially and adversely
affect the financial position, operations, businesses and
prospects of the Group and may lead to fair value loss of the
Group’s investment properties.
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As part of the periodic evaluation by management,
implications of COVID-19 on its fair value estimation process
have been considered. Management engages an external
valuer using the income capitalisation approach which takes
into account market information with reference to sales
evidence as available on the market. Management considers
that such market information is already reflective of the
impact of COVID-19 during the year on achievable rental
yields and capitalisation rates of the implied valuation as at
the valuation date. Management is also aware of potential
valuation uncertainty given the unknown future impact that
COVID-19 might have in the short term and longer term, and
continues to monitor and reassess potential indicators due
to COVID-19 affecting valuations at the relevant reporting
dates.

External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was first appointed as the Group’s
external auditor in 2001.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, PricewaterhouseCoopers
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provided the following audit and non-audit services to the Group: BB E TR SIS AT A S B M T 5% K3k
BEIZIRTS

2020 2019

—B-EHE —T-NEF

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000

BT T BT

External audit SN B AX 1,269 1,279

Tax services 1% AR A% 231 221

Other services H At R 7% 915 521

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and offer themselves for BEFKESFHMEKAER S —F/XA

re-appointment at the annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Wednesday, 16 June 2021.

The statement by PricewaterhouseCoopers about their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this Annual Report on pages 129 to 138.
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Investor Relations & Shareholders’ Rights

All of the Company’s shares are ordinary shares carrying equal
voting rights. Please refer to the “Directors’ Report” section of this
Annual Report on page 64 for information regarding the public
float status of the Company.

The Company recognises its responsibility to look after the
interests of its Shareholders. Shareholder relations play an
integral part in corporate governance. The Company keeps
Shareholders informed of its performance, operations and
significant business developments by adopting a transparent
and timely corporate disclosure policy, i.e. the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, which complies with the Listing Rules and
provides all Shareholders with equal access to such information.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy of the Company is
available on the website of the Company.

The Company reports on financial and operating performance
to Shareholders twice each year through annual and interim
reports. Shareholders are given opportunities to raise concerns
or propose recommendations to the Board at the Company’s
annual general meetings. The Company’s external auditor
attend annual general meetings to answer questions about the
external audit and the audit report. Shareholders may visit our
website (www.gwpaholdings.com) for share price information,
latest business developments, announcements, corporate
governance policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company Secretary is responsible for responding
enquiries from Shareholders and other interested parties.
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board’s and
management’s attention (to the extent it is publicly available
and appropriate to provide) can be sent to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by mail to 21st Floor, Bank
of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.
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Note: Any such letter from the Shareholders should be marked
“Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.
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The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

The Company promotes fair disclosure of information to all
investors and uses best endeavours to ensure that disclosures
made by the Company comply with the Listing Rules’ prohibition
against selective disclosure of inside information.

During the year, the Company held one annual general meeting,
and the attendance records of each of the individual Directors
are set out on page 35 of this Annual Report.

Code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that, among others, the chairman of the board should attend
the annual general meeting. With the COVID-19 pandemic and in
light of the regulations introduced by the government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, Mr. Chen Zenan, the then
incumbent Chairman of the Board, did not attend the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2020. In order
to ensure an effective communication with the Shareholders
of the Company, the Directors attending the AGM elected Mr.
Meng Xuefeng, an executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive
Officer, to chair the AGM on behalf of the Chairman pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-Laws to answer relevant questions from
the Shareholders present thereat. The external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, also attended the AGM.

Shareholders have specific rights to convene special general
meetings. A Shareholder or Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the Company’s Shares may require the Directors to
convene a special general meeting of the Company by depositing
a signed requisition at the registered office of the Company,
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, with a copy
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
stating the purpose of the meeting.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.
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Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at general meeting. The Shareholders shall represent
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates, or
shall not be less than one hundred Shareholders. The written
requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists and state
the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the
Company’s registered office pursuant to the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, with a copy to its principal place of business
in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, not
less than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any other
requisition. If, after the requisition requiring notice of a resolution
has been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an
annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed
to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof. The
requisitionists shall be responsible for the relevant expenses
incurred in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
unless the Company otherwise resolves.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.

The Company held an annual general meeting in June 2020,
during which matters including re-election of retiring Directors,
authorisation of the Board to fix Directors’ remuneration,
re-appointment of external auditor, and grant of general
mandates for the issuance and buy-back of Shares by the Group,
were presented for Shareholders’ approval. At such annual
general meeting, details of the poll voting procedures and the
rights of Shareholders to demand a poll were set out in the
circular to Shareholders. All proposed resolutions were voted by
poll and the poll results were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the year 2020, the Company has not made any significant
amendment to its Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws.
The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held
on Wednesday, 16 June 2021. A circular containing, among other
matters, further information relating to the forthcoming annual
general meeting will be despatched to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable.

Disclosures of Directors’ Information Pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Change in other Major Appointments

— Ms. Lv Jia (our non-executive Director) ceased to act as
deputy general manager of subsidiaries management
department of GWAMCC and serves as deputy director of the
office of supervisory board (in charge) of GWAMCC in June
2020.

- Ms. Liu Yan (our independent non-executive Director) was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Planetree International Development Limited (stock code:
613), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
with effect from 1 November 2020.

- Dr. Song Ming (our independent non-executive Director)
resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Wuzhou International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1369), a
company delisted from the Stock Exchange on 8 December
2020, with effect from 20 December 2020.
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Directors’ Positions Held

On 8 December 2020:

Disclosures Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in
respect of two of the Company’s loan agreements, which contain

Mr. Chen Zenan resigned as a non-executive Director,
Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company;

Mr. Huang Hu was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and Chairman of the Nomination Committee; and

Ms. Lv Jia was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company.

covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling
Shareholders of the Company, as follows:

(1) On 11 June 2018, the Company (as the borrower) entered

62

into a facility letter with a bank (‘Bank A”) (as the lender) in
relation to a one-year uncommitted revolving loan facility
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,000,000
and that such loan facility continues in full effect after expiry
of the said one-year term until terminated by either party
pursuant to the facility letter. Pursuant to the facility letter,
the Company has undertaken to Bank A that during the
term of the facility letter, (i) Great Wall International directly
or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of the total share
capital of the Company and retains management control of
the Company; and (i) GWAMCC directly or indirectly owns
not less than 50.1% of the total share capital of Great Wall
International and retains management control of Great Wall
International.
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(2) On 11 October 2019, the Company (as the borrower) entered  (2) R=ZZE—NF+A+—H ' KR8 (EAE

into a loan agreement with a bank (‘Bank B”) (as the lender)
in relation to an uncommitted revolving loan facility in an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$100,000,000 (or its
equivalent amount in the optional currency(ies)) for a period
of one year from the date of the loan agreement. Pursuant
to the loan agreement, the Company has undertaken to
Bank B that during the term of the loan agreement, (i) Great
Wall International directly or indirectly owns not less than
50.1% of the total share capital of the Company and retains
management control of the Company; and (ii) GWAMCC
directly or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of the
total share capital of Great Wall International and retains
management control of Great Wall International. A breach
of such undertakings will constitute an event of default and
Bank B may terminate the loan agreement and demand
immediate payment and/or repayment of all amounts
outstanding (together with interest accrued thereon and any
other amounts owing to Bank B) under or in connection with
the uncommitted revolving loan facility from the Company.

On 9 September 2020, the Company and Bank B entered into
a supplemental letter to the loan agreement to, among other
things, extend the term of the loan facility to 11 October
2021.

Save for the extensions of the loan facility, all other terms
and conditions of the loan agreement including the specific
performance obligations on Great Wall International and
GWAMCC as disclosed above remain unchanged.
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Remuneration of Senior Management SREEENS

The remuneration of the members of the senior managementby #HE-Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILFESRER

band for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below: B BiRFEEEI D eRs T
Number of
members of
senior
management
BREEEREHE
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 TTIA T 2
HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T — 2,000,000 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T — 3,000,000 7T 1
Total &% 4
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The Board is pleased to submit this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal Activities and Segments Information

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group during the year are property investment
and provision of financial services.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

A fair review of the Group’s business and the analysis of its
performance as well as prospects of the Group’s business are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this Annual Report (which
form part of the Directors’ Report).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers represented 47% of the Group’s
total revenue and revenue attributable to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 20%.

Save for the continuing connected transactions entered with the
Company’s controlling Shareholder, Great Wall International, as
disclosed in this report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither
the Directors, their close associates, nor Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2020 had any interest in the five
largest customers.

Since the Group is engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group did
not engage with significant purchase during the year. Therefore,
no major supplies were identified.
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Financial Results

The losses of the Group for the year and the financial position of
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 139 to 219 of
this Annual Report.

Dividends

The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2020 (for the six months ended 30 June
2019: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the year
ended 31 December 2019: Nil).

Five-year Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 220 of
this Annual Report.

Investment Properties

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer as at 31 December
2020 using the fair value model. Details of investment properties
of the Group are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2020 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Associates
Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December

2020 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted
to HK$639,101,000 (2019: HK$639,101,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$4,749.5 million (2019: HKS$4,745.7 million).
Particulars of borrowings are set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HK$5,000 (2019: HK$29,000).
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date

of this Annual Report are:

=5

FARRAFEREBPNARRERNAT -

Executive Directors Title Notes
HITES B (i3
Mr. Huang Hu Chairman of the Board Appointed as non-executive Director on 5

BREL EXEIR

Mr. Meng Xuefeng Deputy Chief Executive Officer

November 2016 and re-designated from non-
executive Director to executive Director on 15
March 2019
ZE-RFT-ARBREZAERFNTES I
RZE-NE=ZA+HBBENTEETHIT AN
TE=

Appointed on 5 November 2016

hEEESE BT —E-RET-ALHEZRE

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. Chen Zenan Appointment on 15 March 2019 and resigned

BRZmR L on 8 December 2020
—E-NF-ATHBREZRE UIR_ZT_TF
+TZANBEE

Ms. Lv Jia Appointed on 5 November 2016

AfEXL 2 R"FT-ARBREEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUKHITES

Dr. Song Ming Appointed on 5 November 2016

REEL —ERNET-ALHEZRE

Dr. Sun Mingchun Appointed on 5 November 2016

RAREL —EREt+-ARHEZE

Ms. Liu Yan Appointed on 26 November 2018

Gk ZE-NFT+—AZ+BEZHE
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The Board has established three committees, being the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The table below details the membership and
composition of each of the three committees as at the date of
this Annual Report.

EXeR IRE=-EZEE  DHAREREE
g FHREERERZEE - TROBHFIIN
AEEHEAH=EZ 888K E KAKE

/|F£

o

Remuneration Nomination
Audit Committee Committee Committee
Director i3 EREES FMHEES BEEEES
Mr. Huang Hu |mRAAE C
Mr. Meng Xuefeng BB EEE M
Ms. Lv Jia BEZT M
Dr. Song Ming REEL M C M
Dr. Sun Mingchun HAEEL M M
Ms. Liu Yan 244+ C
C: Chairman/Chairlady of the Committee C. ZESXRE
M: Member of the Committee M: ZEEKE

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Lv Jia
and Ms. Liu Yan shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company and is appointed for a specific term.

No Director proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group, which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

There are no service contracts with Directors that are exempt
under Rule 13.69 of the Listing Rules. No emoluments were paid
to any Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2019:
Nil).

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors,
none of the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company
had any interest or short position in any Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their spouses and children under 18 years
of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised,
any rights to subscribe for Shares (or warrants or debentures, if
any) of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

The interests of substantial Shareholders in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO or as the Company is aware, are set out in the
table below.
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The Company had been notified of the following substantial ANARERTHIETERER T _TFE+_A=
Shareholders’ interests in the Shares of the Company as at 31 +—BiFBHAQAGRMERRT ¢
December 2020:

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary the issued
Name of substantial Shareholder = Capacity/Nature of interest shares held share capital®
HERITRAM
FTERRER B, EntE BEZERYA R
China Great Wall Asset Management Interest in a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Co., Ltd. ™ corporation
FERMEEEERNBRARD Rt EEER
China Great Wall AMC (International) Interest in a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Holdings Company Limited™ corporation
PERMEE (BR) ZERERARD EGAE#ER
Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Beneficial owner 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Holding Limited® EmEAA
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.? Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
FRIESKRERREETAT corporation
REHEEE R
China Construction Bank Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
Corporation? corporation
P EEFRIRITIRNDBR AR XS EEER
Wan Tai Investments Limited® Beneficial owner 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
BHKREBRAAY E=lEE A
The letter “L” denotes the entity’s long position in such shares. [LIRTZEBRBEBROPELTE -
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Notes:

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited which, in turn, is wholly-owned by China Great
Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd.. Under the SFO, China Great Wall
AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited and China Great Wall
Asset Management Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares of the Company owned by Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding
Limited.

(2) Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 57.31% of China Construction
Bank Corporation which, in turn, indirectly owns 100% of Wan Tai
Investments Limited. Wan Tai Investments Limited is therefore a
controlled corporation of China Construction Bank Corporation and
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. pursuant to Section 316 of the SFO.

(3) Approximate percentage was calculated based on the 1,567,745,596
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company
had not been notified of any persons who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The Company had a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which
was approved at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 24 May 2010. The Scheme expired on 23 May 2020.

The Scheme was designed to motivate the eligible persons,
whose contributions were or would be beneficial to the
performance, growth and success of the Group, to optimise
their future contributions to the Group and reward them for their
past contributions and enabled the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability.

Under the Scheme, the Board might, at its discretion, grant
options to the eligible persons as defined in the Scheme (the
“Eligible Persons”) to subscribe for Shares. The basis of eligibility
of any of the Eligible Persons to the grant of any options should
be determined by the Board from time to time on the basis of
their contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
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The maximum number of Shares which might be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme (and
under any other scheme of the Company) should not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the adoption
of the Scheme (the “Mandate Limit”) provided that the Company
may seek approval from its Shareholders to refresh the Mandate
Limit. Moreover, the maximum number of Shares which might be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme (and under any other scheme
of the Company) should not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to any one Eligible
Person (including exercised and outstanding options) under the
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

There were no outstanding options under the Scheme at the
beginning of the year ended 31 December 2020.

The period within which an option might be exercised would be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but no option
might be exercised later than 10 years from the date on which
the option was granted. The minimum period for which an option
must be held before it could be exercised was determined by
the Board upon the grant of an option. The amount payable on
acceptance of an option was HK$1.

The subscription price of the options under the Scheme should
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion at the time
of grant of the options but it should not be less than whichever
was the highest of: (i) the nominal value of a Share; (ii) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of the Board’s approval of
grant of the option (the “Offer Date”); and (iii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date.

No share option was granted or cancelled under the Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (‘Dividend Policy”)
that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its Shareholding
value.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. The recommendation and
declaration of payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

When deciding whether to propose or declare a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves,
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans, liquidity position, shareholders’
interests, general economic conditions and business cycle of the
Group’s businesses, any restrictions on payment of dividends
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group
and other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong Kong and the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall not constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business
None of the Directors of the Company has any interest in a

business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, or with the businesses of the Group during the year.
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Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company,
the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2020
or at any time during the year.

Management Contracts

M

74

A Tenancy Management Agreement was entered into
between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
(“C&W”) whereby C&W is responsible for the management of
certain investment properties of the Group.

The Tenancy Management Agreement was entered for a
term of 2 years commencing from 14 November 2018 to
13 November 2020 and will be renewed automatically on a
year to year basis unless terminated in accordance with the
terms of such agreement. Management fee of approximately
HK$93,000 was paid by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020.

A Services Agreement was entered into between a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Asiaray Advertising
Media Limited whereby Asiaray Advertising Media Limited,
as the exclusive advertising agent, is responsible for
management of our outdoor billboards, which are at the
exterior wall of 1/F. to 3/F. of Yue King Building at 1 Leighton
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Services Agreement was entered for a term commencing
from 1 May 2020 and ending on 30 April 2023. Service fee of
approximately HK$1,761,000 was paid by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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(8) An Asset Management Agreement was entered into between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Gaw Capital
Asset Management (HK) Limited pursuant to which Gaw
Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited is responsible
for the management of one of the Company’s investment
properties, Kwai Fong Plaza.

The Asset Management Agreement entered for a term
commencing on 13 June 2018 was restructured on 13
March 2019 and shall continue and remain valid unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of such agreement.
Management fee of approximately HK$6,174,000 was paid
by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the businesses of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Bye-Laws provide that, to the extent not avoided by the
statues, the Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses, liabilities and
costs which he/she may sustain or incur in connection with the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

Directors’ liability insurance policies containing permitted
indemnity provisions have been taken out and maintained in
force during the financial year and as at the date of approval
of this report to provide appropriate cover for the Directors
and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group in respect of the
relevant liabilities and costs associated with legal proceedings
against them.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

For more details about the principal risks and uncertainties
in which the Group are facing and also the relevant risk
management objectives and policies, please refer to the “Risk
Management and Internal Control” section contained in the
Corporate Governance Report and Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of this Annual Report.
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the businesses of the Group are set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section and the consolidated financial
statements of this Annual Report.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The Group mainly carries out its businesses in Hong Kong. As
far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the year ended
31 December 2020, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. To constantly
enhance the sustainable development and strengthen the
awareness of environmental protection of all staff, the Company
has formulated and implemented the Green Office Policy, and
such policy will be updated from time to time in accordance
with actual market conditions so as to cover more scopes,
thus benefiting the implementation of green office culture.
The Green Office Policy states that the Company is committed
to the materials saving, energy saving, waste reduction, and
strives to minimise the consumption of natural resources and
energy; reduce the creation of waste and recycle material
whenever practical; ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and
responsible manner; and monitor and evaluate progress and
performance for continuous improvement.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section on pages 82 to 128 of this
Annual Report.

76 |

MBBRRRAER

BRAKERGRRRY SRR R IRERHNA
FRBEN B R B RO | RER S BsHRE
A o

& <7 \EBAE B KRB

AEBTENBBETEEL - BESSNERE
B ARERMAEATEEDRETEHAS
BEBREERBEAREZHBEREINR
Bl - RBE-_T_FTF+_A=1+—BLFE
A - NREBEMEREE R ETERE LB
51 o

REHRRRE

REFERNNELLRENL BRI FFEE
& o RTNERTTARHERRENTMAELEET
RERERH - ARRIEHELEMREHAE
BR - WIRERTSERTEER - WRERES
FHE - WMIBSAREHALEHETT - FEHR D
ERERKRA - NRAEEEPHE - #EE R
B2 B IR AGE - BUINR D S B AERMEE
IREHERE Y BRITTHBR TERELRE -
REATBEER - RIEREYMALZENEE
ERTREE - URERWHEEREMRER - X
FHEDCE -

FRAEESE T -TF+-_A=+—HIF
ERRBBRERIBHNAFEREFS22128
BZ[RE dHehELAREIAN -

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
= E W

Relationship with Employees and Customers

The Group ensures all employees are reasonably remunerated
and regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration
and other benefits.

Details of the practices in relation to employment are set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section on
pages 82 to 128 of this Annual Report.

The Group maintains a good relationship and close contacts with
the customers and conducts regular review of requirements of
customers.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group’s principal retirement benefits scheme available
to its Hong Kong employees are defined contribution scheme
(the Mandatory Provident Fund) which is administered by
independent trustees. Both the Group and the employees
contribute respectively to the schemes sums which represent a
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries.

Continuing Connected Transactions

(1) Continuing Connected Transactions — Asset
Management Agreement in relation to the Provision
of Discretionary Asset Management Services

On 29 June 2017, Great Wall Pan Asia Asset Management
Limited (RWIRGEEETEERAQA) ("GWPA-AM”),
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Great Wall
International, controlling Shareholder of the Company,
entered into an amended and restated asset management
agreement (the “Restated Asset Management Agreement”),
pursuant to which the parties thereto agreed to amend and
restate certain terms of the asset management agreement
dated 19 May 2017 previously entered between the aforesaid
parties. Pursuant to the Restated Asset Management
Agreement, GWPA-AM conditionally agreed to provide
discretionary asset management services to Great Wall
International for a term of three years commencing on 11
October 2017 at a management fee equal to 1.5% per annum
of the assets as consideration for performing discretionary
asset management services. Details of the Restated Asset
Management Agreement and the agreed annual caps set for
each of the four financial years ending 31 December 2020 are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 30 June 2017.
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As Great Wall International is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
entering of Restated Asset Management Agreement and
all the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms
that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate
amount of management fee received by GWPA-AM under the
Restated Asset Management Agreement was HK$25,666,747
which is within the annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2020 of HK$27,000,000. There is no renewal after
the expiry of the Restated Asset Management Agreement
subsequent to the financial year ended 31 December 2020 of
the Group and up to the date of this Annual Report.

(2) Continuing Connected Transactions — Tenancy

78

Agreements in relation to the tenancies of portions of
certain floors of the Group’s premises in the Bank of
America Tower

On 8 March 2019, each of Sunny Bright Development Limited
FAEIEE AR A F (“Landlord 17) and Sunny Success
Development Limited ¥1#|5K3%RE G2 7 (“Landlord
2”) (collectively the “Landlords”), being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, received a letter of offer from
Great Wall International, a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, (‘“Tenant”) which offered to rent Premises 1A and
Premises 1B (as defined in the CCT Circular) from Landlord
1 and Premises 2A and 2B (as defined in the CCT Circular)
from Landlord 2, respectively (collectively the “Tenancies”).
Upon the approval of the Tenancies by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 30 April 2019, each the Landlords and the Tenant
entered into a formal tenancy agreement on 31 May 2019
(collectively the “Tenancy Agreements”). Details of the
Tenancies and the agreed annual caps set for each of the
three financial years ending 31 December 2021 are set out
in the circular of the Company dated 4 April 2019 (the “CCT
Circular”).
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As Great Wall International is a controlling Shareholder of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
entering of the Tenancy Agreements and all the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate
amount of rents received by Landlords under the Tenancy
Agreements was HK$16,773,780.00 which is within the
annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
HK$16,858,566.00.

The Group has followed the terms of the continuing
connected transactions conducted during the year as
mentioned in the sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) above, which
were determined in accordance with the pricing policies
as set out in the relevant circulars of the Company. Such
continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
who have confirmed that the transactions have been entered
into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(c) in accordance with the agreement governing the

transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and
confirmations of the matters set out in that rule. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions, other
than continuing connected transactions as disclosed above,
undertaken in the normal course of business are provided under
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, none of which
constitutes a connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to
the date of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance. Details of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” section on pages 30 to 63 of this Annual Report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of
the Company’s Shares which were in the hands of the public
exceeded 25% of the Company’s total issued Shares as at the
date of this Annual Report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by the auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Hu
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 9 March 2021
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About the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
serves as a review on the sustainability efforts and achievements
of the Company. The Report intends to work as a communication
platform between the Company and all stakeholders, with all
work, responsibilities, and long-standing commitment to the
environment, social and governance (‘ESG”) areas disclosed.
In order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the
Company’s performance in relation to ESG, the Report shall be
read in conjunction with the Corporate Governance Report.

Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the Company’s ESG issues, as well as
correlated policies, measures, and activities under the control
of the Company. Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting
Period”). Prior to the Reporting Period, the Company has
completed office relocation, and conducted all business activities
at the offices owned by the Company during the Reporting
Period. The Report scope thereby encompasses the operations of
the offices, which are portions of the units at 20th Floor and 21st
Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong
Kong.

Basis of Report Preparation

The Report complies with all the “comply or explain” provisions
and discloses certain “recommended disclosures” of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) of
the Stock Exchange and was prepared in adherence to the four
reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, consistency
and balance, the application of reporting principles is presented
below:

Materiality: The Report focuses on ESG issues that are
considered relevant and significantly important to the Company
(the “material issues”) during the Reporting Period. The material
issues were identified through materiality assessment by
engaging stakeholders via online questionnaires and were
validated by the Board.
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Quantitative: Information in the Report is presented
quantitatively whenever feasible. The Report presents
comparable and measurable performance data by disclosing
past and present data during the Reporting Period, which lays
a solid foundation for the Company to set environmental and
social targets in the future. Meanwhile, quantitative information
shall help the Company to better evaluate and validate the
effectiveness of relevant ESG policies and management systems.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the methodologies used in
the Report for data calculation are consistent with previous years
to ensure meaningful comparability.

Approval and Confirmation

The Board is fully responsible for overseeing the Company’s
management and implementation of ESG related policies, and
is also responsible for ensuring the reliability, truthfulness, and
completeness of our non-financial disclosures. The Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board in March 2021.

Feedback to the Report

The Company is looking forward to your feedback on the
sustainability performance and reporting of the Company. You
can contact us by mail to 21st Floor, Bank of America Tower,
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is indispensable to the Company’s
endeavours in promoting sustainable development. The Company
will only succeed by working collaboratively with stakeholders.

i ESE

%Tﬁ%%éﬂ%ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%ﬁTﬁi‘“%"f&T—HZﬁ?%E’J
 FBBRSHENETAE AR

—#( - R

A RERKTN © A - Zliﬂﬂ%fgi?ﬁﬁfﬁ%%iﬁ%

Hence, the Company pays high attention to the vastly different HHHE  —HEBBSEFHEBFMNETHE
expectations from stakeholders and has been maintaining & 7&% 7 MR ENRES - W T EH NI
regular communication with its stakeholders through various  {EHi[EIfE °
communication channels to thoroughly understand their
concerns and demands and spares no effort in addressing them.
Regular Stakeholder Communication EREOERRE
Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
&85 BIERE AR
Shareholders and « Corporate reports and other « Bi-annually/Depending on operational
Investors announcements needs
« Shareholder meetings « Annually/Depending on operational
« Websites needs
« Recurring/Depending on operational
needs
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Government and
Regulatory
Authorities
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Employees
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Corporate reports and other
announcements
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Employee performance appraisals
Meetings and trainings

Emails and Notice Board

Team building activities and festival
activities
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Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
&85 BERE $RR
Customers « Customer satisfaction surveys «  Upon the completion of the terms of
« Interviews, site visits and emails services with each customer
« Customer service hotlines and emails « Depending on customers’ needs
+ Depending on customers’ needs
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Suppliers « Purchase in accordance with the « Depending on procurement needs
procurement guidelines
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Professional Group
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General Public
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Professional group satisfaction surveys

Meetings and emails
HEXERHEERE

eZNEH

Media conference
Interview
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Charitable activities and donations
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« Depending on business needs
« Depending on business needs
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Setting Priorities

Focusing on the material issues for business and stakeholders
is an essential step for the Company to maintain a sustainable
business. Each year, the Company systematically identify the
Company’s priorities, in addition to the regular communication
with stakeholders. In 2020, with the assistance of an
independent consulting firm, the Company has undergone a
materiality assessment survey with our key stakeholder groups
to review, refine and identify material ESG issues that are
specifically material to the Company and our key stakeholders.
The process is vital for the Company to be responsive to the
changing ESG context as the Company evolves our business,
and also serves as a reference for the Company to establish its
sustainability strategy in the future and to determine the scope
of reporting.

In order to ensure efficiency in materiality assessment, the
Company has conducted the stakeholder identification process
during the Reporting Period to select key stakeholder groups
across stakeholder spectrum based on the level of influence
they have over business of the Company, and vice versa. As
a result, the Board, senior management, employees, and
suppliers are stakeholder groups with high likelihoods to be
influenced by the Company’s business or exert influence on the
Company’s business during the Reporting Period, and therefore
are considered as key stakeholders of the Company. Individuals
from the key stakeholder groups of the Company were invited to
participate in the materiality assessment survey.

86 |

BEEERF

FEEERBIR N EERNERERE AR
BIAHEEREENEZ—F - FF - [RTH
FinEERERZIN - RRBINE R ERIAR
NEFENEBERF - BB EARRNHE
T ARRE-_ZT-_TFET BRNEFBET
TERERE - AER - B ERI AR EM
TERFNEMSEENHRR - BEERBNELE
& BRI ARREENSZECMESGE RE
FAER - Bl RARBIARIRGE Al 748 35 R 5K g
THETE s S E R ki -

REBETERIERME - AR RIRBEHRAE
FrinEETHR - RIERFNEERNRREBNF
ERERINRRFBNTERE  EERN
EHETHEHNTIERHNERN - IREFE
BREERE BT RMERHEBEREXEIA
NARBHEIE AR RARBELTENFNE
Bh - A ERERARARINERRNE - B
SEBRERE

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B i a RE IR

The materiality assessment process involves 4 basic steps and is ~ EEZMFHHBES R IUEEARSR - LENT -
summarised below.

First step: Identifying ESG issues
E—% : MBIESGHEE

The Company reexamined the pool of ESG issues and a total of 18 ESG issues were identified for the Reporting
period’s materiality assessment. 3 issues were added into the pool, given their high materiality recognised by the
local and international sustainability-oriented organisations as well as the increasingly significant impacts on the
stakeholders and business of the Company, which are “Climate change”, “Equality and diversity”, and “Information

privacy”. Additionally, one of the newly added issues, “Equality and diversity” has been widely recognised as a
material issue to the Company during the Reporting Period.
RABENEFESCHEE - /ARERHNBEEMEFHEHRI L 18HESGHRE - & B2 E AR 2 ErFEERE
BEENBINERNEREARREEERBENTE - FNE3EREEESGEEEY - AIREE L] [FER
Zifbl RMERMER] o o - [FERZ T IE —FEZEE N RERRBEZRREARANEEZEEE -

4

Second step: Ranking ESG issues

B HESGEREETHF

Selected ESG issues were incorporated into online questionnaires.

Key stakeholder groups of the Company, which are the Board, senior management, employees, and suppliers,
were invited to rank the ESG issues based on their level of impacts to stakeholders or to the Company.
EEAINESCHREMEMALZ LRERS - ARRNEERNHERR  BIEESY SREEE BT

AR - BEHEFEL2EE FRERE - ERNSZEHROHER AR R AN EETESGERNEZ T -

4

Third step: Results analysis
B=H oMER

Responses were analysed under two dimensions, the “level of impacts to the Company” and the “level of impacts to
stakeholders”, to understand substantial impacts of different ESG issues to the Company and stakeholders. As a
result, 7 ESG issues (scored at 5 or above out of 10 in both dimensions) were considered as material.
RATMRIBEHARRBERNTE | R HFNENTE | MEREH FERETO
AT BT RIESGEBEARANFN HENFERE - AP 7EESCHEEBE AN SEELZE
(EMEMD R10DHEE FE D RIEFE DA L) ©

4

Fourth step: Validating the results
L MRER

The Board validated and endorsed the material ESG issues to ensure that the issues are adequately relevant
to the Company’s ESG impacts, thereby disclosing in the Report in a targeted manner.

EXeRU R R EEMESCHBARMREBENRRINESGRH ZHE - EMAHE I EARREPIE -
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The below materiality matrix illustrates the result of the BEBEMUFERARMATEEMEREEFTK
materiality assessment.

GWPA Holdings Materiality Matrix
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As a result, 7 ESG issues were considered material to the ARABREE T AP LHFD 7EAEZHESG
Company. The Report is prepared with particular focuses on the  #&® o NRENRFEBRIFHIAIENEZHESGHE
material ESG issues and in accordance with the “materiality” REUAMFAESGIHREIE3IFH[EEE | EHRRL
reporting principle emphasised by the ESG Reporting Guide, RIFFINAZFHEREFTVOER - LD IER

BE o 23

while ample information is also provided for stakeholders HfBESG:#RE - 2EBESG:ER @ IFHIREE 4%
to sufficiently understand other ESG issues. All ESG issues, 78 BRATREFELL  ESGIHEIES|FHHERN

2% BF

material issues in particular, are summarised in the Report, ESG:Z@E MR ©
and corresponding ESG issues of the ESG Reporting Guide are

outlined in the table below.
Priorities on ESG issues

ESG aspects set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
ESG¥ 55| PHESGEH

BZEBRENT

ESG Issues’

S

A. Environment A1 Emissions

A RE

A1 HER

A2 Use of Resources

A2 BER(ER

A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources

A3 BRIBMRAEIR

O O O O O O O O O O O O

O O O O O O

Solid waste discharge and management
Greenhouse gases emission and management
Compliance with laws and regulations
EIfEBE R E IR

BEREDNEE R

BFEREES

Energy usage and efficiency
Water usage and efficiency
Green office measures
BEIRE A M e

IKEIRE R RS
IR

Green office measures

Climate change

Compliance with laws and regulations
e

RIREL

BFEEEH

1 Issues that are bold and italic are material issues identified during the Reporting Period.

1 NHEBRNERTNZRESNERS BABRNER RS
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ESG aspects set out in the ESG Reporting Guide ESG Issues’
ESG#R & 155 P RYESGEH BE
B. Social B1 Employment o Employment and employee benefits
o Compliance with laws and regulations
B. & B1 1&f% o ERESTHEF
o BFEEEIH
B2 Health and Safety o0 Health and safety
o Compliance with laws and regulations
B2 @REZ % o REHEZE
o B EEZEIH
B3 Development and Training o Employee development and training
B3 R BT o BIREHEZ
B4 Labour Standards o Labour standards
o Egquality and diversity
o Compliance with laws and regulations
B4 &5 T8 o HITEA
o FERZTI
o BFEEEIH
B5 Supply Chain Management 0 Supply chain management
BS g EIE o fHERER
B6 Product Responsibility o Product responsibility
o Information privacy
o Compliance with laws and regulations
B6 EmAE o EmE
o EEME
o BFEELH
B7 Anti-corruption o Anti-corruption
o Compliance with laws and regulations
o Corporate governance
B7 R&ES o RES
o BFEEEIH
o LHEEE
B8 Community Investment o Community engagement and contribution
B8 HEIKE o itE2EK&ER
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Corporate Governance

Robust governance is fundamental to ensuring that ESG
issues the Company faces are well-considered and well-
incorporated into the business agenda of the Company and is of
paramount importance to continuously safeguard the interests
of stakeholders and to enhance corporate value. The Board
and the Company’s management are committed to upholding
the Company’s obligations to stakeholders, along with a well-
established governance framework in place to govern corporate
behaviours. The Company adheres to high ethical and business
standards and ensures compliant operation at all times under
the rigorous implementation of policies and procedures. To
ensure that all pertinent requirements are complied with and to
prevent various risks such as non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, regular reviews on current laws and
regulations are conducted by both the Legal and Compliance
Department and the Company Secretarial Department, and
necessary changes will then be made to the Company’s policies
accordingly.

The Board has established and delegated authority to the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, in which the Audit
Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company has
formal and transparent arrangements for considering matters
relating to risk management and internal control systems, and
the duties of Remuneration and Nomination Committees set out
in the corresponding terms of reference, covering the relevant
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board
4

EXER

RENCEELEBRRAAFTNESGEESEIR
DERIMARIEHEZNER - THRARRE
BREFHENNENRNTCXEBEEPESR -
ARREZEREEBHNBITARRE R D
MER YRV TZENERRBARELERT
o NRARIBFRBRELEREE  EBRRMNE
FFHIBIRATT T - REEAREHSHREE - R
ERETHAEREER L ESERR AR
ME R R RIME SR RERITEARERETES
BE - WHARRBERETTHERR SRS -

EFSCRUIBEEZ  FHRIERRES
HAmEZZ SRR BRRADFFELIER LA
BRAENZHE - B EEREIEMA e
ERNER - ME Rt R B SnB S RIH
REENBESER - MECEEATR 2185
STRIMESC -

Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
BEZEEE FMEES

Relevant corporate governance information, including director
profiles, Board and committee terms of reference and certain
policies, shall be read in conjunction with the Corporate
Governance Report or can be found on the official website of
the Company (https://www.gwpaholdings.com/cn/investor-relations/
corporate-governance/).

Nomination
Committee

BRAARRRNEEELRES  BRESFHN
EXgNZESREDEURETHER @ F4
CRELARE —HHBEXRZRARA NP
(https://www.gwpaholdings.com/cn/investor-relations/
corporate-governance/) °
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company regards risks as possible opportunities for
business development and growth and is committed to the
identification, monitoring and management of risks associated
with business activities across the Company. The Board
acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and plays a critical role in monitoring the risk exposure and
reviewing the effectiveness of related systems annually. Key
risks are thoroughly considered in an active manner so as to
safeguard stakeholders’ interests and the Company’s assets,
and the Company recognises the importance of continuously
improving corresponding internal control systems to the extent
that the risks could possibly impede the Company from achieving
abovementioned objectives.

The Company has in place an Enterprise Risk Management
(“ERM”) framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate,
and monitor key risks. Risks faced by the Company fall into a
number of principal categories: strategic risk, operational risk,
compliance risk, financial risk and information risk, and risks
monitoring mechanisms were then developed to facilitate risk
monitoring and control.

In addition, the Company operates a “Three Lines of Defence”
risk governance model to delegate and coordinate essential
risk management and to control duties in a clear and cohesive
manner, with business units effectively executing risk and control
procedures on a daily basis as the first line of defence, and their
work overseen by relevant departments such as the Business
Management Department and the Legal and Compliance
Department as the second line of defence, internal audit serves
as the third line of defence, providing independent assessment
over the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems and makes recommendations based on the audit
findings. More details of the Company’s risk management and
internal control shall be read in conjunction with the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Anti-corruption

The Company firmly believes that the foundation of stakeholders’
confidence is built on the integrity and honesty of every employee
of the Company. Therefore, the Company is committed to
operating with the highest standards of ethical conduct and
professionalism through adopting a zero-tolerance approach
to any forms of corruption, including, but not limited to, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

The Company strictly complies with laws and regulations, in
regard to corruption and bribery, that have significant impacts on
the Company’s operation in Hong Kong, including, but not limited
to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not receive any allegation against the
Company or its employees of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have significant impacts on the Company.
No whistleblowing incidents related to anti-bribery nor anti-
corruption were notified as well.

The Company has been working painstakingly to combat all
forms of corruption by establishing and putting into practice
a comprehensive set of anti-bribery and corruption policies.
The Company has clearly set out the internal monitoring
systems and procedures, the Code of Ethics for employees,
the declaration and approval procedures of the acceptance of
gift or entertainment, etc., to protect the Company’s integrity
and reputation. The Company established Anti-bribery and
Corruption Policies and Procedures, and has put the new Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy into
effect in January 2020, replacing previous policies in these
regards, aiming to further strengthen relevant work mechanisms
by providing ample guidance regarding the delegation of
investigative units and their respective responsibilities,
requirements for customer due diligence process, requirements
for record keeping process, and other requirements.

k&S
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In parallel to the abovementioned policy, the Company has
updated the Whistleblowing Policy on malpractice reporting and
investigation setting out specific procedures facilitating whistle-
blowing reports and investigation thereof. The Whistleblowing
Policy provides guidance to employees to raise complaints in
relation to fraudulent acts, unethical acts or non-compliance
with laws and regulations that may lead to adverse risks on the
Company’s reputation. The Company endeavours to handle all
complaints in a highly confidential manner and is committed
to protecting and keeping the whistle-blower’s identity
confidential, encouraging all types of employees to whistle blow
any suspected behaviours or misconduct directly to the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company or mail to 21st Floor, Bank of
America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company. Investigation procedures are clearly
stated in the Whistleblowing Policy to ensure adequate follow-
ups.

In addition, the Company has established an Anti-money
Laundering Working Group (the “Working Group”) under the Legal
and Compliance Department since 2019, which is responsible
for anti-money laundering affairs, and specialises in customer
due diligence and other compliance matters. The Working Group
regularly shares anti-money laundering information through
email and training programs with employees, to raise employees’
awareness on relevant aspects and to foster a good anti-money
laundering work environment.
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Employment

Protecting the legitimate rights of employees and fostering
an inclusive and people-oriented corporate culture is of the
utmost importance for the Company. The Company believes
a sound human resources management system that attracts
and retains the right talents and harnesses the Company’s
competencies. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
receive any irregularity nor complaint relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare that have significant impacts on the
Company.

Employment Policies and Regulations

The Company believes that it is incumbent for the Company to
respect and protect the rights and benefits of employees. The
Company strictly complies with laws and regulations, in regard
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, that have
significant impacts on the Company’s operation in Hong Kong,
including, but not limited to, the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employee Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). To ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
the human resources policies and procedures of the Company
are comprehensively established with reference to labour laws
and regulations.

The Company strives to establish a mutual understanding and
respectful relationship between the Company and its employees.
The Employee Handbook, which contains details on personnel
policies, regulations and employee benefits to ensure that
all employees are treated fairly and rationally, is therefore
established. The Employee Handbook is periodically reviewed by
the Company as to ensure that it is in line with the existing labour
laws and regulations and to keep pace with the latest market
development.
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The Company believes that standardized recruitment and
promotion procedures provide equal opportunity to right talents
and trusts that allocating human resources in an appropriate
manner will help sustainable business development. The
Company has the Management Methods for Recruitment set in
place to clarify employee recruitment and promotion process.
Specifically, recruitment work of the Company not only adheres
to four basic principles: business development needs, talent
structure optimization, scientific standardization principle and
equal opportunity, but also is conducted towards a diversified
composition of employees with various races, education
backgrounds, work experience, nationalities, knowledge, and
skills.

All comprehensive recruitment and promotion mechanisms
established by the Company ensure that all candidates are
treated fairly. Decisions made on employment and promotion
solely focused on the assessment of candidate’s work
experience, technical skills, and work performance while their
age, gender, race, marital status, sexual orientation, and physical
disability will not be taken into account. Besides, the Company
proactively checks the identity certificates of candidates during
recruitment and employment to prevent recruiting child labour.
Also, the Company allows employees to work overtime only with
the consent of their department heads and promises in no way
the Company will force employees to work overtime, completely
prohibiting the occurrence of any forms of forced labour. As an
effective way to prohibit any forms of unfair or unreasonable
dismissal, the Employment Contract with employees clearly
sets out the terms of dismissal of employees. The termination
of Employment Contract and dismissal of employees are
also carried out in strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations to fully protect the rights and obligations of the
Company and employees.

96 |

AREEBRECHRENETRFREENA
TREFSKSE - HESEBEEANEREY
EENAFEER - ARFIGIE T CGRIBEEHR
) RBETHENERE - AgmE - &
RANBEBMEENMBARERRE : XBERT
Z - NTHEBEL  MERBLRAMBESHTE
THEOREKBETRER - HESR - TEK
B BIRE - MEMBRENZTEAT AKX -

RN AR H) 2 BRI A S TSI RECR T P IR
BARERRNRFHFE - BEBERETTENR
TEARAZIRE AR TIEERR - SITBBEM TR
B FEREREANFE - 15 - Bk - BIEAR
o MRARGEBERETEMAZERE L
A > RE - AARFERBEAERESHRER
BEARN G BAXT AR L EEZET - ARBIR
EAMETHRESESMREAREBRER T
HE - SWAEGEB RGN - LATE 2 2R 1B A (A
A58 5 E) - (RBA X)) REIIRAEREE T
BUEFAMER —BAEMELEM IR FHTAIE
MR RAETE o (A CEBA #) rBRER M B T
RIEBRIRRAMERERET - URMHERER
RNEINME B TRERMELR -

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B i a RE IR

The Company’s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance with market terms and statutory
requirements, aiming to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivating and rewarding devoted employees
for achieving business performance targets. The Management
Methods for Compensation and Welfare are therefore
established, with competitive compensation and benefits
packages of employees clearly stated to attract and retain
employees. Employee performance appraisals are conducted
once a year to determine the compensation package and are
remunerated based on their work performances and standard
market salaries with discretionary year-end bonuses awarded
according to individual performance, reasonable adjustments
are also made in due course as a recognition to employees’ work
efforts.

The Company values the health and well-being of its employees.
In addition to a competitive salary, the Company also provides
employees with medical insurance that covers employees
and their eligible family members. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical check-up scheme, mandatory and
voluntary provident fund scheme and rental reimbursement
scheme are offered to eligible employees. Labour insurance,
rental reimbursement allowance, overtime allowance, holiday
allowance, birthday allowance, monthly transport and
entertainment allowance are also provided as part of employees’
total compensation package. The Company also provides
study subsidy to employees to encourage them to continuously
enhance their knowledge and skills. Moreover, the Company
sets out employees’ work and rest periods in the Employment
Contract, and ensures that they enjoy statutory holidays, paid
annual leaves, sick leaves, casual leaves, marital leaves, and
maternity leaves, according to the Hong Kong’s labour legislation.

The Company encourages open communication in workplace,
where employees can freely express their opinions and ideas
with the senior management. Various channels were set up to
facilitate effective communication and collaboration between
all levels of employees, creating an encouraging environment for
creativity and innovation.
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Employee Health and Safety

The Company places the greatest importance on the health and
safety of the employees, and the Company understands that
employees of the Company spend most of their time working
in an office environment, thus the Company is committed
to creating a healthy, safe, and comfortable workplace for
employees. Although employees of the Company exposes
to limited health and safety hazards as compared to other
industries, the Company remains immensely concerned about
employees’ health and safety at office and correspondingly takes
various precautionary measures in place to minimise any risks in
the working environment, and complies with laws and regulations
that have significant impacts on the Company’s operation in
Hong Kong related to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards, including, but
not limited to, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter
282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not receive any
prosecutions in relation to occupational health and safety that
have significant impacts on the Company.

The Company offers versatile medical insurance plans and
arranges regular body examinations for employees and their
eligible family members. The Company also provides flexibility
in the insurance package and the body examination plan so that
employees can personalise the plans according to their needs.
The Company also arranges employees to participate in fire
drills regularly to strengthen their emergency preparedness.
Meanwhile, the Company regularly carries out air-conditioning
system cleaning and puts up health and safety reminders in the
office.

The Company actively promotes work-life balance considering
the negative psychological and physical health effects of
employees, by discouraging employees from working off the
clock. Meanwhile, the Company regularly organises various
sports and leisure activities for employees to develop a habit of
exercising and to prevent them from exposing to occupational
diseases. Besides, the Company organises employee
engagement activities from time to time, such as birthday
parties, festival celebrations, team building activities, etc., to
promote employee friendships and to enhance employees’ sense
of belonging to the Company.
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Talent Training and Development

The Company adheres to a people-oriented principle, valuing
every employee as an indispensable asset that stipulates
sustainable business development of the Company. The
Company attaches immense importance to employee trainings,
committed to connect employees’ career development with the
Company’s development by providing a wide range of training
opportunities, building career advancement paths for employees
at the same time and developing a competent and industry-
leading team.

The Company formulated the Training Management Methods
with the objectives of stipulating the Human Resource
Department to provide trainings that satisfy the Company’s
requirements and in response to employee’s development
needs. To support employees of the Company to adequately
embrace the changes in the financial industry and to maintain
a fit and proper professional competence with knowledges and
skills updated continuously, the Human Resources Department
organises no less than 12 training sessions each year, inviting
internal and external professionals to hold a series of trainings
and lectures covering securities, investment, compliance, anti-
money laundering, asset management and capital funding.
Internal professionals invited are generally the Company’s
executive directors or above, while external professionals are
senior specialists from other large corporations. The Company
encourages every employee, including receptionists, to actively
participate in trainings held during the Reporting Period as to
enhance employees’ understandings in different fields, to meet
different teams of the Company, and to strengthen team bonds.

Apart from providing regular trainings that enhance employees’
capability, induction trainings are also provided to new
employees, enabling them to smoothly integrate into the
Company. The Company organises compliance trainings on Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing on a yearly
basis to improve employees’ awareness of relevant ordinance
and risks. During the Reporting Period, 100% of employees of
the Company received trainings with each employee received an
average of 20.9 hours of trainings.
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Subsequent to the completion of each training, training
assessment forms are collected from employees to evaluate
the effectiveness of the training, in particular the training
arrangement, course content and lecturer performance,
commensurate adjustments are then made to cater for the
training needs of our employees. Simultaneously, all training
materials are uploaded to the Company’s shared drive to create
a culture of knowledge sharing, enabling all employees an easy
access to the information they need. The Human Resources
Department will also collect attendee list which is used as
a record to fulfil SFC’s requirements of annual Continuous
Professional Training hours.
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Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Company recognises that the success of business
inextricably relies on the performance of supply chain, thus
the Company aspires to construct a long-term collaborative
relationship with business partners along the supply chain
with a sincere and responsibly attitude, so as to achieve win-
win collaboration. The Guidelines on Procurement (‘Guideline”),
a comprehensive method of supply chain management, has
been accordingly established, which prescribes the transparent
procurement mechanism and clearly sets out the tendering
process, responsible personnel and its responsibilities,
ensuring that suitable suppliers are selected in an open, fair,
just and honest manner with their qualification verified and in a
centralised procurement approach.

In compliance to the Bidding Law of the People's Republic of
China, the Regulation on the Implementation of the Bidding Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations,
the Company upholds equal and effective procurement
principles, with the Guideline setting for all service providers of
the Company that provide property valuation services, property
management services, company secretarial services and other
services. For every centralised procurement, a procurement
assessment team is formed to review suppliers’ competencies
and select adequate suppliers based on their business
reputation, quality, service, price, and terms of sale, aiming to
identify and reduce procurement risks as well as to improve
procurement efficiency.

Each year, to continuously ensure fair and effective procurement,
the Procurement Department of the Company conducts supplier
appraisals for product and service providers respectively, with
evaluation indicators setting in four different aspects. The
evaluation results are timely recorded. Well-performed suppliers
will be considered as recommended units in future procurement
while the cooperation with ineligible suppliers will be terminated
for three years.

HEREE

L)

ANA B BRAS ER I A D) B FE R AR IR BT
A5 A AREEENEHNE B /RS EEtrE
B ENEBEHETRBRTNBE  AHLER
&5 - NRRIFIE T (B IEERSI) (TH3l)) -
BRETEMNEEETIZERTEMER - 183148
& T AARREK S - WY EBIZER a8
EETRERSE @ BRI - AF - RAIEMH
ERAAREENRER - WRRETHER
BB EIRTER o

AREETF(PEARKMERBEZBE) R P
EARANBBESRIDEBIEGD]) FHEEER
ER  BRETFEEROREBRA  XESINE
BEEERAZAERGHER - BREEHYEMA
BIRTE - MEEERTY - AEWE RS REAR
BHRGHER - BRETRER - A28l
R EEREBRT &=/ ME AR B (R A RE D I E R
HERER  HE  REEBRMESRTES
ERHER - LR ERERRIESRERE -

B—F  SEEEFRITFERORE - ARAH
REBRRPI S S B Em It B M ARTS (R 2 Al
11eHE - FHMEEEE RS D RE TR H -
AHE RS W LR - KRR FHHERE IR
BRRFRBOEREN - MENSBNHER
HIATERRIE=4F -

RBRDZERERAE T -_TFERE | 101



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B i E R E R

Although the Company works as a part of financial sectors that
generally do not have much concern regarding supply chain
sustainability, the company aims to cooperate with like-minded
business partners that shares similar sustainability philosophy
of the Company. Meanwhile, concerning factors including
environmental costs resulted from long-distance transportation
and delivery time and in support of a stable local economy, the
Company actively works with suppliers that are based in Hong
Kong.

Since property investment is one of the principal activities of the
Company, the Company pays high attention to the environmental
and the occupational health and safety performances of property
management service providers. The Company’s major property
management service providers hold corresponding certifications
such as the /SO 9001:2015 Quality Management, 1ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management Systems — Requirements with
guidance for use and OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health
and Safety. Additionally, the Company regularly reviews and
amends procurement requirements such that the Company
could achieve greater sustainability in near future.

Service Quality and Responsibility

The Company has upheld its business philosophy in serving
customers with sheer professionalism under a prudential and
proactive approach, and unceasingly builds successful win-
win business relationship with partners and customers. While
delivering quality financial products and excellent services to
customers, the Company has always strictly complied to laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety, advertising,
and privacy matters of the products and services provided by
the Company, that have significant impacts on the Company’s
operation in Hong Kong, including, but not limited to, the
Landlord and Tenant (Consolidation) Ordinance (Chapter 7 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Main
Board Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company
was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning the provision and use of the Company’s
products and services, including but not limited to, marketing
communications including advertising and promotion, and
property rights including intellectual property rights that have
significant impacts on the Company.
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As discussed in the former “Anti-corruption” section of the
Report, the Company is determined to operate in a compliant
manner, ample guidance is therefore provided to reinforce
the awareness of law-abidance and compliance among all
employees of the Company. To effectively avoid any violation, the
Company places significant emphasis on managing employees’
work ethics, requiring employees to adhere to the Company’s
moral principles, and has zero tolerance towards any forms
of corruption in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. Please find “Anti-corruption” section of the Report for
more details on relevant policies.

Integrated Financial Service

The Company upholds the vision of building a service provider for
financial assets with diversified business, distinguished feature,
and top-notch brand, and the Company therefore formulated
a series of policies to continuously offer trustful, professional,
and fair financial services to customers and other stakeholders.
The Company has a proper due diligence procedure in place
which enables employees to better understand and familiarise
with customers’ financial situations, investment experience
and investment objectives, such that any recommendation
or inducement of the Company made is appropriate in all
circumstances. If the Company is exposed to high-risk customer
or business nature, stringent measures will be taken to manage
and mitigate such risks. At the same time, the Company promises
that customers shall always be well-informed with the terms and
conditions and associated risks before engaging in any kinds of
financial transaction with the Company.

The Company is committed to maintain a fair and informed
market, and thus requires employees to abide by the Code of
Conduct and to fully understand their responsibility. Since the
disclosure of inside information is central to the orderly operation
and integrity of the market, the Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information, stating the responsibilities of the Board and senior
management in monitoring all disclosures in accordance with
the provisions of the SFC, is constructed and strictly followed by
every member of the Company.

The Company prohibits any forms of false or misleading
statement in the course of publicity, ensuring that all
advertisements and marketing materials truthfully describe the
matter and are approved in accordance with the provisions of the
SFC before they are issued.
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The Company is fully aware that the protection of customer
privacy is of great importance to a financial service provider. The
Company, therefore, reinforces the importance of confidentiality
and promises that any customer’s confidential information will
be properly and adequately protected from leakage. During
the Reporting Period, the Company neither experienced any
customer data leakage, nor received any complaints about
inappropriate use of customer information that would have
significant impacts on the Company.

Property Investment

As a property investment company, the Company always chooses
experienced service providers to manage properties and outdoor
billboards. The Company has maintained a diversified investment
property portfolio in Hong Kong which comprises Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue
King Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau
Tong and Seaview Estate in North Point. On the other hand, the
Company has also participated in the investment in the JV Group
which holds a diversified portfolio of properties in Hong Kong.
Details of property investment information can be found in the
session of “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

To ensure all tenants’ needs are thoroughly considered, the
Company requires all property management service providers
to collect opinions and recommendations from the tenants on a
regular basis and to provide real-time feedback to the Company,
so that their concerns can be adequately and timely addressed.
Meanwhile, the customer complaint handling process is also
continuously followed by the Company, which makes sure all
customer complaints to be handled in a prompt and reasonable
manner. When a customer complaint is received, corresponding
department heads will first respond to the customer’s complaint
and the case will then be passed to responsible personnel for
further handling. A register of complaints is maintained to record
all customer complaints and the results subsequent to proper
handling in order to avoid any recurrence of similar events.
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Environment

GWAP Holdings is committed to environmental protection, energy
conversation, emission reduction and reasonable utilization of
resources and energy in day-to-day operation activities, and
ensures the compliance to related laws and regulations. Since
the operation of the Company focuses on property investment
and finance with major activities involving clerical work
and business meetings in office environment, the Company
generates limited impacts on the environment and has relatively
low environmental impacts as compared to other industries.
Nevertheless, the Company strictly complies with laws and
regulations that have significant impacts on the Company’s
operation in Hong Kong in relation to air and greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including,
but not limited to, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
During the Reporting Period, there were no non-compliance
incidents or infringements in relation to environmental protection
that would have significant impacts on the Company.

To fulfill corporate social responsibilities as a responsible
corporate citizen, the Company aspires to strike a balance
among economic, social and environmental impacts. As climate
change is increasingly affecting the society, the Company strives
to reduce the carbon footprint generated from the operation of
the Company. Proactive measures in energy conservation and
emissions reduction as well as adequate waste disposal and
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the effective use of resources to fight against climate change
are taken on all fronts. To manage office activities strategically
and effectively, the Company has revised Green Office Policy
during the Reporting Year, which ensures that activities in the
offices of the Company are conducted in accordance with sound
environmental practices. The revised Green Office Policy is
effective from May 2020, requiring all employees to be aware
of the environmental and health impacts of their jobs, and thus
continuously strive to :

«  Minimise the consumption of natural resources and energy

+ Reduce the creation of waste and recycle material whenever
practical

« Ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and responsible
manner

+ Monitor and evaluate progress and performance for
continuous improvements

The Green Office Policy will be regularly reviewed and revised
if there is any major change to the operation of the Company.
Responsibilities of green office management are clearly stated
in the Green Office Policy, with responsible employees notified.
All employees could easily access the policy document in the
Company’s shared drive and relevant trainings will also provided
to new employees by the Human Resources Department.
Meanwhile, various channels are set up to collect employees’
opinions and suggestions on the Company’s green office
practices and performance.

Alongside the implementation of the Company’s Green Office
Policy as well as employees’ earnest actions, the Company’s
efforts on sustainability have been well recognised. The
Company was consecutively granted the title and logo of the
“Hong Kong Green Organisation” led by the Environmental
Campaign Committee, along with 10 organisations such as
the Environmental Protection Department, the Hong Kong
Council of Social Service, chambers of commerce and other
business organisations. The Company also received one green
certifications, “Energywi$e Certificate (Basic Level)”, which
enhance the recognition of the Company’s achievements and
commitment in continuously saving energy.

106 |

EHREH T (R ERABHE) - URERAAT
WAZRNEBTE RITOBIRER « (55751
(GERARHE) A~ B-TERALN - BX
288 THRE TIEMBHRMEEYE - T
B

- EADEBAERMERHERE

- EYERTHIERN T# R YE S KB R]
BLEER

- BRAEEVALREMNAEEENTARE

- ERYFFHEGERERQZER)NEEMEK
B ARHENSCE

WRARBES EAERNEREL - KARHE
HBEEMETCGREPAZTHR) « LB R A
RETHRERLAEEEAEBRE YRR THE
R T - 2B TRUEARAINHZERHPE
RER(RERRZERR) » ANERBI/AR
AR AR S TIREAE - A - XAFE
BIRREBEES TAR  WEETHARRRE
MAERERNERROERANEE -

HHEEERAZTER)NERREIHRESR
B ANRAREAFERE EMHENESNEET
2R - NARIEBESHRBEDHEZESH
E10EMBINIREREE - B SRBEHS -
e REMAGA RN BBEOME | 2ERIZ
i AARNNERSZCREAEEE[ERAR
Al ZREAEE T AR BEFE AN
A EE ©

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B e RE IR W

HEBRBEHE
Hong Kong Green Organisation
(2018 - 2020}

Great Wall Pan Asla Holdings Limited

- — —— .’l

¥

-
el —

it i
Hong Kong

Green Organisation Certification

iy € &
EnergywiSe
— Cetificato—

" REREMR

Basic Level

SRR ]

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certificate Energywi$e Certificate (Basic Level)

[BEEGEHE]EE
Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

The Company’s business operation is mainly indoor at offices,
hence the main sources of carbon emission are limited to
direct emissions from vehicle use and indirect emissions from
purchased electricity consumption. With the new purchase of
a vehicle due to business needs, the corresponding emissions
thereby slightly increased during the Reporting Year as compared
to 2019. Yet the proportion of carbon emissions from the two
vehicles is insignificant small, several energy conservation
measures are therefore implemented to reduce electricity usage
and relevant emission. According to the Green Office Policy, all
employees are required to follow the following rules:

« Turn off lights when not in use and use natural light when
possible

« Turn on the lights at specific spot in the office for employees
working overtime and turn off other lights in the office when
notin use

« Turn off air conditioning at or before 7:30 p.m. every day, in
order to save energy
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- Provide fans and purifiers for employees in the office after
7:30 p.m.

« Arrange monthly cleaning for air conditioning system

«  Power off electrical appliances that are not in use after office
hours

« Arrange regular maintenance for appliances

«  Affix reminders to all electrical devices to remind employees
to:

«  Switch off lighting, air conditioning, fans and purifiers
after use

« Switch off/switch the office equipment into standby
mode in the office after use

During the Reporting Period, all employees strictly followed the
energy-saving measures as set forth in the Green Office Policy
and electricity consumption has been continually monitored
by responsible personnel. Prior to the Reporting Period, the
Company has completely settled in the new office, and the
Company continues to record and annually disclose electricity
consumption and other relevant environmental data at the new
office as to assess the effectiveness of the Green Office Policy
and employees’ efforts in the reasonable use of energy.
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Resources Management

The generation of domestic wastes from day-to-day business
activities is insignificant for the Company due to its business
nature, the Company still spares no effort in reducing wastes
and using resources in an efficient and effective manner. The
Company identified the major types of non-hazardous wastes
to be domestic wastes and paper wastes, and also identified
toner cartridges and disposed batteries as hazardous wastes.
During the Reporting Period, Recyclable materials, including
paper wastes, plastic bottles and glass bottles, and disposed
batteries were assembled by types and collected by the property
management offices for centralised recycling. Meanwhile,
the Company encourages employees to use recyclable toner
cartridges and return all used toner cartridges to suppliers for
recycling purposes.

According to the Green Office Policy, the Company is committed
to waste reduction and resources saving by the following means:

« Use electronic means for communication whenever possible
+  Apply double-sided printing whenever possible

« Collect and reuse single-sided printed paper and old
envelopes for printing

+  Collect and reuse old box files and apply electronic means for
filing whenever possible

+ Replace rubbish bag not more than twice a week whenever
possible

« Collect and repair computer accessories, electrical
appliances and repairable items for reuse

+ Reuserechargeable batteries whenever possible

+ Reuse decorating materials

EREE

ERARANEBILE - BEELTELENER
BRI AFRE - BEARRBULTERR N MR D RESR
Y BRUMERER - NAREREENTIRE
EREEMA/ERPIPAERE  MEBEE
FEZEY RN IR - RBEHA - AR
PRI AR « BB N IR AR B R 5 =
TYRERR 'Tﬁﬁiéﬂ”HQEEZQE]H&<>Eﬂ51 ZA/N
AlEE B TERA B KRBRANmmnE - WKAT
mmﬁﬁéﬁE@ME%WEWZ%
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«  Collect recyclable materials for recycling, including:
- Waste paper
+  Metal
« Plastic
« Used toner and ink cartridges
« Glass bottles
+ Rechargeable batteries

+ Encourage employees to use municipal water supplies
instead of bottled water

«  Affix reminders near all printers and photocopiers to remind
employees of saving paper

« Affix reminders at collect points and notice boards in the
office to encourage waste recycling

« Affix reminders on taps in the office to remind employees of
turning tap off after use

During the Reporting Period, 11 recyclable toner cartridges were
used and handled together with 12.43 kg of paper by qualified
recycling companies. The Company has additionally set up
wastepaper recycling station next to every printer for recycling
purpose. Besides, since employees were encouraged to avoid
the use of disposable materials, the amount of plastic and glass
bottles generated was limited in the office during the Reporting
Period. The implementation of the Green Office Policy has shown
a positive progress on the environmental performance of the
Company.

The Company adheres to the importance of water saving in the
office. The Company’s water is sourced from municipal supply
and controlled by a third-party property management company.
Despite not having any issues in water sourcing during the
Reporting Period, the Company still proactively raises employees’
awareness of water conservation by affixing reminders next to
water taps in order to save water.
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Community Investment

The Company is dedicated to integrating corporate social
responsibility into business activities through caring the society,
striving to make positive contributions to the community through
employee volunteer programs and donations, building trust with
community and other stakeholders.

With years of unremitting effort in community investment, the
Company has been again acknowledged as a “Caring Company”
in 2020, as a recognition of consecutive commitment in fulfilling
social responsibility and the long-term partnership with
charitable organisations.
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In the pursuit of creating positive impacts on the community,
the Company encourages employees to be actively involved in
volunteer programs, and has been creating opportunities for
employees to directly engage with the community. Specifically,
the Company has been supporting U-Hearts, an influential local
charitable organisation for their efforts in empowering youths
in Mainland China and Hong Kong, and caring for local elderly.
The Company has established a long-term relationship with
U-Hearts, and formed the Company’s volunteer team under their
guidance, aiming to support them by participating in voluntary
work and donations. The Company considers collaborating
with more charitable organisations in the future in order to
provide more channels for employees to participate in charitable
activities. During the Reporting Period, employees of the
Company have devoted to volunteering work for 11.5 hours, with
HK$5,000 donated to U-Hearts by the Company in November
2020.

AEMEFELIENTZE  AQRSEETE
B2 EERERYS - YAS TIREFEETIEMHED
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Activity Means of participation
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U-hearts Elderly Caring Program
[t —0 | REBEAE
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The Company has been continuously supporting
U-Heart’s initiatives, and supported its Elderly Caring
Program during the Reporting Period by preparing “lucky
bags” of essential daily necessities, such as rice, noodles,
toiletries, etc. More than 3,300 “lucky bags” were
delivered to grass-roots families and solitary elderly on a
monthly basis since October 2018, supporting people in
need in Hong Kong.
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Fighting against COVID-19

The global outbreak of COVID-19 has ravaged the global economy
and business activities, especially the commercial property
market, which results in far more challenging circumstances
for the Company. Given the fact that the continuous outbreak
of COVID-19 in HK has ceaselessly affected the Company, to
ensure the safety and health of employees, the Company has
implemented effective epidemic prevention and control work
since the beginning of COVID-19 outbreak.

The Company has not only conducted COVID-19 deep throat
saliva test 7 times for all employees during the Reporting Period,
but also arranged disinfection of the office every working day
with 1:99 diluted in all corners of the office, covering public
area, meeting rooms, restaurants, pantry and etc., and in-
depth disinfection and cleaning service for the office provided
by professional disinfection company to ensure the hygienic
condition of the working environment of employees. Additionally,
the Company has distributed epidemic prevention materials
to employees, including but not limited to, 35,000 masks,
22,500 pieces of sterilized alcohol cotton swab, 435 bottles of
sterilized alcohol-based handrubs, 435 boxes of disinfectant
wipes, 350 bottles of disinfectant sprays, 340 boxes of paper
towel, approximately 170 bottles of disinfectant hand soap
and disinfectant shower gel and epidemic prevention shopping
vouchers. To avoid close contact among employees, the Company
also implements work shift systems for all employees during the
Reporting Period. On 11 November 2020, the Company donates
300 “lucky bags” with food, facial mask and daily necessities to a
non-profitable organisation named as U-Hearts for beneficiaries.
With regards to the unknown future impacts that COVID-19
still has on the market and daily operation of the Company,
the Company will regularly review relevant possible prevention
measures so as to effectively and efficiently fight against
COVID-19.
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In-depth disinfection and cleaning service provided by Recycling bin for masks
professional disinfection company A EZ A B
HEHSARREN AT REHEERRYG
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Performance Data BB
Environmental Performance RIBEN
2020 2019 2018 2017
“B-%F “2-hE -F-\F “B-+F
Emissions? HE ik 4>
Air Pollutants® AR5 $4)°
Total Total Total Total

Types Units Emissions Emissions Emissions Emissions

ELic] B HEHE BERE SLIHKE LENE

Sulphur oxides F &/ ¥1(S0.) Tonnes AW 7.61x10%  3.13x10° - -

Nitrogen oxides R&AL#I(NO.) Tonnes AW 6.84x10°  9.79x10* - -

Particulate matter % T (PM) Tonnes AR 3.69x10°  2.66x10° - -

Carbon monoxide —&{E#Z(CO) Tonnes AW 2.07x10°  8.80x10° - -

GHG Emissions* & % i B8 HE ik

Total Total Total Total

Types Units Emissions Emissions Emissions Emissions

b B BERE RERE BHNE BHNE

Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from vehicle use®Tonnes COze 6.64 5.63 = =

HE— EREAEENERAEREBERS AM-fltRES

Scope 1 emissions per employee Tonnes COze per 0.42 0.28 = =

BHRETIHNEE K employee

AE—EriREE
BEBT

Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from Tonnes COze 33.28 49.68 24.03 19.71

electricity use® AE—SEtIREE

#E— - AEELNERREREIRC

Scope 2 emissions per office area Tonnes COze per 2.76x107°%  2.17x10°%  2.22x10°%  2.18x10°°

WREGFHREEE W sq. ft

AL iREE
F¥HR

2 Two vehicles were used by the Company during the Reporting Period. Since the Company did not use any vehicles in 2018 and
2017, there was no air pollutant emissions, direct GHG emissions and gasoline consumption. . .
ARAERSHNERMEAE - ARAE_FT—N\FHN_FT—LFWLEERTE - RIIBEAARSEY EEEER
BRI URERE ©

3 The calculation method of the emissions from vehicle use references the EMEF/EEA Air Pollutant Emission Inventory
Guidebook 2016 issued by the European Environment Agency. . .

B R PERENRTE T A2E TRUINERIEE (European Environment Agency) 2 fr) ( EMEP/EEAZE RS REL S BIEE —T—N)

4 According to A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, Scope 1 emissions is
defined as the direct GHG emissions occur from sources that are owned or controlled by the Company, for example, emissions
from combustion in owned vehicles, while Scope 2 emissions is defined as the indirect GHG emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity, steam, heating, and cooling consumed by the C\ompany\. N ] ==
BERERELEEXMEHR(EIRERGEIRE)  BE —FTERKA R FRASKIERINAR - fli0 - 855 BHHTHR
BEENERAEREEHNE SR _FRR/EARERNE S 309 RAFLAMELENHEREREHEREZ -

5 The calculation method and relevant emission factors of direct GHG emissions references the Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Hong issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental Protection Qi%artm‘ent of Hong Kon%
EEREREFMOSEL ARABERAMNSERETREBMRGREZ KRR GN(EBEEY (AX - 2324
#®) R EREH IR E RS -

6 The calculation method and relevant emission factors of indirect GHG emissions references A Corporate Accounting

and Reporting Standard and the Sustainability Report 2019 issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and the HK Electric
Investments respectively. . \ I ) N . ) .

B =R BB st 5 7 A RIBR B A B2 A ERBRE B A E M (b ERERBEFE) MBRENREBRA
RIBMEOC T —NFAFHEERRE)

REBEEZERAERAR T _TFERE | 115



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B g RkE IR

2020 2019 2018 2017

ZEBIRF ZE-NF ZB-N\F ZB-+HF
Wastes BEEY)

Total Total Total Total
Types Units Emissions Emissions Emissions Emissions
EEid] By HEHE BERE BHEKE AHENE
Non-hazardous waste: Domestic waste’ Tonnes 2.36 3.29 3.22 =
BEREEY : £IENR NI
Domestic waste per employee Tonnes per employee  0.16 0.16 0.15 =
BREIESENEENR AW/ BEET
Hazardous waste: Toner cartridge Tanks 11 10 21 10
BEREY : HHE i
Toner cartridge per employee Tanks per employee 0.69 0.50 1 0.56
BEEIELMRHE ®/BEET

7 The calculation method of domestic waste of 2020 references the Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong — Waste Statistics
for 2019, the calculation method of domestic waste of 2019 references the Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong — Waste
Statistics for 2018 and calculation methods of domestic waste of 2018 and 2017 references to the Monitoring of Solid Waste
in Hong Kong — Waste Statistics for 2077 issued by the Environmental Protection Department.

R TEMAENRNFE A2 ERERESEMO(TRERENERERE — — T NFHNAET) c —TNFH
EERRR R E AR ERBREZ R MN(EEERBEYEERE — —T— \FNRAHT) - — 2 \FR-ZT—LFH
RN E RS EREREZEMAKEBEREYESRE — T tFSHET) -
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2020 2019 2018 2017
“E-RF ZBE-NEF ZB-NF ZB-+F
Use of Resources &R
Types Units Amount Amount Amount Amount
E=tid) B HE 6] HE HE
Electricity consumption® kWh'in 000’s
AEES TETEH 41.08 62.10 30.42 24.95
Electricity consumption per office area kWhin 000's persg. ft ~ 3.41x10°  2.72x10°  2.81x10°  2.77x1073
WREGTHRNE N ERE TETER,/ GFAR
Gasoline consumption Litres 2,497.00 2,115.20 - =
MRS DF
Gasoline consumption per employee Litres per employee 156.06 105.76 = =
BREIMNUHAE AR/ BRET
Purchased water® m? 1.97 6.56 4.64 =
SNEERIKE® AR
Purchased water per employee m? per employee 0.12 0.33 0.22 =
BHEETHINERKE AR/ BHRET
Use of paper kg 12.43 14.83 = =
RRER TR
Use of paper per employee kg per employee 0.78 0.74 = =
B ETIMARERA TR/ 8%8T

8  The reason for the signiﬂcant decrease in electricity consumption was due to office settlement. Unlike the year of 2019, the
Company only operates in one office during the Reporting Period.

RESHNARERLEHRPAZTTHNRE  TARZZ—NF  ARARBEHAEE—FARIENAR

9  The Company operates in an office which its supply of water is managed by a third-party property management company and

the water usage data could not be obtained. Hence, purchased water includes purchased bottles of drinking water only.

ARABMAENKRERBE=TYEERABTES] - AR ARFRKER - Bt - SNERKERBSHBAEERRNINE

MEK -

REBRTEZERAERAR — T -_TFERE
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Social Performance™ EER
Total Workforce & S 4 &
Types Number of employees Percentage
W] EEAH (5154
By sex Male 12 75.0%
RERIE D LS
Female 4 25.0%
z
By employment type' Senior level S 31.3%
REFERIEIHT = e
Middle level 7 43.8%
g
Junior level 4 25%
HE
By age Below 30 8 18.8%
REWREI D BOBRA T
30-40 8 50.0%
30-405%
41-50 3 18.8%
41-505%
51 or above 2 12.5%
BRI b
By geographical region’ Mainland China 9 56.3%
RibE S D s B it
Hong Kong 7 43.8%
&

10 The Company continues to collect social performance data with consistent methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons
over time.

ARRFERA—BEDAREL SEREE - UERA SRR -

11 Some values increase due to round-off, resulting in that a sum greater than 100%. The error is within the normal and
acceptable range.

HRIE A AGHER O EEIEIN - BURELARIN00% © LR EEIEFRIEEER -
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Employee Turnover {E &/ %

Number of employees

Types leaving employment Percentage'?
5l MENE ke
By sex Male 1 8.7%
RIERIE S ES
Female 0 0.0%
L8
By employment type Senior level 0 0.0%
REREIE D =
Middle level 1 14.3%
&
Junior level 0 0.0%
=B
By age Below 30 0 0.0%
REHRE D 0BT
30-40 0 0.0%
30-405%
41-50 1 28.6%
41-505%
51 or above 0 0.0%
BIBREIA L
By geographical region Mainland China 0 0%
i@ E D B A,
Hong Kong 1 13.3%
i

12 The denominator of turnover rate is calculated is half of the number of employees at the beginning of the Reporting Period

plus the number of employees at the end of Reporting Period.

SHERARAE MO B RIRE T8 T ABIN LS HRE T ABE IR —F o
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Development and Training % & B2 3|

Number of employees

Types trained Percentage
bl B THEIAH (5154
No. and rate of employees Male 12 75.0%
trained by sex ES
RIERIEI DY B THEHIARK Female 4 25.0%
S3(=1x¢ o8
No. and rate of employees Senior level S 31.2%
trained by employment type =
RIERERE D E T Middle level 7 43.8%
AB AR &
Junior level 4 25.0%
2E
Types Average training hours Percentage
5l 15 2 /) B (=154
Average no. of training hours Male 19.9 =
per employee by sex B2
R RIBI 5D R X5 2 Female 23.9 -
L8
Average no. of training hours per Senior level 8.8 =
employee by employment type =&
REREAR SN FHAXIIRE  Middle level 23 -
g
Junior level 27.6 =
£E
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Occupational Health and Safety Bi ¥ @ FEHEZ 2

Types Number Rate
=l = oz
No. and rate of work-related fatalities 0 0%
ETIEBEME TR A KX

No. and rate of work injury 0 0%
ETEREMXGHIAB KL

No. of lost days due to work injury 0 =

AT EREMXSAERN TR

Supply Chain Management 1 /& § & 18

Types Number Rate

=l BE b=

No. and rate of suppliers Mainland China 0 0%

by geographical region [ A3

i S 5 R ER S A KI5 Hong Kong 47 100%
BB

Product Responsibility RS E

No. of complaints received 0

EENRFH A

Anti—corruption R &35
No. of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 0
the Company or our employees

HEITAIEREROYEEENE SHARTNEE

Community Investment #t BR &

Donation amount (in HKD) 5,000
BREeRE (%)
Time spent on volunteer activities (in hours) 11.5

ERRARG R (/N
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Appendix: The Environmental, Social and Bife% : BEXPTESGE S| &S|
Governance Reporting Guide Index
General Description Relevant Section
Disclosures and it in the Report
Key Performance AR EERELD
Indicators (KPI)
—REER
BRENES(KP)
A. Environmental
A REEE
Aspect A1: Emission
BEA1 : FHY
General Disclosure | Information on: Environment
—RBE (a) the policies; and R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
ARABERLRERBEN - RKRLANEES AEREZEENNEESH -
(@) BRI
(b) BFHBETABEAZ ENRBEERARNER
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental
BERUIR IR RARR B R - Performance
RIBEN
KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Environmental
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
RERBAYNE UNE) R (ER) BE (A SESEN - BEREE) « | RFEN
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Environmental
per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
FESREREZNEE UNEE) K (ER) BE (IASESEN - BIRREHE) o | REEN
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | Environmental
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
FESREREEYEE ONEHE) & (WER) BE WABESEN - BIERETHE) | REEN

122 | GREATWALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B i a RE IR

General Description Relevant Section
Disclosures and i in the Report
Key Performance FRENBEED
Indicators (KPI)
-RIKER
BRENEE(KP)
KPIA1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. Energy Conservation
TEIURE B RO TR HE S PTG AR and Emission
Reduction
AL
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction | Resources
initiatives and results achieved. Management
HWIRIERE NEZEENNE - BIEELENEELPIENR - BREE
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BHEA2 : EREA
General Disclosure | Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw Resources
—REE materials. Management
BRFERER (B1ER « KREMEME) BB - BREE
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in Environmental
total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). | Performance
RENEDMERER / FREER (NE - feloh) B (UTETRENE) REE | RFEX
(MABESEN - §1EREAE) -
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Environmental
facility). Performance
BFRKERTE (MABEBEN - BARMETE) ° RIFER
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Energy Conservation
HitRe R AR A B RFTERR o and Emission
Reduction
iR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, | Resources
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Management
HICKEUERKR LB ERMEE - RIRA KR RATERE - BRER
KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, | Not applicable™
with reference to per unit produced NER"

SR BV REE AR E) & (WER) BEEENAE -

13 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, the use of packaging materials
was not involved during the Reporting Period.

BRANAREE

ENEBTUEHEERED - AHERBSBRLEYS REMREMHHER -

RBBRDZERERAE T _TFERS |
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CRGE &

General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEE(KP)

Description
U

Relevant Section
in the Report
AR EHBERS

Aspect A3: The Enviro
EHA3 : RIERARE

nment and Natural Resources
iR

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.
REBETAHRERARERELNEATENIE

Environment
RIE

KPI'A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

Not applicable™
TER™

BMER EDHRBERAAE RN EATERE KN EREHEFENTTE -
B. Social
B. HEEHE

Aspect B1: Employme
EEB1 : {EfE

nt

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits

and welfare.

BRHMERE  BRERET  TEREC R FERE 2t RERARE

BRI

(@) B &

(b) EFHBEITAREATENRBERLARGINER -

Employment Policies
and Regulations

BIRECR R 2R

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. | Social Performance
®RIER - EBEER - FRARIESSNES A - HEBEN
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Social Performance

RITH - FRAR B S DERRKLE -

HEEN

14 Due to the negligible impact of the Company’s direct business operation on the environment and natural resources, no
activities were taken to manage the impact.

4

e

HRANAREE

124 | GREATWALL

=

MEBHHRRERAARERNZEDRD - AICLAERREEEEZENLD -

PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

m oy > Kk Y
R - g RERKSE

General Description Relevant Section
Disclosures and it in the Report

Key Performance FRENBEED
Indicators (KPI)

-RIKER

BREARIEE(KP)

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EHB2 : RRERE

General Disclosure | Information on: Health and Safety
—BIE (a) the policies; and BENEZE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

ARRHEZ2TERERREES S EBENLE

(@) B &

b) BTHETABEAZENEREEZNAPINEF -

implemented and monitored.

RN BEREER 2 - ARERRTRERTA °

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Social Performance
TEBEREMETHAZBLE HEBEH

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social Performance
TBBATERE - HEEX

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are Employee Health and

Safety
EEEERZE

EMEB3 : B/ K

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

BRETTEEET TERE M AB R EENBR © fduEsED -

Talent Training and
Development

AT BERIE

category.

RURIRESERED - BRESTRIIIN TR

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior | Social Performance
management, middle management). HEER
RIERI REBER (MBRERE PREEET) ANNXIIEEAD

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee Social Performance

HEEN

REBRTEZERERAR T _TFERE |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEE(KP)

Description
U

Relevant Section
in the Report
AR EHBERS

EBEBs : LT EE|

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

AEAMIEETSAHIZTE

(@) B&E: &

(b) BFHETABEAZ ENRBEERARNER

Employment Policies
and Regulations

BRRE k]

HAAERRERERREREBERARRO TR

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced | Employment Policies
labour. and Regulations
R RS HINE AR RET REHST - EIRECR R

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment Policies

and Regulations

BB R ER|
Aspect B5 : Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS : ftEEER
General Disclosure | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain
—REE BRERENIRE R 2RBIE o Management
R E R
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social Performance
RREDOHERHE - HEEX
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEEKP)

Description
U

Relevant Section
in the Report
AR EHBERS

JEMEB6 : EmEf

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods of redress.

ARFMREERNRBNREERZ S  BE  REMMESEARBRAEN -

(@) B &

(b) BTHETAREATENEREELADINES -

Service Quality and
Responsibility’
PR EEMEES

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject recalls for safety and health | Not applicable'®
reasons TR
EEAEERERAHTRL 2 BRFEHMANKNADLL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are Service Quality and
dealt with. Responsibility
BRANEm IR B AREE 7% - Social Performance

FREEEMAE
HEBEN

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property | Service Quality and
rights. Responsibility
Hi B A DRIB RVHERE R IRV IE D - FREEEMAT

KPI B6.4 Description of quality relating to observing and protecting intellectual property Not applicable
rights. TEH
HE ST BR REmBYER -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are Service Quality and

implemented and monitored.

MR BEERRERALBEE - ARABRTREEE -

Responsibility
FREEEMAE

15 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, no matters relating to product
labelling were involved during the Reporting Period.

HRARAREEL

ENEBTUEHEERER AR BSHALES N EHERRRNOEE

16 Since there are no sales of physical products in the direct business operation of the Company, no matters relating to product

recalls were involved during the Reportin

%&?%Eﬁ%%qﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%’gﬁéﬁﬁ AR HEHAYES REEEREQNEER -

HRAR R EE

Period.

RBBRDZERERAE T _TFERS |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
-REER
BRENIEE(KP)

Description
U

Relevant Section
in the Report
AR EHBERS

EBEB7 : RES

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure

—RiKE

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

AR LB - HR - BEF LR EN -

(@) B&E: &

(b) BFHETABEAZ ENRBEERARNER

Anti-corruption
RE)S

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the | Social Performance
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. |4 &4
REHRPANLETASHEERDU D BENE THRARFHOHE RFAER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are | Anti-corruption

implemented and monitored. RES
P& R RE - R TRER S o

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : #BIRE

General Disclosure | Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities | Community

—BE where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the Investment
communities’ interests. HERE
AU R2ERTREEMEHBRENRREERTDGEBUENHABE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, | Community
health, culture, sport). Investment
EIERERE (0HE  RREE SIFK BE Xt B5)- HERRE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social Performance
EZIBRMPAER (WEEHER) - HEBEN
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Great Wall Pan Asia
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 139 to 219, which comprise:

« theconsolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

« the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

« the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended:;

- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

- the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BRBBRDERARQARR
(RBERE

=R

M B R AR

BEMHEEFTHAR

ERMIRTGIERER AR (A NEHIEAR )&
EREAR (ATHHEIEEE )FIFHNRE139E
Q9B AMIEHRE - BIE

s R-Z-_THFF_A=+—HNERAEER
B
B I F R AR

o HZEZ

EEHEWERE

s FAEMBHRRWE BREIZEAHEM

EMHER

HIFIRA  ZHEEMBRREBBEE B S
R ([BEGTMAE ) BHNBT BT KRS
R (f%c/%ﬁﬁx#&%/ﬁ,ﬁ”l JEEMH 5 iRk
T BERE_ZT_ZEF+_A=1+—HNEE
%%#ﬁ&@iﬁamierQWW%ﬁ&@
BREME  WEEBREBQEHINEERE

I o
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

130 |
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BN AT BEHAAREHN(TEE R
B ((EBBEEAD DEITRE - BIVERS
R TR EN B EEEARE B EH
AR AR (E HA S B — AL -

BAHEE - RPPESHENREE TR EE
RPN E BRI AR -
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Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to valuation of

investment properties.

BMEET P RANEREAFREREYE
HfAERR -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRESEE BMNET A EERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
REMEME valuation of investment properties included:

Refer to notes 2(g), 3(a) and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
B2HRE M HMARMTTE2(g) - 3(a) 26 °

The investment properties are a key component of the
Group’s net assets value as at year end and financial
performance for the year. The Group recognised the fair
values of the investment properties of HK$3,183.5 million
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2020 and the investment properties revaluation losses
of HK$170.6 million in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020.

SERENMER ;Klﬁziiiﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁiwﬁﬁ“%
BMERAKED - RZFT_FTFF+_A=+—H &L

ERGEEEABERTERNEYHXATIES,183.588F
JC )52 EEEREE T TF+-_A=+—HILFER
FAEANERP BRI EMEEAEIR1706B8E T °

The investment properties of the Group comprise retail
shops, office buildings, industrial properties, and car
parking spaces. Management determined the fair values
of these properties, with reference to the valuation
performed by external valuer engaged by the Group (the
“Valuer”), using the income capitalisation approach and
including potential impacts of the Coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
in the valuation of investments properties. The income
capitalisation approach involved significant estimates,
the key assumptions used such as rental yields and
capitalisation rates taking into consideration of the
locations, sizes, and qualities of the properties to derive
the fair values of each of the properties.
BEEENRENMFHEABIETER BAKE TERIFE
HEAL - ERESE BEEEZENIMNEGER ([EER])
ETHEE  ERRRENMOEEEZEMENATE I
E/\&QW%E’J$1H¢§W)\¥&@7’E#7§(f%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁfﬁDﬁ'}

T8 o W BNMUESREXMGE @ PlIESREE R
éZMtttTﬁﬁﬁHE’JFEJﬁTE““ WEBREIE - KN
BE  ASHSEVMENHATE -

EREHIEMENMGE - RTINS EFE
¥

Obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of valuation
of investment properties and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

TR T B EHIREY R AENAERES R ERE -
WiEidE Bt TN HREE R EMES AR EE (E
M THNE  BPRIREBREIIGITE)NE
B - FHE T ERERAESRERE

Assessed the Valuer’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
FHEHERIEER - B I REEIE

Obtained and read the valuation reports issued by
the Valuer which covered the property valuation of all
investment properties of the Group;
EBERMEGEMDANBERS - BRE 85
B E MR EL(E

E ey

Agreed the management data used by the Valuer,
including tenancy schedules and relevant details, to
the tenancy agreements of the Group;
REMEMERNEREE - SRS
B BEEENEERHE

SRR - HHEE

Assessed the valuation methodologies and the
key assumptions used by the Valuer, including
involvement of our internal valuation experts; and
.%WETEEFE@FHE’Mﬁ@ﬁéﬁ&?ﬁiﬂ?j“ BREEMOA
BEEERADE ;
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Key Audit Matters
BAREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E A EERREETSE

We focused on auditing the valuation of investment
properties because the estimation of fair values of the
investment properties was inherently subjective and
subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty due to the
significant estimates involved. Changes in these estimates
could result in material changes to the valuation of the
properties and hence the results of the Group.

BIEREDMELERARETFE  REA/REMELTF
ENATFERS EHIL - BN EEXEGTMEERE
EETIEEN - ZFMFTNEB R SR EHELIREX
B HMEH BEEENFELHEEREL -

Valuation and impairment of property, plant and
equipment

M3 - MBERRBAEBEREE

Refer to notes 2(i), 3(b) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2R A R 20) ~ 3(b) &5 -

As at 31 December 2020, management has identified
impairment indicators for the portions of 20th Floor and
21st Floor of Bank of America Tower included in property,
plant and equipment (“PP&E”) of the Group. There was
prolonged decline in commercial property prices under
the outbreak of the novel COVID-19 during the year and
as at the year ended 31 December 2020, and the carrying
amount of the PP&E exceeds its recoverable amount. As a
result, the Group recognised a total impairment provision
charge of HK$92.8 million against the PP&E to the
consolidated income statement of the Group for the year
then ended.

R-ZE_ZF+_A=+—0 TEEE} BEEEYZE-
He2s K ekt ([ - S kB BV ERRITH O 208 &
21182 —MHBRREDTR - B BRASEBERENS
ATEBHEFARN_ZE_TF+_A=+—HILFEHR
REMEEBRRPTY®  MYxE - Bz RENREEDB
BHPW OISR - Fitt - SRER SEEBEZHILLF
Eiimala R P HEREYER - S RREATTRER B
928BERTT °

132 |

Involved our internal valuation experts to compare
the rental yields, capitalisation rates, any default
cases and occupancy rate used in the management’s
valuation process, with our independently formed
market expectation including the impacts of COVID-19
on similar properties.

ZRMNABEEERREREBGERIEPEANES

Wk - BEAMEL R - EEREH b HREE T
RSN (BREFTEERRSHRUMENTE)
EITHE -

Based on the above, we considered that
management’s judgements and assumptions applied
in the valuation of investment properties were
supportable by the evidence obtained and procedures
performed.

ERU LR - MR % - EREMERREHITHRE
Fr A X FE B IR B RNR B W R A E R P FE AR B 1T I R

N
Vi
ax °

With regard to the impairment assessment of PP&E of
the Group:
AR SREHYE - e LRBRRERHE -

Obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of valuation
and impairment of property, plant and equipment and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud;

TR TEEBEHYR - e LR mREAER A EES

KEHERAE - WiBBE Bt THEE I&“&H\ﬁzl*ﬁﬂ
Hz= (nEREE - T8I  EPRFXEERELHK

FE)NEE - FHMETEAERNEBRRE |
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Key Audit Matters
BAREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
R ETT A EEERETSH

In assessing the recoverability of the PP&E that had
impairment indicators, management of the Group
identified the relevant cash generation units (“*CGU”) to
which these PP&E belong and estimated the recoverable
amounts of these CGUs based on the higher of their value
in use (“VIU”) calculation and the fair value less costs of
disposal (“FVLCOD”).

AHETFERETFROYE - ESMRENATKEIER - &
SEEERERN T HENE MR ARETBNESELE
(R ELEM])  WIRREEREE(EREEDAE
RAHERBREKA ([ AFERRERAE B SE RETH
AIE SRR °

VIU
EMEE

Management used VIU to assess the recoverability of the
CGUs and applied significant judgements in determining
the VIU calculation. The judgements included: growth rates
to extrapolate rental income and cash flows within and
beyond the budget period and discount rate.
ERERAEREENLRSELEMNAIKEIE - WNE
EEREEFENBIETERAEAHE - ZFHGeFE : A
PAHEERTE 5 HAR R BB i 2 A RIR &8 A R ITIR B 4315
e e

Evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
grouping of these PP&E with the relevant CGUs.

FHE T ERERERE e EE B EZEYR - BBk
REDHEEBEE N o

VIU
ERERE

Assessed the discounted cash flow method used
by management to determine the VIU by reference
to industry practices, and tested the mathematical
accuracy of the VIU calculations.

2 ETEEHIRE T EREMAAEEERBEENT
RELRENE  WASEREBESENHZERE -

Compared the input data used in the cash flow
forecasts against the historical figures and business
plans.

IR £ ETRRIBAZ T ## A\ BUE B S 8008 MR
STEBEITTHER -

Challenged management’s key assumptions by:
Bi T ERERRMERR

1. Comparing the rental income growth rates
within the budget period with the relevant CGU’s
historical growth rates; and those beyond the
budget period with our independent expectation
based on economic data; and

1. BREPANESWARRERERBE EE SN
ML IR RIEITHE  URSBLAEHNES
WSS =R B PR IB A B BUR(E L 0B TR
THER &

2. Assessing the discount rate by considering and
recalculating the weighted average cost of capital
for the CGU and comparable companies in the
relevant industry.

2. BREELREMAERSELEMNMETIHER
PR R AR RATT R B AT VELL B R RS9 3R 1T AT
ity o
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Key Audit Matters
BAREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E A EERREETSE

Valuation and impairment of property, plant and
equipment (continued)

Y3 - HERRRBAERRE (F)

FVLCOD
NHEREEKRA

FVLCOD is estimated by management based on their
knowledge of subject assets. Management applied
significant judgement in determining the market values by
considering available information and information from the
Valuer.
EEEREENEREEN TRAEA A TERREKSE - &
BEEBEEAFER MR B GEMNEREEE MERE
FRAERHE -

We focused on auditing the impairment of PP&E because
the estimation of recoverable amount is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk
in relation to the impairment assessment of PP&E is
considered significant due to subjectivity of significant
assumptions used, and significant management
judgements involved in selecting data for assessing the
recoverable amount.

BIRYE - RS NRERE/MRENFE  RERAE
We BN AT FESE AT I EEN - AR EAIEKE
AR ERANERREMGEBIBEMS RNEXEEE A
BXHIE - WE  #ELRERENENEBRRKERRE
K o
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FVLCOD
NHEREERA

Assessed the Valuer’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
AHEfEEREELE - e REEIM

Obtained and read the valuation report issued by the
Valuer which covered the valuation of the PP&E of the
Group;

RS REEGER AN (AERE - HRE
¥ B MRBIEE

E5EY

Assessed the valuation methodologies and the
key assumptions used by the Valuer, including
involvement of our internal valuation experts; and
AHEfEERNE ARG ETE R EREER - BEHMIEA
BEEERNZE : &

Involved our internal valuation experts to compare
the rental yields and capitalisation rates used in
the management’s valuation process, with our
independently formed market expectation of similar
properties.
FRMOAFEEZRRES WaE R EREGHERE
R {58 F O B AN L L =R BRI S AL T B T 35 TR B
fTHLER o

Based on the above, we considered that
management’s judgements and assumptions
applied in the impairment assessment of PP&E were
supportable by the evidence obtained and procedures
performed.

ERUA EFrt - HFIRR - ERENRERERNITHRR
PRI EIRERYE « #es MR EBRER LIS FrER
B I R R % o
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hp&E#
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

1 37 A% YR i

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

1 37 A% YR i

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Li Lien.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 9 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GaEEAFR
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
—=F —ET-hnF
+=A=+—-H8H +=—A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiYeE BT T BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets SEMEBNEE
Investment properties B 6 3,183,500 3,351,200
Investment in associates REE N R 2 IE 8 3,869,478 3,811,900
Financial asset at fair value through BT EF AR
profit or loss TRIBEE 9 - 1,116
Property, plant and equipment b E eIV 5 531,765 631,807
Right-of use-assets EREEE 10 16,913 21,986
Deferred tax asset BETIAE E 104
Restricted cash ZRHEEE 15(a) - 10,226
7,601,760 7,828,235
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from associates e & R BIFRIR 8 161 65
Prepayments, deposits and TERER - ?E@&ETJ@
other receivables JEWGRIE 12 11,439 16,848
Current tax recoverable e AT UL Bl FR IR 2,340 889
Accounts receivable FEUS R IE 11 4,360 3,740
Restricted cash ZPRHIER 2 15(a) 6,226
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH R 26 212,537 182,255
237,063 203,797
Total assets B E 7,838,823 8,032,032
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities JEmEAE
Loan from an intermediate R EHEERAR]
holding company ZER 14 3,848,434 3,848,434
Bank borrowing RITIEE 15 - 897,285
Lease liabilities HE&E 17 12,994 17,952
Deferred income tax liabilities REFTSREE 13 6,975 3,610
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hh N FIE R ETRE 16 386,149 254,549
4,254,552 5,021,830
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Continued)
GaBREARE(H)

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
—ECEF —T—NF
+=ZA=+—-8 +—A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE BT T BT TT
Current liabilities mEaE
Bank borrowing RITIEE 15 901,032 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 4,958 4,712
Current tax liabilities BIEAFIE & (E 540 3,591
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hib S RIBERETAE 16 37,047 42,727
943,577 51,030
Total liabilities mEfE 5,198,129 5,072,860
EQUITY Ea
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital &N 18 156,775 156,775
Reserves ] 19 2,483,919 2,802,397
Total equity g 2,640,694 2,059,172
Total equity and liabilities ISR A 7,838,823 8,032,032

The notes on pages 145 to 219 are an integral part of these E145BEE 2108 YT AL EHAMERE

consolidated financial statements. Z—I5 o
Mr. Huang Hu Mr. Meng Xuefeng
BREE BT LE
Chairman Director

FE )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GAemkiER
Year ended 31 December
BZt-A=1+-HLEE
2020 2019
—E0FF —F-N&F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE BT T AT
Revenue & 4 130,239 168,345
Other income HAA 109 151
Rental and utilities & K&t (13,318) (13,559)
Depreciation & 5,10 (12,524) (20,914)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ~ #)% + #22 K RS RIE 5 (92,884) -
Other operating expenses Hih g Fms 27 (49,455) (63,962)
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties R &WENTE (E18), ek 6 (170,576) 169,192
Operating (loss)/profit & (FR), /B (208,409) 239,253
Net finance cost BITEPAR 22 (160,929) (173,399)
Share of profits of associates FEGHEE AR &F 8 57,578 427,393
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATEHAT (B1R),BR (311,760) 493,247
Income tax expense PSR~ 23 (7,820) (6,296)
(Loss)/profit for the year 2F (F8) &R (319,580) 486,951
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

ek ()

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLEFE

2020 2019
“BIER —TNF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE BT AT
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HttZEBA/(BE)
ltem that may be/has been reclassified Hign] / BENHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bam R -
Currency translation difference HEREREEZER
on consolidation Z5 1,102 (373)
1,102 (373)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the 2EHMBREBA
year, net of tax (B518) (BrEi%) 1,102 (373)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E2MH (BE) WA
for the year ek (318,478) 486,578
(Loss)/profit attributable to: FEfh (F51R) /&R
Equity holders of the Company ANEERFAA (319,580) 486,951
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FEME2E (B518) A
income attributable to: fE
Equity holders of the Company ARRERFAA (318,478) 486,578
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (FE) B 25
Basic BN (HK20.38 centsi&fll)  HK31.06 centsi& Il
Diluted g (HK20.38 centsifl))  HK31.06 cents/fll

The notes on pages 145 to 219 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GoBEEHR

Year ended 31 December 2020
BEZT-TF+_A=1T—HILLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAFRERSE AR
Reserves
fttE
Share Share Contributed Merger Other  Retained Total
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves profits equity
BE  ROEE SARR AURE  HtREE REERF R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT  AETr BT AT BETr AT BT
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-E-ZF-f—-R&H% 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,601 2,116,584 2,959,172
Comprehensive (loss)/income 27 (B#)/ KA
Loss for the year 2EER - - - - - (319,580)  (319,580)
Other comprehensiveincome  EMZEMRA - - - - 1,102 - 1,102
Total comprehensive loss 2EERAE - - - - 1,102 (319,580)  (318,478)
Balanceat 31December2020 HM=ZF=FF+-A=+-H
s 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 334,703 1,797,004 2,640,694
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZ-nE—A—-R&sk 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333974 1,629,633 2,472,594
Comprehensive income/(loss) ~ 2EKA/ (EiE)
Profit for the year 2EEF - - - - - 486951 486,951
Other comprehensive oss Atz EER - - - - (373) - (373)
Totalcomprehensiveincome ~ ZEWALE - - - - (373) 486951 486578
Balance at 31 December2019  R=E-h&+-B=1-H
&8 186,775 50,382 310,841 (0011) 333601 2,116,584 2,959,172
The notes on pages 145 to 219 are an integral part of these F145HFEF219B8 2T Bt EFHEEMBEHRE
consolidated financial statements. 22— o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GellemER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2019
—E0FF —T-NEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiE BETT AT
Cash flows from operating activities RETPZRERE
Cash generated from operations BEELEZIRS 26(a) 68,475 70,982
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREEFERH (9,061) (3,329)
Net cash generated from operating activities ~ &&EBEL 2 FHRE 59,414 67,653
Cash flows from investing activities REZTBHZHATRE
Purchase of property, plantand equipment BB AYIE - #EE KR E 5 (293) (4,382)
Addition of investment properties NEREWE 6 (2,876) (19,958)
Interest received B UFE 296 197
Disposal of financial asset at fair value HE R AT B AR
through profit or loss CREE 9 1,270 -
Repayment of loan receivable ERERER - 116,700
Dividend income from an associate RE—KEE AR EMA 8 - 7,474
Repayment of loan from an associate RE—RBLERAANEREER 8 - 13,725
Restricted cash XRHEE 4,000 (1,027)
Net cash generated from investing activities ~ & EEELZFRE 2,397 112,729
Cash flows from financing activities METHRERE
Repayment of loan from an intermediate R B EERR A B
holding company EEEN - (66,576)
Repayment of bank borrowing BERITEE - (49,792)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaE 17 (5,416) (13,198)
Interest paid ERFIE (26,046) (38,022)
Net cash used in financing activities RETBMACFRE (31,461) (167,588)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R RREEE 2 FEM 30,350 12,794
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate PR &) s B (68) (132)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BzR&kREFE 182,255 169,593
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December Mt+-B=+—BZEL K
Re%E 26(b) 212,537 182,255

The notes on pages 145 to 219 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

F145EEF219B 2 MERUFHEEMERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G 6 BB R I A

1.

(a)

Corporate information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability. Its principal place of business
in Hong Kong is 21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12
Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are (a)
property investment and (b) financial services.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties and financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss, as further explained below.

1. RRIEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

(a)
(i)

(ii)

146

Summary of significant accounting policies 2,
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued) (a)
New and amended standards adopted by the Group (i)

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting year
commencing 1 January 2020:

« Definition of Material — amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

«  Definition of a Business — amendments to HKFRS 3

« Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

« Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

« Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020
Cycle

« Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments
to HKFRS 16 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (i)
by the Group

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2020 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2. EESTBRBE ()

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(b) FREEXE

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial FAEMBERREBEARARLREMBATES

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December 2020.

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Except for acquisitions under common control, the Group
uses the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB iR I A

2.

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

148

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Interests in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet are
accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

2.

(b)
(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EESHBRAEE (&)
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (b) &GREE%E ()

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued) (i) WELa (&)
Business combinations — common control HHE O — KA O
combinations
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the A HRERBIELRIZEH A2 AHER
financial statements of the combining entities in which the LB MNZEEHEBBEERA
common control combination occurs as if they had been B S| B EEE & 0F o

combined from the date when the combining entities first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities are combined AHERZ EEFERES R 2HBRE
using the existing book values from the controlling parties’ BEHAR - IS HERGER ZIGHE
perspective. No amount is recognised in consideration T SR B E T R 2 AT
for goodwill or excess of acquirers’ interest in the net BAEE  AERFFABERATREZER
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and FRE L RIS TR AN 2 Z 58 ©

contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the
controlling party’s interests.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income GERENEREEAHERBERFEEYH
includes the results of each of the combining entities from Hifesk B &S E R E X RS B ER#E (JA
the earliest date presented or since the date when the BROBEALE) 2 ¥E - mAERERIZES
combining entities first came under the common control, aftzBHE -

where there is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the
common control combination.

FEMBHRRAZ LB S22 ABNZE
A B A SR R 3 B K RHE B (JABRAE
RA%E) &6 -

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities had been
combined at the previous year end date or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter.

\«E?ﬁ’% 3@

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by those ZEERTHERAS —WEEHECR - a0 ER
entities. All intra-group transactions, balances and BB EENER S mﬁﬁ&XQ R HHAR
unrealised gains on transactions between combining entities BRWANE O 1 -

are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Business combinations — common control
combinations (Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting is recognised as an expense in the period
in which itis incurred.

(ii) Associates

150

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and post-acquisition movements in reserves of associates
is included in the Group’s profit or loss and consolidated
reserves respectively. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EESHBRAEE (&)
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (b) &GREE%E ()

(i) Associates (Continued) (i) B& L a (&)
The Group determines at each reporting date whether AEBRZMEAPEEHZE A 2KES
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the xﬁﬁfﬁz&t_ﬂgéﬁﬁﬁ MEZEZTER
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates & ORESEE AR E QR TR EFRIEEER
the amount of impairment as the difference between the HEZZEZRE  TREEWRERFPERSE
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value EE S A RIEE, BF| |ZHEIE

and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses/
profits of associates’ in the statement of comprehensive

income.

(c) Segment reporting (c) ZEHE
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent BN 2HANEIBE T EELE AR
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating BLZARBRE o TBLENREREE R
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who REETHAR  BEREEDBZERS
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing fe & SEAR AT o

performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

(d) Foreign currency translation (d) sNE&InE

(i) Functional and presentation currency (i) THEER 25& %
ltems included in the financial statements of each of $’EIR$\"%A¥ZH7TW§&%§WZ%_E§1E\
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of AR ACER Ei@EZEEﬁ%ﬁf&%@
the primary economic environment in which the entity TTZE\#}UW BEEY D E - GeligmEk
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated UARRAIZ e B % &7«1&%255@?%7\3}
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars TL(MHBTHE5 -

(“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB iR I A

2.

(&)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss, except when
deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on investments in equity instruments
classified as available for sale financial assets are included
in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated
in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security.

Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying
amount are recognised in equity.

(iii) Group companies

152

On consolidation, the balance sheet of subsidiaries and
associates denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
whilst the statement of comprehensive income is translated
at an average rate. The resulting translation differences
are included in the translation reserve. When any of these
subsidiaries or associates is sold, any translation differences
previously recognised in respect of such subsidiary or
associate are reclassified to the profit or loss.

2.
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(iii) 2 7]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EESHBRAEE (&)
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (d) SMEITE ()

(iii) Group companies (Continued) (iii) EF 2 7 (&)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the HEEIPEMEECHBRATFER
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and B OERZBINCEZBEENBERRE
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing WHRFRERITH o PIEEMNEXZFHN
rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognised Hith 2 E R o

in other comprehensive income.

(e) Revenue recognition (e) WEEFER
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration W BEAEE R R EBRAERREEEM
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in KR 2 e IR E 2 AFE °

the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the future W aR P AR R A A e 1R AT BE & it (Al AN SR B T
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when these BT s A SEMET R TER - BENT -

benefits can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) rental income, in the period in which the properties () BSUWARYIZETE 2 HifH RIZHEEH
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease NERETE
terms;

(i) asset management and investment advisory related (i) BERHZERBHRERERHEEEEER
services, based on the period in which such services are KEBREBERS &

rendered; and

(iii) corporate investment advisory related services, based on (i) BERHZEREHRERELERER
the period in which such services are rendered. B RE AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

(f)

154

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than assets in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers
from hedging reserve of any gains/losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant
and equipment. Assets in progress represents property,
plant and equipment under construction or instalment and is
not yet ready for use. They are transferred to the respective
category of property, plant and equipment when they are
ready for use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

- leasehold improvements  Shorter of remaining lease term
of 2 to 50 years or useful life

- buildings

— computer equipment
— office equipment

— office furniture

- vehicle

- others

100 years

3 to 4 years
3to 10 years
3to 10 years
3to 10 years
3to 10 years

2.

(f)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2.

(f)

(®

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

No depreciation/amortisation is provided for assets in
progress.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment
properties are measured initially at costs, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at fair values, with changes in fair
values recognised in the profit or loss. The methods used to
determine the fair values of the investment properties are
set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Subsequent expenditure on an investment property is
included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB iR I A

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(g

(h)

156

(%)

(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference
resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value
of this property at the date of transfer is recognised as a
movement in the asset revaluation reserve. Such movement

2. EESTHBRRBE (B

(8 BREM= ()

W—IEEMYEERLEREMARIREY
X HBEMEZIREEERBRER 2 AF
BZEZRERREESGLHREZES - 5F
HPHEIBREAER - AT HAFE
Was rl ESH B RERE - RIsZMas JI g

Il not be subsequently recycled to profit or loss. However, PR o
if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the
gain is recognised in the profit or loss.
Leases (h) #HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

(h)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

« amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

« the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each

period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

« anyinitial direct costs; and

« restoration costs.

2. EESTHBRRBE (B

(h) BE (&)

- AKERBEHERREENNOEE

- BEERENTEE (HAKESEETE
RATEEZEERE) © &

o R EHEMNIT (HEEHRRAE
BITEZEEEELEE)

AR R & FEREE HOEHIE BRI EN
FMEREREAET °

ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂf%gAMH?%u%ﬁ°
HEREZETZANE (WEREEFER
$%§ﬂf$)’%ﬁ%%ﬁAm%£%ﬁ
A - BVE R A AERLURR - H3 &
RIFEBLEEIRBETIE AR EEREE
EBENROZEEMBESMYASNRF

__'E_O

HENKDDEERNE REERA  FHFK

AREERARBENG - UREHEZE
ERIERERR - EE TR B2 EMFIE -

EREEELNATE - BT

- HEREWTILGTESE

- GEHERMIR AR AN EAES N
R OREME W E R

- EAVIIRERRAE &

. BERA -

RERTERERAT — S _FTFERE | 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

2.

(h)

(i)

158

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a
result of adopting the new leasing standard.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the carrying amount of the assets to
their recoverable amount.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

2.

)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: financial instruments measured at amortised
cost, financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments designated
at fair value. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. By the adoption of
HKFRS 9, management reassessed the classification of its
financial assets at 1 January 2018.

(i) Financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held to collect the contractual
cash flows and that contain contractual terms that give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest, such as most loans and advances
to third parties and some debt securities, are measured
at amortised cost. In addition, most financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying value of these
financial assets at initial recognition includes the directly
attributed transactions costs. If the initial fair value is lower
than the cash amount advanced, such as in the case of some
leveraged finance and syndicated lending activities, the
difference is deferred and recognised over the life of the loan
through the recognition of interest income, unless the loan
becomes impaired.

The Group may commit to underwriting loans on fixed
contractual terms for specified periods of time. When the
loan arising from the lending commitment is expected to be
held for trading, the commitment to lend is recorded as a
derivative. When the Group intends to hold the loan, the loan
commitment is included in the impairment calculations set
out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

2.

@)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets held for a business model that is achieved
by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows and
that contain contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at FVOCI. These comprise primarily
debt securities. They are recognised on the trade date when
the Group enters into contractual arrangements to purchase
and are normally derecognised when they are either sold or
redeemed. They are subsequently remeasured at fair value
and changes therein (except for those relating to impairment,
interest income and foreign currency exchange gains and
losses) are recognised in other comprehensive income until
the assets are sold. Upon disposal, the cumulative gains
or losses in other comprehensive income are recognised in
the income statement as “Gains less losses from financial
investments”. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are
included in the impairment calculations set out below and
impairment is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Equity securities measured at fair value with fair

160

value movement presented in OC/

The equity securities for which fair value movements are
shown in OCI are business facilitation and other similar
investments where the Group holds the investments other
than to generate a capital return. Gains or losses on the
derecognition of these equity securities are not transferred
to profit or loss. Otherwise equity securities are measured at
fair value through profit or loss (except for dividend income
which is recognised in profit or loss).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G50 BB R I RE (48)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(j) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Financial instruments designated at fair value

Financial instruments, other than those held for trading, are
classified in this category if they meet one or more of the
criteria set out below and are so designated irrevocably at
inception:

- the use of the designation removes or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch;

- when a group of financial assets and liabilities or a group
of financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on the fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy;
and

— where the financial liabilities contains one or more non-
closely related embedded derivatives.

Designated financial assets are recognised when the
Group enters into contracts with counterparties, which is
generally on trade date, and are normally derecognised
when the rights to the cash flows expire or are transferred.
Designated financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group enters into contracts with counterparties, which is
generally on settlement date, and are normally derecognised
when extinguished. Subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in the income statement in “Net income from

”

financial instruments measured at fair value
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

2.

)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(v) Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value
from the price of underlying item such as equities, interest
rates or other indices. Derivatives are recognised initially
and are subsequently measured at fair value. Derivatives
are classified as assets when their fair value is positive or
as liabilities when their fair value is negative. This includes
embedded derivatives in financial liabilities which are
bifurcated from the host contract when they meet the
definition of a derivative on a standalone basis.

(vi) Impairment of amortised cost and FVOCI financial

162

assets

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) are recognised for loans and
advances to customers and other financial assets held at
amortised cost. At initial recognition, allowance is required
for ECL resulting from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (or less, where the remaining life
is less than 12 months) (“12-month ECL”). In the event of a
significant increase in credit risk, allowance (or provision) is
required for ECL resulting from all possible default events
over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial
assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered to
be “stage 17; financial assets which are considered to have
experienced a significant increase in credit risk are in “stage
2”; and financial assets for which there is objective evidence
of impairment so are considered to be in default or otherwise
credit-impaired are in “stage 3”.

Measurement of ECL

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL,
are unbiased and probability-weighted, and incorporate all
available information which is relevant to the assessment
including information about past events, current conditions
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events
and economic conditions at the reporting date. In addition,
the estimation of ECL should take into account the time
value of money.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Share capital

0

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The par value of the
shares issued and fully paid is recognised in the share capital
account. Any excess of proceeds from a new issue of shares
(net of any incremental costs directly attributable to the new
issue) over the par value of the shares issued is recognised in
the share premium account.

Other payables

Other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
bligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Current and deferred income tax

164

Income tax expense is the aggregate amount included in
the determination of profit or loss for the year in respect of
current tax and deferred tax.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

2.

(n)

(0)

(a)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Shareholders, or directors, where appropriate.

Critical accounting estimates and judgement

Management are required to exercise significant estimates
and judgments, which are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, in the selection and
application of accounting principles.

Fair value of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties is performed in
accordance with the “Valuation Standards on Valuation
of Properties” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation is reviewed semi-annually by
qualified valuers by considering the information from a
variety of sources including but not limited to:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

3.

(a)

(b)

166

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties (Continued)

() comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market; and

(i) rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by
using valuation technique. Details of the judgement and
assumptions have been disclosed in Note 6.

Changes to the assumptions used in deriving the valuation
including the impacts of COVID-19 could have a significant
risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts
in the balance sheet. Please refer to Note 30(e) for details.

Impairment assessment of Property, plant and
equipment

As at 31 December 2020, buildings of the Group that was
owner-occupied had impairment indicators. There was
prolonged decline in commercial property prices under the
outbreak of COVID-19. In assessing the recoverability of
the buildings that had impairment indicator, management
of the Group identified the relevant cash generating units
("CGUSs") to which the buildings belong and estimated the
recoverable amounts of these CGUs based on the higher of
their FVLCOD and VIU calculation. Management used VIU to
assess the recoverability of the CGUs and applied significant
judgements including growth rates to estimate rental income
and cash flows within government land lease period and
discount rate in determining the VIU calculation. Fair value
less costs of disposal is estimated by management based
on their knowledge of subject assets. Management applied
significant judgement in determining the market values by
considering available information and information from an
independent third party valuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

3.

(c)

(d)

(e)

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The depreciation for future periods are adjusted if
there are material changes from previous estimates.

Investment in associate

The Group’s management applies critical judgements on
the classification of investment in an associate for the
acquisition and the subsequent shareholding restructuring
of an associate during the year. The judgement involves the
assessment of the financial and operating decisions of the
Group on the associate. For details please refer to Note 8.

Lease term and discount rate determination

In determining the lease term, the Group’s management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive and concluded not to exercise a
termination option. Periods after the expiration of the
termination options are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain not terminated. The assessment
is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to
exercise considerable judgement in relation to determining
the discount rate taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the
leases, at both the commencement date and the effective
date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 W B R W ek (1)

4,

168

Revenue and segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEQ”) of the Group, who reviews
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. The Company’s management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group has two reportable segments, namely property
investment and financial services segments, for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Property investment segment holds various retail,
commercial and industrial properties and car parking spaces
in Hong Kong. It derives revenue through leasing out its
properties.

Financial services segment mainly holds licences to carry
out Type 1 (dealing in securities) (restricted by certain
conditions), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO. It also derived interest
revenue from loan investment.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on profit or
loss after tax. The Group considers that the measurement
principles for profit or loss after tax are consistent with those
used in measuring the corresponding amounts in the Group’s
financial statements. Hence, profit or loss after tax is used
for reporting segment profit or loss.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies except that interest in the profit or loss of
associates is accounted for on the basis of dividend received
or receivable in segment profit or loss while such interest
is accounted for under the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different marketing strategies. Transactions (if any) between
reportable segments are accounted for on arm’s length
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued) 4. WK 2 ZP&E ¥ (&)

Revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 AEEHE_TTFRZF-NFT+=A
and 2019 consists of revenue from property investment and = +—HIEFEMKE &?E%%Txﬁ&i Al
financial services segments. The revenue for the years ended RS2 W - BEZT_TFER_FT—
31 December 2020 and 2019 were HK$130,239,000 and NF+ZA=+—RALEFEZRES B A
HK$168,345,000 respectively. 130,239,000/ 7T % 168,345,000/ 7T °
Substantially all the activities of the Group are based in AEBEREEFEEBAUEEREM - M
Hong Kong and below is segment information by reportable RIERIRE D MEI D 2 HEERHOT
segments:
(a) Reportable segment profit or loss (a) IHREDHER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—Z-EF+-A=+—HLFE
Property Financial
investment services Total
MERE SRR BEr
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T
Revenue from external customers MNREF 2 Wzk 104,102 26,137 130,239
(Loss)/profit for reportable RS (E18), BF
segments (237,832) 1,239 (236,593)
Net finance (cost)/income % (), WA F R (29,504) 97 (29,407)
Depreciation e (11,485) (322) (11,807)
Impairment of property, plantand #73 - #28 & & ERE
equipment (92,821) - (92,821)
Income tax expense FrS iRz (6,573) (1,247) (7,820)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_T-NFT+-A=T—HIFE
Property Financial
investment services Total
MERE T RARTE HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T
Revenue from external customers  JNRE P 2 Yz 120,884 47,461 168,345
Profit for reportable segments Al TR D 2R A A 200,174 6,893 207,067
Net finance cost BATE R AN R (38,602) (3,329) (41,931)
Depreciation e (9,406) (637) (10,043)
Income tax expense FRISHIF (6,256) (40) (6,296)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5B BB iR I RE ()

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss to
(loss)/profit for the year

4. Wmk o EEFR (F)

(b) IRESMERBELF (FE) B
AR

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Loss)/profit for reportable segments AJERE DB (E18), BF (236,593) 207,067
Reconciling items: HERIAR -
Share of profits of associates under equity IR IEE TS & 514 FE(HEEZ A A)
method of accounting a7 57,578 427,393
Finance cost for the acquisition of an WiiE — KB A R SRS
associate (Note) (H1a%) (131,600) (131,240)
Other corporate and treasury activities ~ EAh(b¥REXEE) (8,965) (16,269)
(Loss)/profit for the year 2F (E18) &F| (319,580) 486,951

Note: The finance cost of HK$131,600,000 (2019: HK$131,240,000)
is not allocated to the above reportable segments as this
finance cost was incurred for the acquisition of an associate.
Please refer to Notes 8 and 14 for details.
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BI5E 131,600,000/ (ZF—14F 131,240,000
PEID) Z TSI AR DR E A EAJ R E D E
DRIV A D =Nl G- e X /NS ]
EAE o FHIEB2HMES R4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

5. Property, plant and equipment

5. ¥% - BBERRE

Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment  equipment furniture  improvement  Buildings Vehicle Total
BEmE
ElRE BOAERE  BOAERE ¥EIR ¥ BH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETn  ABTn B¥Tr  B¥Tn BT BETx
Net book value at WZE-Z4-f-H
1 January 2020 Zﬁﬁﬁ/ﬂ 8 1,132 659 3918 625,552 538 631,807
Additions RE - - - 293 - - 293
Impairment (Note @) JRfE (Hiit(a) - (63) - - (92,821) - (92,884)
Depreciation e (6) (244) (1) (649) (6,298) (143) (7,451)
Net book value at N-E-Z&£+_AH
31 December 2020 =t-AZEEFE 2 825 548 3,562 526,433 395 531,765
At 31 December 2020 R-E-TEL+
=1+-A
Cost AR 2,139 2,402 1,105 5327 629,750 77 641,440
Accumulated ZRNER
depreciation and HEEE
impairment losses (2,137) (1,577) (557) (1,765)  (103,317) (322)  (109,675)
Net book value at RN-E-ZEF+-8
31 December 2020 S+-AZEREFE 2 825 548 3,562 526,433 395 531,765
Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment equipment furniture  improvement  Buildings Vehicle Total
EhSE  WOERE  BAERE ¥EIR BT B a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB ARt ABTE BETT ARt BT B%TR
Net book value at R=Z—-NE—A—H
1 January 2019 LEEFE 11 944 628 1,809 = 681 4,073
Additions NE 2 494 149 3,737 = 4,382
Reclassification (Vote (b)) E5H % (M) - - - - 629,750 - 629,750
Depreciation ik= (5) (306) (118) (1,628) (4,198) (143) (6,398)
Net book value at R-ZE-NE+-A
31 December 2019 e = 8 1,132 659 3918 625552 538 631,807
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NE+-A
=+-8
Cost KA 2,139 2,462 1,105 8,638 629,750 717 044,711
Accumulated ZRIFER
depreciation and SRR
impairment losses (2,131) (1,330) (446) (4,620) (4,198) (179) (12,904)
Net book value at R-ZE-h&E+=R
31 December 2019 =t—HAZ&AHE 8 1,132 659 3918 625552 538 631,807
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

5. ¥I% - HERRE(R)

Notes: (a) The impairment loss is related to the portions of 20th Floor ~ MizE : (a) JREBEEEBRFEITHL20EK211E
and 21st Floor of Bank of America Tower together with a ZEMPER—EFEESEMR T F
car parking space of which the fair value being less than FH+ZA=+—RZATELREEE
the carrying value as at 31 December 2020. The cost of the T o W) BT B 2 B R U Bl KA
premise was written down to its recoverable amount of 537,750,000 + JHiREWZHE A TER
HK$537,750,000, which was determined by referencing to BERAEE (ZRIFEERRSO
the premise’s fair value less costs of disposal (taking into 2) - RAZEEMEEEAET TR
consideration the impact of COVID-19). The main valuation BILEI8B TR 2. 75% N E AR (L H &
inputs used were a market value of HK$97 — HK$98 psf ThE B BEGERETE - B HEM
and capitalisation rate of 2.75% as determined by an ERMFEARABER LT EBMER=T
independent professional valuer. Income Capitalisation ZEFF A=+ —HBERZZE-NAFT
approach was adopted by the independent professional A=+ —AMEEETHE - 232
valuer for valuing the premise as at 31 December 2020 and HERBE-_ZT-_ZF+-_HA=+—H
31 December 2019. The whole amount was recognised in IFFE e 2 ER R AR o
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

(b) On 1 May 2019, portions of 20th Floor and 21st Floor of b) R=ZF—hFRA—HB ' ERHETHL
Bank of America Tower together with a car parking space 208 2118 2 #MniE R —(E{FEi5E AL
were reclassified from investment properties to property, BREMERETDEEME  #ER
plant and equipment as the owner occupies such portion of BB HRREFHAZEVEER
the properties as the Group’s head office. For details, please BMPERASE 2 BMERE - BAE
refer to Note 6 and the circular of the Company dated 4 April FELHEWE AR ARRIBE AT —N,
2019. 0 AP0 B AR o
6. Investment properties 6. REWZE
2020 2019
—ERIEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 January n—A—H 3,351,200 3,791,800
Reclassification to property, plant and BB EYE SR
equipment (Note (a)) &t (Hiata)) - (629,750)

Capitalised expenses BEARbRX 2,876 19,958

Fair value (loss)/gain AHE (B18), ek (170,576) 169,192

At 31 December Wt+—_A=+—H 3,183,500 3,351,200

Notes:
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(a)

On 8 March 2019, both of Sunny Bright Development
Limited and Sunny Success Development Limited,
being wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, which
hold certain office units and car parking spaces of the
Bank of America Tower as investment properties, had
received letters of offer from Great Wall International,
an intermediate holding company, which offered to rent
portion of the above premises from 1 May 2019 to 31
December 2021. The remaining portion of the premises are
used as owner-occupied properties starting from 1 May
2019 and are thus reclassified from investment properties
to property, plant and equipment.

]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

6. REWE(E)

6. Investment properties (Continued)

AEBREYEEHBYEXEEMS

(b) The Group’s investment properties were valued by an (b)

independent professional valuer, Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited (2019: Cushman &
Wakefield Limited and Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited) to determine their fair values as at 31
December 2020. The Group has adopted such valuation
and recognised a fair value loss of HK$170,576,000 (31
December 2019: fair value gain of HK$169,192,000)
accordingly. The principal assumptions underlying
management’s estimation of fair values of the investment
properties and the basis of valuation are consistent with
those applied in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, except for the rental
rates and capitalisation rates. Rental rates are estimated
based on recent lettings of HK$32.2 psf* to HK$55.0
psf for retail shops (31 December 2019: HK$55.0 psf to
HK$85.0 psf*), HK$32.2 psf* to HK$98.0 psf for office
buildings (31 December 2019: HK$30.7 psf* to HK$100.5
psf), HK$10.0 psf to HK$29.7 psf for industrial properties
(31 December 2019: HK$13.3 psf to HK$31.0 psf) and
HK$3,326.0 per car parking space (31 December 2019:
HK$3,326.0 per car parking space). With other variable(s)
held constant, the lower the rents, the lower the fair value.
At 31 December 2020, capitalisation rates of 2.75% to
3.90% (at 31 December 2019: 2.50% to 3.75%) are used
in the income capitalisation approach for retail shops,
office buildings, industrial properties and car parking
spaces. With other variable(s) held constant, the higher the
rates, the lower the fair value. The investment properties
have been measured at fair value as at 31 December
2020, by the level 3 (31 December 2019: level 3) in the
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value treatment
is categorised. There is no transfer between levels of the
fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of the
investment properties during the period.

RBRDZERERAE T _TFERS |

—ATFREREEREEEEERA
A(ZZE—NF : AERTERAAR
F-ATHEMGEREEBEEGRA
A NEEZEMER_ZT=Z
F+_A=+—HZAFE - AEEE
FANERAEE - WARERER A T EEE
170,576,000 T (ZFE—hE+=A
=+—H : AFEKZE169,192,000%8
TT) ° BEREERRNMEIIREMELTEZ
FEBRERGEEEEEBE_T—NF
+-A=t+—RAULEFEZHEETBHRE
FrlEmE—5%  BRESLERERNL
TN o S EIRBTEEGFELR
32 2B *EFFHRE5.08 L (ZF—
hE+=—A=1+—8 : EFAHR55.0/8
TTEFFHRE5.0ETr) « WAKES
FHR32.2B*E2FFHFRI8.0E T
(ZZ—NF+=—A=1+—8: 5FFR
30.7BL*EFFAHKR100.58T) « TE
FEFRI10.0BILEFFHFR29.787T
(Z2—F+=A=+—8: 8F¥5FR
13.3B L E2EFF HR31.0%T) R EEF
BHI5H3,326. 08 L (ZE—NF+=
A=+—8 : §E{FE15%13,326.0%
TO) T ERFR S B - FEEMEHHE T
F2ERT - ASHEIE  AFELB
K -RZZTZTF+-_A=+—8 &
BWAER T EHENTEE « A
AE - TEREBGBEMNFER2.75%E
390N (R=F—nF+=—A=1+—8:
2.50%ZE3.75% ) KIE AL EE R o fmE Al
BHEHIE  AlEREE 0 AFED
MK - ZEREWEER T _TF+
ZA=+—BRATEEEZEIRAT
BiE2(CE—NF+=ZA=+—H: %
3#%) - MATEEILHEE - BiRBEmET
EREVFELNTEMANATAEREN
DEREEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. REYE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2020, direct operating HE-_ZT-_ZTF+-_A=1+—HIEFE ' £
expenses of HK$20,917,000 (2019: HK$22,781,000) arising ’iﬁﬂﬁ( s REHIBRBEEHSRAZKRE
from investment properties that generated rental income YIS B BERKE LM< 20,917,000/ T
and no direct operating expense arising from investment (ZZ—NHF :22,781,00087T) * REATE
properties that did not generate rental income (2019: GFHBWMAZIREDEG B N EELEH
Nil), were charged to the consolidated statement of X(ZE—hF: &) -
comprehensive income.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total future minimum NZE_TFF+A=+—R ' *5ERE
rental receivables under non-cancelable operating leases for HIREME 2 TAIRHK S E 2 AR
its investment properties are as follows: MERBRIBATENT -
2020 2019
b 523 —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Not later than one year TBBE—F 62,487 62,586
Later than one year but not later than im—FETHRARF
five years 86,837 90,907
Over five years FBiR T 8,823 16,776
158,147 170,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G50 BB R I RE (48)

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. REYE (&)
Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at RZZEZEFR=_FT—NF+=-A=1+—H
31 December 2020 and 2019: REBFFHETEMERFS -

Property Type Lease term

LES Rl A

() 20th and 21st Floors and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 21, 22 and  Offices and car parking Long
23 on 4th Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, spaces

(iii)

Central, Hong Kong
FEPIRERE12REBRRITPO20 0218 K48 221 - 22
K 235/ IF BRI BT

Ground and 1st Floors, Block B, Ko Fai Industrial Building, 7
Ko Fai Road, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERNEERESRE7 B I EANEBAEN N 11E

The lobby on G/F and the front (or southern) portions of
the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors including the staircase therein
leading up to the 3rd Floor and the lift therein serving the
1st and 2nd Floors only and portion of the canopy on the 1st
Floor level, Yue King Building, 26, 26A, 27, 28, 29 & 30 Canal
Road West, 1-7 Leighton Road and 41-47 Morrison Hill Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

EREBFERLEFE26 - 26A ~ 27 ~ 28+ 29 X305 - 12IHE"
E7TRNMEERINBIEATREMREM TAERT - 28382
RiIES (km&B) (BIE@m3 e MRS 1 218 2 FHietk) -
AR 18R F&E

8th Floor of Block C, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, North
Point, Hong Kong
BRIt AREEESHFSAECRESE

Kwai Fong Plaza, Kwai Fong Estate, 177 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

BRI AR IR 77 R E S BT ES

Note (a): Kwai Fong Plaza was under renovation which the fresh

market was converted to retail shops and the renovation was
completed in 2019.

WAEREESBEN  KH

Industrial building Medium
IE R ]

Office and retail shop ~ Medium

MRAERTER i
Industrial building Medium
I=  H

Retail shops and car Medium
parking spaces
(Note (a))

TEERERSEL BB
(K15t (@)

ffit(a) s EFEHEETERE  BEETENIERT

B BCEERZZT—NFET -

REBRTEZERERAR T _TFERE
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6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. REYE (&)
Investment properties comprise: REMZEBIE
2020 2019
—_ 7 —% qE —j‘l_,ﬂi
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Long term leasehold (not less than 50 years) RHIFRL (RLRA+F) 532,500 600,000
Medium term leasehold (less than 50 years  FEIFRL) (DR A+FE

but not less than 10 years) POR+E) 2,651,000 2,751,200
3,183,500 3,351,200

Fair value measurements using significant FEHEATITBEGASENAFES

unobservable inputs (7
Retail shops
and car Office Industrial

parking spaces buildings properties Total

BEER
FEBEN WAKE 1E EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2019 RZE-—NnF—A—H 1,680,000 1,766,000 345,800 3,791,800

Reclassification to property, plantand B DEENE - B RRE

equipment (Note 5) (#7:25) - (629,750) - (629,750)
Capitalised expenses BARMERS 19,908 - 50 19,958
Fair value gain - unrealised ATERE-RER 132,092 13,750 23,350 169,192
At 31 December 2019 ‘\:ﬁ—ﬂiﬂ‘:ﬂ =1—H 1,832,000 1,150,000 369,200 3,351,200
At 1 January 2020 “E-F4—-H-H 1,832,000 1,150,000 369,200 3,351,200
Capitalised expenses ﬁN 953 2,733 - 143 2,876
Fair value gain/(loss) - unrealised ? B/ (B18) - RER 5,267 (149,500) (26,343) (170,576)
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-TFT-A=1—H 1,840,000 1,000,500 343,000 3,183,500
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6. IREWX ()

6. Investment properties (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued by
independent professionally qualified valuer Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited at 31 December 2020
(2019: Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited
and Cushman & Wakefield Limited, who hold a recognised
relevant professional qualification and has recent experience
in the locations and segments of the investment properties
valued. For all investment properties, their current valuations
are based on the highest and best use. The Group’s finance
department includes a team that review the valuations
performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting
purposes. The revaluation gains or losses are shown as
“Fair value gain or loss on investment properties” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

At each financial year end the finance department:

« verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

« assesses property valuation movements when compared
to the prior year valuation report;

» holds discussions with the independent valuer.
Valuation techniques

Fair values of the retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces are derived using the
income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation
approach is based on the capitalisation of the net income
and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate
capitalisation rates, which are derived from actual location,
size and quality of the properties and taking into account
market data at the valuation date. The prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuation have reference to the actual
location, type and quality of the properties and supported by
the terms of any existing lease, other contracts or external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties.

REFENGERRE

AREEBZREMEN T _TF+_A=1
—HBBYEXSERMGEMSE - N FE#
HEEREXERARAR (ZE—NF:

F-RFRHNHELREXEREGRARK
HRRTARRAR) (AFARANEEER
Bif - AROBEEENREME Z I

MEFAETHRE)EHMGE - BAIMERE
MEZGHEDERZEBRRERZRED °
ZA SE ol kSR EIE il =cE - AvA
BRI ISR E BN EERS - Bt
B ERER %EH&Z RN REMERF
B ke 18 1518

REEMBRERER - BIR5ERFT

- REBYGHERSENMEEIEZH AZK
(ERS

C EEMRER E— FE A ERE
& ;

- BEBFVHEMEFRNRE o
BT %

TEE  PAKE IEREEBEMHNA
FEFERARSENMOEHE - ResBEAEE
DERRAEE 2 B BB AFER
BEEHGBATUERMEMGEH - MEAME
HETDIIBREMENERMNE - REREET
EEMGERZMISEETE - J‘EM&@‘:F'ET{%W
MERTMSHESERBEMENERLLE
ARESET - WAEARAHEOGR -
ftb & KIS IME BRI LI %A B ﬁﬁﬁ%‘fﬁ
BYEXFF ©
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6.

178

Investment properties (Continued)
Valuation techniques (Continued)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during
the year.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value

Capitalisation rates are estimated by management, after
consultation with valuers based on the risk profile of the
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower
the fair value. At 31 December 2020, capitalisation rates
of 2.75% to 3.90% (2019: 2.50% to 3.75%) are used in the
income capitalisation approach for the retail shops, office
buildings, industrial properties and car parking spaces.
(2019: retail shops, office buildings, industrial properties and
car parking spaces)

Rental rates are estimated based on recent lettings of
HK$32.2 psf to HK$55.0 psf* (2019: HK$55.0 psf to HK$85.0
psf*) for retail shops, HK$32.2 psf to HK$98.0 psf (2019:
HK$30.7 psf to HK$100.5 psf) for office buildings, HK$10.0
psf to HK$29.7 psf (2019: HK$13.3 psf to HK$31.0 psf)
for industrial properties and HK$3,326 per space (2019:
HK$3,326 per space) for car parking spaces respectively. The
lower the rents, the lower the fair value.

*  Yue King Building consists of retail shop and office buildings.
Retail shop portion and office buildings portion as at 31
December 2019 was valued separately and rental rates of
HK$85.0 psf and HK$30.7 psf were adopted respectively
(“individual method”) by Cushman & Wakefield Limited. As at
31 December 2020, fair valuation of the retail shop portion
and office building portion were measured under a combined
method and a single rate of HK$32.2 psf was adopted
(‘combined method”) by Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited. The fair values of Yue King Building as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2020 were HK$550 million
and HK$468 million respectively. Management considered the
change from individual method to combined method did not
have material impact to the fair valuation of the properties.
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G0 MR ok W aE (1)

7. Interests in subsidiaries

Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to

the financial statements.

8. Investmentin associates

7. NEAR 2R

8. RBE QTR ZIRE

TEMBARZFBENMBFRERMES ©

2020 2019

—B-EF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

At 1 January n—HA—H 3,811,900 3,405,706
Share of profits of associates FE(RES R A & F 57,578 427,393
Dividend from an associate RE—KEE QRIS - (7,474)
Repayment of loan from an associate RE—REE N RNEREER - (13,725)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,869,478 3,811,900

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balances included
investment in Everwell City Limited (“Everwell City”) and —H %
Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited (“Dymocks”).
Everwell City holds commercial properties and shopping
centers, plazas and carparks while Dymocks operated as a

bookshop.

Summarised financial information for the principal

associate

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
Everwell City as at 31 December 2020, which is accounted
for using the equity method. In the opinion of the Directors,

HE_Z-ZFLR-_FT-NF+ A=+
2B IR Everwell City Limited
([Everwell City]) & Dymocks Franchise
Systems (China) Limited([ Dymocks|)Z
& ° Everwell City A RIEMENU KB+

D~ BB RIEEE - fiDymocks AItEAE L

=t HZUBERRE

FEHMEQNR M BERME

X &5 Everwell CityR—ZE=_ZFF+—H
C BT AR A A
Bk - EERA © Everwell City i AEBM S

Everwell City is material to the Group. BEKX -

Summarised balance sheet BEESEXHE
2020 2019
—EE —hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEETIT
Non-current assets IEMENE 26,401,304 25,865,417
Current assets mBNEE 363,290 275,969
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (23,872,628)  (23,548,603)
Current liabilities nBaE (370,431) (261,096)
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8. Investment in associates (Continued) 8. REEENT2IRE (&)
Summarised financial information for the principal EEAERYE (&)
associate (Continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2EK = EBE
2020 2019
—EB-EF “T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue Weas 912,329 921,816
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year  2F & &2 U A L2 EE 158,656 1,165,605
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BB BRI ES R
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Net profit attributable to equity holders EERERA AZFET 158,656 1,186,498
Group's shareholdings LB 7 fHE 35.78% 35.78%
Group’s share of net profit attributable to equity REEREEENER
holders (Note (i) BB AZ TR
(H1aE()) 56,767 424,529
2020 2019
—BF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T PEEET T
Amounts due from associates JE LB & N B I8 161 65
The balances represent the amounts due from Dymocks and R B EWDymocks R A EHEIER A RN
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its immediate holding company. They are unsecured and
interest-free.

Note:

(i)  The effective share of profits of the Group from each underlying
Hong Kong subsidiary of Everwell City remains at approximately
29.9%.
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G50 BB R I RE (48)

9. Financial asset at fair value through profit or 9. EAFEFABENEREE

loss
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment in fund, unlisted in the PRC FREFE ETES Z28E - 1,116
The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning TRINEAFERETUEIRATETE
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in FUREBREFREHRIVEER -
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Opening balance FHEEER 1,116 1,147
Exchange difference PE 3 =% 154 (25)
Disposal ank== (1,270) =
Closing balance FAREH - 1,116
Changes in unrealised loss for level 3 RZZE_TFER_T-HNF
investment as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 +=—A=+—H&
EIRITERER
EEE - (25)
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9. Financial asset at fair value through profit or

loss (Continued)

The above investment has been measured at fair value as at
31 December 2019, and is classified under level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.

9. BAFEFABEENERMEE (&)

EREER-E A= A=t—BE
ATEHE @ AHFALTEEETHR
ATEHE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1) F28K FEIK #st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  A%Tr  B¥TrT AT
Financial asset at fair value through ~ EAF{EF ARG
profit or loss NEMEE
Investment in an investment fund RIEEES2IRE - - 1,116 1,116

182

There was no transfer between levels during the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

The financial asset at fair value through profit or loss under
level 3 fair value measurement represents the investment in
limited partnership which is owned by Shen Zhen Great Wall
Pan Asia International Equity Investment Fund Management
Company* (FIIRMRTHBEREREZSCERERA
Al), a limited liability company registered in the PRC and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is not traded
in the active market. As at 31 December 2019, the Directors
determined that the carrying value of the investment
based on discounted expected proceed from exercising the
redemption option represents fair value at the end of the
reporting period for the investment in limited partnership. As
at 31 December 2019, the Group contributed RMB1,000,000
to the limited partnership which represents 0.03% of the
equity interest on the limited partnership. In August 2020,
the investment was matured and fully exited and the
realised gains of HK$267,000 has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The above investment has been measured at fair value as at
31 December 2019, by the Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value treatment was categorised. For
details, please refer to Note 30(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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10. Right-of-use assets 10.EFREEE

The following represents the Group’s right-of-use assets and N TAEFAREEFREEENZE -
the movement during the year.

2020 2019

—=F —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Balance as at 1 January R—A—RB#&& 21,986 37,148
Depreciation (Note (a)) & (Hiit@) (5,073) (15,162)
Balance as at 31 December RNt A=1+—B%&&% 16,913 21,986
The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended 31 N-EBE_TF+_A=+—HItFE - #HE
December 2020 was HK$5,416,000 (2019: HK$13,198,000). HERE A% 455,416,000 T (ZE— N1

£F :13,198,000/7T) °

Note (a): The provision for dismantling costs of HK$2,280,000 was Mz : 2 =—ZEZ—hEFE+-_A=+—HIE
discharged at HK$1,710,000 during the year ended 31 E - REHEBEE 2,280,000/ LB A
December 2019. As such, the over-provision of HK$646,000 1,710,000/8 CfERR - AL HEZT
was reversed by netting off the depreciation charges in NE+_A=1+—RHItFE ' BFERE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 646,000/ T2 B BINRGES 2 EEEER
year ended 31 December 2019. R EE M B E o

11. Accounts receivable 11. R FRIE
An ageing analysis of accounts receivable as at the end of HEMSHR - EBRFIEZRERITAT

the reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019

—BCEF —E-NEF
Balance Percentage Balance  Percentage
o2 Aol FEER Bt
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
BETT % BT %
Current BNES 2,605 59.7 2,227 59.5
Less than 30 days pastdue HAILHR=1+H 1,578 36.2 918 24.6
31 to 60 days past due BE=+—RHZ=/"1H 117 2.7 319 8.5
61 to 90 days past due BEIN+—RZENTH 1 0.1 200 5.4
Over 90 days past due BEAZ RN B 59 1.3 76 2.0
Total 5T 4,360 100.0 3,740 100.0
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G5B BB iR I RE ()

11. Accounts receivable (Continued)

Below is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable that are

past due as at the reporting date but not impaired:

AT RREE B aRERDREBEZE
WOsRIE 2 Bt D AT

2020 2019

—BoEF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

Less than 30 days past due BEROR=1H 1,578 918

31 to 60 days past due BE=+—RHZ=/"1H 117 319

61 to 90 days past due sENt+—RAZEA+TA 1 200

Over 90 days past due BEAZ RN 59 76
Total accounts receivable past due but 2 EHIE R IR A 2 FE U IE 25

not impaired 1,755 1,513

Accounts receivable past due but not impaired represent
balances that the Group considered to be fully recoverable
based on past experience. For the credit risk management of
the accounts receivable, please refer to Note 30(d).

The movements in the allowance for impairment during the
year are as follows:

EEMERHRREZ B FIREREEIR
EAERRR R AR E 2 &k - BRIE
WA EERRER - F2HMFE30(d) °

AEE - RERBZESBERAT

2020 2019

—EF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 January m—H—H - =
Impairment provision made EAELRIERE 41 -
Accounts written off as uncollectible AUk @l i HYBR B (41) =
At 31 December R+=—H=+—~H - =

For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to
Note 30(d).

12. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

184

As at 31 December 2020, the balance represents mainly the
utility and management fee deposits of HK$3,697,000 (as at
31 December 2019: HK$3,625,000) and rent-free receivables
of HK$5,345,000 (as at 31 December 2019: HK$5,452,000).
There is no rental deposits as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31
December 2019: HK$5,106,000).

For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to
Note 30(d).
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30(d) °
12.BHE8A - H o FE R

R_E-_TF+_A=+—H #HETEA
KEREREES3,697, OOO/%E(F4$
—hF+=-A=+—H :3,625,000&7T) &
M EUWFRIES,345,000/8 7 (R=ZE—N
F+—-A=+—H :5,452,000/87T) - A=
T_TF+_A=+—8 #EASES
(R=F—h&F+=-A=+—H :5,106,000
PEIT) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

13. Deferred income tax 13 BB
Deferred income tax liabilities are calculated in full on REMSHEBERAEEELANEREREES
temporary differences under the liability method. HEE -
2020 2019
—ECEHF —T—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Deferred income tax TRIEFTISL 6,975 3,610
The movement on the deferred income tax liabilities account FRIEFTIST B ER 2 ST -
is as follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE—NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT TT
At 1 January n—H—H 3,610 1,913
Charged to (loss)/profit for the year RNFE A (E18), BRI 3,365 1,697
At 31 December R+=—H=+—~” 6,975 3,610
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities and assets RS AEREE CREHR R —H%
(prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation AUEMER Z R RNEANZZEAT ¢
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:
Accelerated tax
depreciation Total
IEBEITE et
2020 2019 2020 2019

—E-®F —T-NF —B-BF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BMTL  BETT  BMTR BETR

At 1 January W—A—H 3,610 1,913 3,610 1,913
Charged to (loss)/profit for

the year ANEE B (EE) BRI 3,365 1,697 3,365 1,697
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 6,975 3,610 6,975 3,610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB iR I A

13. Deferred income tax (Continued)

(%)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carried forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$31,323,000
(2019: HK$25,537,000) to carry forward against future
taxable income and the expiry dates of these tax losses are
shown as follows:

13 ELEFEH (8)

188 BAAE 2 BiIEE 1B R 2 TIBFE 1R A]
ﬁEQiﬁL*XFEn%fREﬂ“ﬁIEHT EIEFT
SMEENSWER - NEB R AEAER
RRERTBMARIE 2 R ERRIBEER
31,323,000 (ZZE— N4 : 25,537,000
PETT) ReZETIEEE 2 JEwm B BT

2020 2019
—EF —NhE&F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

After the fifth year FRF® 31,323 25,537
31,323 25,537

14. Loan from an intermediate holding company

186

The Group has not recognised such tax losses and deferred
tax assets of HK$5,168,000 (2019: HK$4,214,000) as the
realisation of the related tax benefit is not probable.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, an intermediate
holding company, Great Wall International, agreed to
provide loan facilities up to HK$4,130,000,000 for financing
the Group’s investment in an associate as described in
Note 8. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has drawn
down HK$3,848,434,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
HK$3,848,434,000). The loan from Great Wall International
is denominated in HK$, interest bearing at Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.9% per annum and is
repayable by November 2022.
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AREB W AR BERIEEEMEERIAE
5,168,000 7T (ZZE— L4 : 4,214,000/%8
70) * IR KA RE B IR B AR T & F o

14.REFEZER AT ZER

WKtEESET  MBE—_T—tF+ A=
+-EU£¢EW R BIRR (— K E R

&) R ERETHi1E4,130,000,0007 T
ffkrﬂﬁ INAREEIRER —KEE AR
REES -WN_TE_TF+-_A=1+—8"
ANEB P 1REN3,848,434,000/8 L (R=-F
—NEFE+-HA=+—H :3,848,434,000/%
ﬁ)oxéﬁiﬂzlrﬂ’ =t LA/%TE;HE i
I BB BRITRZEREFEM.9% - WA
E\_EZZE‘T’ HEI28(ERZR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

14.REPEZERDBZER (&)

14. Loan from an intermediate holding company
(Continued)

RBEEZE-ZFT-\FT_A=+—HL*F
EAR  RUBERE-FEERHETEBER

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Great Wall
International further agreed to provide loan facilities up to

US$8,557,300 (equivalent to approximately HK$66,576,000).
As at 31 December 2018, the Group has drawn down
US$8,557,300 which is equivalent to approximately
HK$66,576,000. The loan is denominated in US$, interest
bearing at 3.5% per annum and is repayable by February
2026. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the loan of
US$8,557,300 (equivalent to HK$66,576,000) was fully repaid
by the Group to Great Wall International.

The Directors of the Company consider the loans are on

8,557,300 7t (1HE 1 4966,576,00087T)
MER@BE R-_E—NF+=-_A=+—
B AEBEDIRIS, 557,300k (KBS
7 #4766,576, 0005%7_5) =3 %A%‘zéﬂa
FREE35%  WER-ZE_NF=AH
2HEE BE_T—NF+=ZA=1+—
HIEFE % E38,557,300% T (HHER
66,576,000 7T) E A EERRBER 2
HEE o

RRRBERRZEEF TR —REEIGK

RN B REEREA N HERE ©

normal commercial terms. The carrying values of the loans
approximate their fair values.

15. Bank Borrowing 15.8R1TEE
2020 2019
—EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T R T
Non-current FEBNER
Bank loan (Note (a)) TERHiE@E) - 897,285
Current E]] g,q
Bank loan (Note (a)) TER (K15t () 901,032 -
901,032 897,285
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

15. Bank Borrowing (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The loan is denominated in HK$ and repayable by February

()

2021. The effective interest rate of the loan for the year ended
31 December 2020 is 2.84 % (for the year ended 31 December
2019: 3.74%). As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group
has undrawn bank facility of approximately HK$35,000,000. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group has pledged an investment
property of fair value of HK$1,840,000,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$1,832,000,000) and a restricted cash of HK$6,226,000 (31
December 2019: HK$10,226,000) to the lender, as a collateral
of bank loan.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
drawn down an US$ loan of US$6,400,000 which is equivalent
to HK$49,792,000 and the loan was repayable on 1 February
2019. On 1 February 2019, the Group and the bank entered into
a supplemental letter to extend the term of the loan facility to 1
February 2020. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group fully repaid the loan. The effective interest rate of the
loan for the year ended 31 December 2019 was 3.70%. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, the Group has undrawn bank facility
of HK$50,000,000.

Apart from the undrawn bank facilities mentioned in (a) and (b),
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has an undrawn
bank facility of principal amount of HK$400,000,000.

15.8B1TEE (&)

B

(a)

BB T EYER S =—F A2
HEE HE_T-_TF+_HF=+—HIt
FEERZEBNEL2.84%(HE-_T—N
FH+ZA=+—HIEFE :3.74%) - R=ZT
—EERZE-NFT+_A=F+—H K&
B 2 RIZEERT TR & 49/%35,000,000/8 7T ©
R-Z-_TF+_-_A=+—8  A&EEE M
ERAEIRAF(EA1,840,000,00058 7T (=
T—NF+=ZA=+—H :1,832,000,000/%
T0) 2B W3 5 6,226,000/ 7T 2 R HI3R
& (ZZE—NAFE+=-A=+—H :10,226,000
PBIT) - AERIRITE R Z R o

REBE-_Z—N\E+-_F=+—HItEE
A - ANEEERE—IEEITE6,400,0003
7T (EE#RZ1449,792,000/87T) B2 ERAER
—E-NF_A—HEZ2HEE R=_Z—
NFEZA—HB » AEEEZIRITEI L —TEM
TR ERRENEEERERE_S=
TFE_A—H REBEE_ZT-NF+=A=
T—HIEFERN AEBE2EEEENR
HEZZ-NF+A=+—HILFEEXR
ZEBEMEREITION R_E_TEHR_-F
—NE+ZA=+—H  AEEZKRIER
1TRE 550,000,00078 7T °

B _E it (2) T8 & (b) B Z RIRERSRT TR E SN - A
—ETFR-T-NF+ZA=1+—R
REEE B R4 58400,000,00078 7T 2 AR IZEUER
TTRLE o

The carrying amount of bank borrowing approximates the fair RITEEC REABEEEATERE - AT
value, and is denominated in the following currency: P EEEHE -
2020 2019
—EBCEF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T R IT
HK$ BT 901,032 897,285
901,032 897,285
188 | GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G50 BB R I RE (48)

16. Other payables and accrued liabilities

16. Attt BN RIEREFEE

2020 2019
—BF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Interest payable FERTF S 386,938 256,210
Deposits received from tenants WP S 19,042 18,608
Other payables and accrued expenses  E-th fE{ F/IA N fEZT 2 A 12,953 17,974
Rental received in advance JEE e 3,106 3,317
Others Hith 1,157 1,167
423,196 297,276
Represented by: 255 :
Non-current portion SEmENER D 386,149 254,549
Current portion BN ER{D 37,047 42,727
423,196 297,276
17. Lease liabilities 17.50E88
The following represents the Group’s lease liabilities and the UTREANREEHERENED :
movement during the year.
2020 2019
—EBCEF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Balance as at 1 January R—HA—B#&s 22,664 34,868
Interest expenses MEXH 704 994
Lease payment HERH (5,416) (13,198)
Balance as at 31 December W+ZA=+— 17,952 22,664
Represented by: 255 -
Non-current portion JEmENER D 12,994 17,952
Current portion mENER S 4,958 4,712
17,952 22,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5B BB iR I RE ()

18. Share capital 18. [ 7%
2020 2019
—ECEF “E-NF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
& KXl R Gix-c!
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BFREE.108 T2 EEk 5,000,000,000 500,000  5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BREITRARE
Opening and ending balance B R IR A5 1,567,745,596 156,775  1,567,745,596 156,775
19. Reserves 19.7#%E
(a) Group (@) =&H

Movements of the Group’s reserves for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity on page 143.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess
of the nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in

exchange therefor during the Group reorganisation in 1990, B o

less dividend distributions.

190 |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

19. Reserves (Continued) 19.17%4% (&)
(a) Group (Continued) (a) &=&EH (&)
The Group’s other reserves consist of the following NEE A A E B IE LA N AERCERD -
components:
Asset
revaluation Translation
reserve reserve Total
EESM
& B R e st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T
Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZZE-NF—-—A—B&#HK 334,065 91) 333,974
Other comprehensive loss Hib2HEEE
Currency translation difference on 4 RBERELE ZIEN =5
consolidation - (373) (373)
Total comprehensive loss T HEERRE - (373) (373)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 R_ZT—hF+_A=+—HB#&&% 334,065 (464) 333,601
Balance as at 1 January 2020 R-E2E-_TF—A—H#&&H 334,065 (464) 333,601

Other comprehensive income Hit2EUBA
Currency translation difference on s & IRE B EL 2 E R E5

consolidation - 1,102 1,102
Total comprehensive income ZHINALLE - 1,102 1,102
Balance as at 31 December 2020 R=-ZE=_ZF+-A=+—H&& 334,065 638 334,703
(b) Company (b) &=AT]

Share  Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total
R EE aABH 2EER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT BT BT
At 1 January 2019 RZE—hF—H—H 50,382 588,719 (153,509) 485,592
Loss for the year 2FEE = = (131,171) (131,171)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF+=A=1+—H 50,382 588,719 (284,680) 354,421
At 1 January 2020 R-—Z2-_ZF—H—H 50,382 588,719 (284,680) 354,421
Loss for the year 2EEE - - (137,390) (137,390)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZB-FF+=-HA=+—8 50,382 588,719 (422,070) 217,031
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 W B R W ek (1)

19. Reserves (Continued) 19.17%4% (&)

(b) Company (Continued) (b) &= 7] (&)
Loss for the year of the Company mainly comes from finance ARARFEBBETERBFBEKAE
cost of HK$131,710,000 (2019: HK$134,732,000), legal and 131,710,000 7T (ZE— A4 1 134,732,000
professional fees of HK$4,049,000 (2019: HK$4,415,000), BIL)  EENREBEXRER4,049,0008 T
rental expense of HK$321,000 (2019: HK$9,683,000) and —T—NF 14,415,000 T) - HEFEX
staff costs of HK$13,317,000 (2019: HK$11,200,000). 321,000/ 7t (ZZ— L4 : 9,683,000/87T)

M ETRKZA13,317,000/8 70 (ZE—H5F :
11,200,000/87T) °

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result RARIZHBABRTIA—NWNETFEARERE
of the Group reorganisation in 1990 and represents the ARPTEE S - 84N BIACE 2 MR (B R AT IR
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s BZHBARRBERARZAEHEEFEZ
Shares so allotted and the consolidated net asset value ZHRBRIRENDIKE 2 ZRE - RIBBREZX
of the acquired subsidiaries and associate less dividends Bl - BABKRITRETEA TR TR ©

distribution. Under Bermudan law, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances.

In addition, the Company’s share premium of HK$50,382,000 BEAN » ANA R 2 B9 % B 50,382,000/8 7T
(2019: HK$50,382,000) can be distributed as fully paid- (ZZ— N4 : 50,382,000/ 7T) AT /ER B
up bonus shares or applied towards eliminating the BABRDIK  SKARBERARZREE
accumulated losses of the Company. B
20. Staff costs 20.BE TR
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Staff costs BT A
(including directors’ remuneration) (BREESHE)
Wages, salaries and bonuses IE& - #Fre &k 17,689 30,714
Directors’ fee E=0e 940 924

18,629 31,638
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G0 MR ok W aE (1)

20. Staff costs (Continued) 20.E TR A (48)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) AV BRSEHMA L

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals during the year are set out below:

FA - AfUSSHFMAL2BESHFB0T

2020 2019
—B-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7% ~ 2B RIFIRSFZE 8,620 12,673
Retirement scheme contributions RRET S /TA 317 81
Bonuses paid and payable BT RERIEA 359 6,501
9,296 19,255

The remuneration of the five (2019: five) highest paid R (ZF—NF : AfD) &= EFA T 2 B

individuals fell within the following bands: SN FT35EE

2020 2019
—EF —NEF
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017&7c— 1,500,000/ 7T 2 =
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 87T —2,000,000/87T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T —3,000,000/%8 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 %878 — 3,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000 7T - 1
HK$6,000,001 - HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7% 7T — 6,500,000 7T - 1
5 5

The success of the Company hinges on the performance and
commitment of our employees. As the Company continues to
grow, the Company’s compensation philosophy is designed
to provide employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,

while aligning with our business strategies and values. The X o

Group’s remuneration policy aims to recognise outstanding
performance, retain and attract key talents and ensure

alignment with the interests of our businesses, and thereby

enhancing shareholder value.

ARRZKRNEE T 2 R\FAER B
- AEA AR RBHEERE  ARFZH
MEBELIRREEREEEMREER
e - HEKENXBREEREERHE
REEZHFHRREES
R - BERTAEE AT WHEREAN QR
KBNS

FEIZEH

YEMmERTRCREE
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20. Staff costs (Continued)

20. E T A (#&)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration (b) EERTEARME

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is

set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services asa director,
whether of the company or ts subsidiary undertaking:

FRAES ERRs0RIRNRLXSH RN AR ZHE

BEEN TR MEFITNT

BE_T_TFT-_A=1t—"PLFE:

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director's other
servicesin
Remuneration ~ connection
paid or withthe
Employer's receivable  management
Estimated contributionto inrespectof  of the affairs
moneyvalue  aretirement accepting  of the company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas orits subsidiary
Name :£3 Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total
HEZER
KATHENR
EIHER  REREE CRSHNEM
BRI BHTE  REEEXM EBEXNY
fig g BEEAL  RERE  HHERER e S T L 3t
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Agtn  ANTn BT ETn B8R A8Tn AR B¥fn  EMTn
Non-executive FurEs
Directors
ChenZenan frote (1) R (K1) - - - - - - - - -
LvJa Bt - - - - - - - - -
IndependentNon-  BUFHEES
executive Directors
Song Ming R - 180 - - - - - - 180
SunMingchun P - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan ) - 180 - - - - - - 180
Executive Directors #1718
HuangHu (rote 2) &5 (WeEi2) - 200 - - - - - - 200
Meng Xuefeng 2E - 200 - - - 10 - - 210
- 940 - - - 10 - - 950
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G50 BB R I RE (48)

20. Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below: (Continued)

Note:
(i)  On 8 December 2020, the following changes are effective:

(1) Mr. Chen Zenan resigned as a non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

(2) Mr. Huang Hu (served as an executive Director of the
Company from 15 March 2019 until 8 December 2020) was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

20. E T A (#&)

(b) EERTRARME (F)

BEERITBAR CHESFTHT (&)

BRE -
() UTEBER-_F-_TE+—F/)\B4E :

(1) BREMELBREARRRFNITES &
EZEIFE REAZBESIFENMNEREZER
BXE -

(2 BRAE(B-ZE-NF=A+HRAZE_"
ZoRE+ - ANRBEERARARNITE
BERERARAFESTEIRFNREER
BEXF -
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20. Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

20.8 TH 7 (

=)

(b) EERTRARME (F)

31

ES

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,

whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking;

HEMEZ(BRRALTIANBLRSH Rl b :

“E-NFTZA=T—HIEFE

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in
Remuneration connection
paid or with the
Employer's recelvable  management
Estimated confributionto inrespectof  oftheaffairs
moneyvalue  aretirement aceepting  of the company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas orits subsidiary
Name 4 Fees Salary bonuses  allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total
AEZER
NGB
ELHRR  HEREE AESHOAL
ey BHGE  REZERN  REERAT
e g6 BBRL  GREY  MHEREE mis ke e fet
HK$000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 1000 HKS000 HK§ 000
et AT BETn BETx AR AR AETT et EETn
Non-Executive Fungs
Directors
HuangHu frote (1)~ BIR(WZN13) - - - s - - - - -
ChenZenan (roie ()~ REBHZNI) - - - - - - - - -
LvJia afE - - - = = = = = =
IndependentNon-  BUFH{TES
executive Directors
Song Ming | - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun i - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan 4% = 180 = = = = = = 180
ExecutiveDirectors ~ #if7E%
OuPeng frote ) B (i) - 17 - - - 1 - - 18
HuangHu (oo l) — ER(aEA19) - 167 - - - 11 - - 178
Meng Xusfeng i - 200 - - = 10 = - 20
= 924 = = = 2 = = 946
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G50 BB R I RE (48)

20. Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
(Continued)

Note:
(i)  On15March 2019, the following changes are effective:

(1) Mr. Ou Peng resigned as an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

(2) Mr. Chen Zenan was appointed as a non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company.

(8) Mr. Huang Hu was re-designated as an executive Director
and was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, and ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a Director and/or
the Chief Executive Officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration in respect of the year.

Directors’ fees paid or payable to independent non-
executive Directors during the year were HK$540,000 (2019:
HK$540,000). There was no Directors’ fees received or
receivable by other non-executive Directors during the year
(2019: Nil). Save from the aforesaid, there were no other
emoluments paid or payable to non-executive Directors in
2020 and 2019.

No options were granted to Directors and/or the Chief
Executive Officer to acquire Shares of the Company in 2020
and 2019.

20.E TR A (48)

(b) EERTRARME (F)

W
() ATHEA=F-NE=A+EAEN

(1) BIBEEBEARRMITES - %%@
TR TRERMEERRBEE

(2 REEEEEZERTARENTE
£ EEELIF REZESIRERE
REBEKE -

@) BRAEEALATARMITEERE
ZERTHEH - WREBEZZEGK
B o

BREER FITBRR BB EMRBRE
SFRERERENFA M -

FRAEXNHENTELIFRTESCES
#& /540,000 T (ZF—NF 540,000
BIL) o FRMERMIERTESRCD WaE
WrEZ@E (ZF—NF : 8) - BREXF
AES > R_F_TFER_T-NFHRED
NREMIFATESNEBME -

AATR =B BER-F-NELEET
%%&/Xﬂﬁwﬁﬁﬂ%k%M%%$
TR o
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20. Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
(Continued)

The Director’s fee per annum of each of the independent
non-executive Directors of HK$180,000 (2019: HK$180,000)
is fixed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority
granted by the Shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting. Each non-executive Director, including
independent non-executive Director, serving on the Board
Committees does not receive any additional fee (2019: Nil).

The Directors’ remunerations are determined with reference
to directors’ remunerations paid by other companies in Hong
Kong.

21. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses represent the following:

20. 8 TRA (48)

(b) EERTRARME (F)

21.%

BUBIYERTESZFEESENS
180,000/8 7T (ZZ— L4 : 180,000/ 7T ) F
EZSRERERADRBIREBFASE T
ZENFETE 2HEESEZ8E2E
MIERITE S (BIEBYIERTES) T ek
BUEAZEIMNAS (ZE—NE : |) -

EEMeI2REBBHEM LT ARANES
MEmETE -

H &<

LRI T 7S BFAR IR

2020 2019

—EF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Staff costs (Note 20) 8 TR (#75£20) 18,629 31,638
Legal and professional fee FRNEXER 7,218 5,542
Agency fee RIEE 1,761 4,567
Asset management fee BEEEE 6,174 6,174
Leasing fee fﬁf_f?-? 948 2,038
Telecommunication expenses BEAX 1,743 3,054
Others Hifb 12,982 10,949
49,455 63,962
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21. Other operating expenses (Continued)

Asset management fee and leasing fee represent the fee
charged by an independent third party for managing one
of the investment properties and for entering into new and
renewed leases with tenants respectively.

The remuneration of the Directors and the chief executives is

included in the staff costs (Note 20).

Auditor’s remuneration (included in the legal and
professional fee) for the current year amounted to

HK$1,816,000 (2019: HK$1,800,000).

BEEEENEEERRBYFE=THEER
PIEP —IRREME AN BB PRI LR K
BRIEABEER -

EERITHRATENHITA S TRA (H:E
20) °

AEEERBMME GIASERERER) R
1,816,000/ 7T (ZF— L4 : 1,800,000/
T) °

22. Net finance cost 22. R AFEE
2020 2019
—E-ZF —T-nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T SRS T
Finance cost/(income) BAREAAR, ()
— Interest expense on the loan from —REFREERARIZERZ 131,600 133,085
an intermediate holding MBS (HaE14)
company (Note 74)
~ Interest expenses on bank loans —IRITEFRF BT (A7E15) 24,840 35,351
(Note 15)
- Loan arrangement fee ERZHER 4,081 4,090
- Interest expenses on lease - Tﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ\fi a 704 1,070
liabilities
— Interest income from bank — ERITHIBIHA (296) (197)
160,929 173,399
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23. Income tax expense 23. B

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year. The PRC corporate income tax rate is 25% (2019:
25%). The subsidiaries operating in the PRC are loss making
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 and are
not subject to PRC corporate income tax.

EBFNEBHIDAFERNGETERRAF IR
16.5% (=T —LF : 16.5% ) T K& -
PRPEMESMEER25%(ZT—NEF -
25%) - RABKEENHBRAAIRNEES
TEFERZE-NFFTZA=+—HLFE
ERISESIE - AN R EEFTSHL ©

2020 2019
—=F —T-hnEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current income tax BVERFTSER
- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEN 4,486 5,694
— Over provision in prior year — SRR (41) (1,095)
Deferred income tax IRIEFTIFA
- Deferred tax expense — IR IAF 2 3,375 1,697
7,820 6,296

The taxation on the (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
taxation rates applicable to the places of operation of the

BRATISTHAT (B51R), BRI FTE 4 2 IR ER
++%T<ﬁﬁ$ AR E M B A R SR E AR
BREAZERESERATE - FI15

Company and its subsidiaries as follows: ZZDT :
2020 2019
—EC-EE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BTSRRI (E18), & F (311,760) 493,247
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5%  ZIHE16.5%(ZZ—NF : 16.5%)

(2019: 16.5%) ! (51,440) 81,386
Income not subject to taxation HERTUA (2,550) (101,642)
Tax losses not recognised RNER Z TR EHE 955 915
Expenses not deductible for taxation — FRAEVEHFRBEIR 2 FAX

pUrposes 60,896 26,732
Over provision in prior year L F R (41) (1,095)
Income tax expense PS BRI X 7,820 6,296
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24, Dividends

The Board has resolved not to declare any interim dividend
or to recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2020 (for the year ended 31 December 2019: Nil).

25. (Loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to shareholders of
HK$319,580,000 (profit attributable to shareholders for the
year ended 31 December 2019: HK$486,951,000) and the
weighted average of 1,567,745,596 shares in issue (2019:
1,567,745,596 shares in issue) during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from exercise of all outstanding share options granted
under the Company’s share option scheme. A calculation
is done to determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined with reference to the
latest available market share price of the Company’s Shares)
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights
attached to the outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, there
were no outstanding options to be exercised. Accordingly,
there was no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the
years 2020 and 2019.

The share option scheme of the Company expired on 23 May
2020.

24. 82

EE2RARTEREMTHARE - I TEEH
EEBE_T_TF+_A=1T—HLFE
ZERRPBRE (BE-T-NAF+ A=
T—HLEFE &) -

25. 88 (&8) &F

BRER (BB), /BT THiREF AR E
162 E518319,580,000/8 T (BAZE—T—Hh
F+-A=t+—HILFERRELRZEF :
486,951,000 7C) X F KN 1,567,745,596
PEmmEFHEETROG (ZZE—LF
1,567,745,596 I E 21 TR (D) 5T & -

FRESRBNARRATEREARARR] 2B
PR B 2 PR R AR T T RE RO RB AR T 22
HEZFE R EEMEE AR L RE - R
IRE AR B3 TE @R bR IR EGT
8 o RIBERTTEBREM 2 RBENEE
BE  FEZEAFE(REARBRND &
MM EMEEE)IBAZKNEE - R
E A EZBRMHEE - HRRERED
BATEMBETZBROBEIELR - R-F
—EER_TE-NAFT_A=1T—H  #iE
Hﬁifﬂ%ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬂx% At - RZF-_TFK
—NFRYL B BT E B -

RARBREAZEN - E-_TFRA_-1
=HEm e
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26. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 26.457 SR ERERME
Flows

(a) Reconciliation of operating (loss)/profit to cash (a) L& (FiE), BFELLEEE2BEEY

generated from operations: ARk :
2020 2019
—E-ZTF —ET-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BEE BT T BT
Operating (loss)/profit K (Eia) &R (208,409) 239,253
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment WEMENTEEE,
properties (Pezs) 170,576 (169,192)
Depreciation and impairment TEXRIE 5,10 105,408 20,914
Exchange loss/(gain) bE g8, (Uezs) 1,015 (216)
Reversal of impairment for
loan receivable W E SR EREE] - (797)
Increase in accounts receivable FEMGRIEIE N (620) (676)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, ENER - ke REMEK
deposits and other receivables IR, (3E ) 5,409 (4,083)
Increase in amounts due from associates FEUEE S A Tl IBIE AN (96) (65)
Decrease in amounts due to associates  JE{TEE N &) IR - (958)
Decrease in amount due to an FERT R FEERR A A
intermediate holding company IR - (1,801)
Decrease in other payables and H At ERTEIE R FERT
accrued liabilities BERD 16 (4,808) (11,397)
Cash generated from operations REEE RS 68,475 70,982
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) RERFEEE
2020 2019
—ECERF —T-hnF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cash at bank and in hand SRITNFHRIRE 148,963 100,060
Short-term bank deposits with original FRER=ER A TR HRITER
maturity of less than three months 63,574 82,195
212,537 182,255
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26. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (Continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out the movements in net debt for each of
the periods presented.

26.47 8 HERERM T (E)

(c) FREHK

AT BCR &SI PR B a3 B B S

Total liabilities
Lease  Short-term Borrowing from financing
liabilities borrowing  dueafter 1year activities
R—F&IH REMEED
HERE BHEE MEE naaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BB
As at 1 January 2019 R-E-N&—HF—H - (49,792) (4,040,271) (4,090,063)
Recognised in adoption of 73/\% BRI THRE LR
HKFRS 16 F 165 R MR (34,868) - - (34,868)
Cash flow Bem 13,198 49,792 66,576 129,566
Other non-cash movement ~ Efi3ER &) (994) - (129,289) (130,282)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NFT_A=1—H (22,664) - (4,102,983) (4,125,647)
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-Z&£-H-H (22,664) - (4,102,983) (4,125,647)
Cash flow RER 5,416 - - 5,416
Other non-cash movement ~ HftiF:R &% (704) - (131,600) (132,304)
As at 31 December 2020 R=B-BF+=-A=1+-H (17,952) - (4,234,583) (4,252,535)
27. Capital risk management 27. 51 EEERE

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue its businesses as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group structures its capital with due consideration to
risk. The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure
in the light of the changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, repurchase
Shares of the Company from Shareholders, issue new
Shares, or increase or reduce borrowings.

ZREI%IEEZSZE%W%EﬁE{%ZK%E
RENFHER S H T - WM E SRR
Hx%kf IEIﬁF&&?%E@ﬂ SHERAA TERHEA

N2
= o
1

AEBEEREERRERIBEEHEEARE
B ARBRIRERR ZEREHEEE
ZEBRESHEELABREEARRE - RER
HABHEARE  AEESRHERN T
RZBETH - ARRBEEARARLD - %
TTHR IR IR D E K
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27. Capital risk management (Continued)

For the purpose of calculating the net debt-to-capital ratio,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
the loan from an intermediate holding company and bank
borrowing) less cash and bank balances, and capital as all
components of equity. The Group monitors capital on the
basis of the net debt-to-capital ratio.

The net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2020 was as

27. 5K REER (&)

RABEFREEALEXME - ARERKFE
AERSEHAR (BREKETRERAR
ZE &fﬁfﬂﬁg)ﬂfﬁi&fﬁﬁ EER 0 M
BAREE BRI AKRENMD - AEEIR

BFREEANL REIREN o

RZE_EF+_A=+—HBZFEBER
bR

follows:

2020 2019

—ERIERF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Total borrowings BEuaEs 4,749,466 4,745,719
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IREMIREFE (212,537) (182,255)
Net debt FRE 4,536,929 4,563,464
Total equity 1B 2,640,694 2,959,171
Total capital AR 7,177,623 7,522,635
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEEERLE R 63.2% 60.7%

The slight increase in debt-to-capital ratio is mainly due to
the drop in shareholders’ funds as a result of the fair value
drop of the investment properties.

BEEARLXME LA TEEANKEY R
RHERDEHRRE DR -

28. Capital commitments 28. EAAEIE
2020 2019
—B-EF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Contracted, but not provided for BERIAEREE
- Capital expenditures on — B 2 B

investment properties 428 1,514
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29. Balance sheet of the Company

29. K NFEEAER

31 December

31 December

2020 2019
f— 7 —_— 7 qz —= _j-l-rﬁz
+=A=+—8 +=-A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
BT BT T BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #% - #E2 R & 4,996 5,477
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZIRE 4,774,488 4,764,591
Interests in associates /N oy ey 2,607 2,607
4,782,091 4,772,675
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments, deposits and BNER - ke kEf
other receivables JEUGRIR 2,416 7,641
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 69,579 63,853
71,995 71,494
Total assets REFE 4,854,086 4,844,169
LIABILITIES af
Non-current liabilities FERBaE
Loan from an intermediate REFEERATZER
holding company 3,848,434 3,848,434
Other payables and accrued Hitv e 5E R ERT B &
liabilities 386,149 254,549
4,234,583 4,102,983
Current liabilities VeI
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERBIBA 243,111 226,461
Other payable and accrued Hh e AIE&FE.:JF;%?)EH
expenses 2,586 3,629
245,697 229,990
Total liabilities HaE 4,480,280 4,332,973
EQUITY e
Capital and reserves BN
Share capital & 156,775 156,775
Reserves G 19(b) 217,031 354,421
Total equity HarE 373,806 511,196
Total equity and liabilities wrES kAR 4,854,086 4,844,169
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the ARrEEABRAESEN _T= ¢ =

Board of Directors on 9 March 2021 and was signed on its

behalf.

Mr. Huang Hu
ERRE

Chairman

ESE

ANBHETHNU TATRRESTSEE

Mr. Meng Xuefeng
=EIEEE

Director

=
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30. Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
particularly liquidity and credit risks. Where appropriate, the
Group’s risk management policies seek to minimise potential
adverse effects of these risks on the financial performance
of the Group. The policies for managing these risks are
summarised below.

(a) Cash flow interest rate risk

206

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from cash
balances placed with authorised financial institutions, loan
from an intermediate holding company and bank borrowing,
which generate interest income and incur interest expense
for the Group. The Group manages its interest rate risk
for cash balances by placing such balances on various
maturities and interest rate terms.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had loan from an
intermediate holding company of HK$3,848,434,000 (2019:
HK$3,848,434,000) and bank borrowing of HK$901,032,000
(2019: HK$897,285,000). It is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit for the year and total equity by
approximately HK$47,631,000 (2019: HK$46,094,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the balance sheet date and had been applied to the interest-
bearing financial instruments in existence at that date.

30. &R AR EE

(a)
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RERARE R

AREZ R R RER KB T BN R A
BB RS ER  PRERARZER
RITIHE - Hﬁl"%l?iﬂ%%)\&%lﬁ
B » REBB B ZFERUTRSE
IR ARG RERE RS ER 2R
E

i ¢+ A=+—8"
R A AR A Rl 2 B 5X3,848,434,000/%8
T (ZZT— N4 :3,848,434,00087T) &
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30. Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

30.

(b)

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Group’s objective in managing this risk is to
maintain a balance between the continuity and the flexibility
of funding through the use of bank loans and overdraft, if
necessary, and the loan from group companies.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates as at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The balance includes the accrued
interest for the loan from an intermediate holding company
and bank borrowing. For details, please refer to Notes 14 and
1@,

ErEREE ()
REBEEER

MEES EARERETEESREEM
E@Z%ﬁ%ﬁ%gﬁliﬁzrk B2 e $EIEEEE%

Rz BERTEBERRITERLES @ #
FESBEBUERBERE 2 TE (MEE) KK
BEBEARIZERK

TRITMREEEAEEERBEZHRTA
WHIRFFS - DERREOARFTR RS
mE (BRERASORRFEZFENK -

FEREBNE - AERGEER 2HX) R

$%l,,\35ﬁ IR &P HH - SBREEETER
B EER AR 2 ERMIRTTREE 2 BT
B o FHIER2HME14 K15

Loan from
Other payables and an intermediate
accrued liabilities holding company Bank borrowing Lease liabilities
AftENRER REFHZRAR
ezt ek 2B BTEE HEaE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBCEE CTNF CECBE TNF CBCRE —TNF ZBCEE CTNE
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000
E¥Tn  AMTr B¥Tn B¥Tn  BRTn BBt BT BETR
Within 1yearorondemand ~ —FAFIRER 36,259 41,066 - - 904,655 36,487 5,496 5416
More than 1 but less BB —FRINME
than 2 years - - 4,481,962 - - 908,706 5,736 5,496
More than 2 but less EBMEESNRE
than b years - - - 4483807 - - 7,808 13,544
More than 5 years ehhiked - - - - - - - -
Carrying amount BRE(E 36,259 41066 4,481,962 4483807 904,655 945,193 19,040 24,456
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30. Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Currency risk

208

Currency risk arises on account of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency. There is no non-monetary exposure on the Group.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
are denominated predominantly in Hong Kong Dollars. The
Group’s only significant exposure to foreign exchange risk
arises from its cash at bank and financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss in RMB and cash at bank in US$.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash at bank in
RMB of HK$2,527,000 (2019: HK$1,499,000), nil in financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss in RMB (2019:
HK$1,116,000), cash at bank in US$ of HK$32,282,000 (2019:
HK$33,582,000).

If the RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against
Hong Kong Dollars with all other variables held constant, it
would increase/decrease the pre-tax profit for the year by
HK$253,000 (2019: HK$262,000). As US$ is pegged to HKS,
the Group does not expect any significant movement in the
US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in exchange rate had occurred at
the balance sheet date.
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30. Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from its deposits with
banks and accounts receivable.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with high-credit-quality
financial institutions. The credit quality of bank deposits
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if
available) as follows:

0. £REMEE (F)
d) EERR

AEBZEERRBREERGHRITER
HQW\IE\ °

RIOFREIBEHNERRFNSERER
W - RITFERNEEERATL2MMATIMNE
SERHR (A )G

2020 2019

—7 —_ vﬂ:‘ :,’%E—jlﬂi

% %

AA- 35.6 28.2
A+ 52.7 50.8
A 3.3 2.7
BBB 8.4 918
100.0 100.0

The Group manages its credit risk associated with accounts
receivable through the application of credit approvals, credit
ratings and monitoring procedures including the impact of
COVID-19.

Credit sales are only made to customers with appropriate
credit history or high credit standing while sales to new
customers or customers of low credit standing are usually
made on an advance payment or cash on delivery basis.

In respect of credit exposures to tenants, management
conducts credit evaluations on prospective tenants before
lease agreements are entered into with tenants. The Group
also has policies in place to ensure that rental security
deposits are required from tenants prior to commencement
of leases. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for irrecoverable
amounts.

AEBFEERBEEEL - EEARNER
RFEER  ERERKFRERZEER
2 (RRFUEARSLFE) -

rEEEAFAEBRITEEREIRSEE

ﬁﬁzgﬁt”*% HRHRFHEEF
@?ﬁZ%ﬁ BERBABEAMNREERIN
KA RETRS ©

SEPNEERRME - EEEERBEFAT
iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁgﬁﬁﬁLﬂh Al ©
AEBTDHIEBRE - WEREFNEERM
IRRIZABME S RES o BINRAE EMEE
12 Fr ARE(RERER IR B 1T 2 SRR @B BR(E TS ©
AN - AR B E i IR E B MR KA
AR E R - ARERIL A AT @ S BT IR R
SE BB RTERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

210

As part of the ongoing risk assessment process,
management during the year ended 31 December 2020
has also considered specific implications of COVID-19 on
its credit exposure to tenants. These implications were
considered minimal due to the business nature of its tenant
population and location of the leased assets which primarily
serve basic consumer needs in established districts, where
demand and consumption remains relatively stable during
the pandemic. Therefore, existing leases entered, mostly
with remaining lease terms of 1-3 years and performance of
contractual lease payments are assessed as insignificantly
impacted even during COVID-19.

As at 31 December 2020, the total accounts receivable are
from 36 customers (2019: 39 customers) only.

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on
the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Indicators including actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the tenants’
ability to meet its obligations and if changes in the payment
status of tenants is noted. A significant increase in credit
risk is defined by management as any contractual payment
which is more than 30 days past due. Any contractual
payment which is more than 90 days past due is considered
credit impaired.

The Group considers that accounts receivable, deposits
and other receivables are financial instruments that have
not exposed to a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition (“stage 1”) and considers the probability
of default of accounts receivable, deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 to be close to
zero as the counterparties have strong capacity to meet their
contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss
allowance has been recognised based on 12-month ECL as
any such impairment would be insignificant to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

(e)

As at 31 December 2020, the accounts receivable subjected
to significant increase in credit risk is limited. The impairment
of accounts receivable, if any, that is in stage 2 and 3 are
immaterial to the Group.

No significant changes to estimating techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are
set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

Fair value estimation

The Group’s investment properties and financial asset
are measured at fair value. The Group classifies fair value
measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (Level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

30. e REEE ()

(d) FE=ER (&)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(e) Fair value estimation (Continued)

See Notes 6 and 9 for disclosures of the investment
properties and financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss that are measured at fair value respectively.

0. £REMEE (F)
(e) DFEMGE ()

BRRAFEAABRSE REMELRERE
EZWBEER  BORISHEMER -

Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E14 28 I st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
Investment propertiesasat R=—ZF—_FF+-—HA=+—H
31 December 2020 MR EY =
Investment properties EYH - - 3,183,500 3,183,500
Financial asset at fairvalue MRZZE—HAF+-A=+—H
through profit or loss and RN ERTABZER
investment properties as at & RIEE MIEEYE
31 December 2019
Investment in an investment MIREESE ZIZE
fund = = 1,116 1,116
Investment properties WEME - - 3,351,200 3,351,200
There was no transfer between levels during the years ended NEE—_E—FEFN " FE-—HNE+_A=+
31 December 2020 and 2019. —am@gmwﬁﬁmaﬁ
As part of the periodic evaluation by management, EAEEEBTEHT M —2 ) & EHE

212

implications of COVID-19 on its fair value estimation process
have been considered. Management engages an external
valuer using the income capitalisation approach which takes
into account market information with reference to sales
evidence as available on the market. Management considers
that such market information is already reflective of the
impact of COVID-19 during the year on achievable rental
yields and capitalisation rates of the implied valuation as at
the valuation date. Management is also aware of potential
valuation uncertainty given the unknown future impact that
COVID-19 might have in the short term and longer term, and
continues to monitor and reassess potential indicators due
to COVID-19 affecting valuations at the relevant reporting
dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G0 MR ok W aE (1)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(e) Fair value estimation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss under Level 3 fair value measurement
represented the investment in limited partnership which was
owned by Shen Zhen Great Wall Pan Asia International Equity
Investment Fund Management Company* (Z¥IIKHIRTEE
B ER EE S EE AR AF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and was not traded in the active market. In
August 2020, the investment was matured and fully exited
and the realised gains of HK$267,000 is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2019, the Directors had determined
that the carrying value of investment based on discounted
expected proceed from exercising the redemption option
represented fair value at the end of the reporting period for
the investment in limited partnership.

(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable
inputs

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

0. £REMEE (F)
(e) DFEMGE ()

RZE—NEFE+ZA=+—H " FIRRF
B2 THEATEFTABENSREE
BRARRZEN B A RFRIIRIIR I BT
REREECBEEBRAREE ZARER
B BUWHERERBMIBERS - RZT
—ZEFENA ZRECHBIEEERE M
267,000 TR R ARG E ZE KR K
ﬁgwm"

RZZE-NFE+_A=+—8 EFFR5"

RITEBENE FREL 2 DTSR
RHNRERMERNBRES 2 RERES

RN AFE -

() BEEFTEERHABENSRITANMG
=1

TRINE R FHERBE NAEIRAFEFE
FEREF REHRHVER -

2020 2019
—BCEF —E-hnF
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT
Opening balance FHEERR 3,352,316 3,792,941
Reclassification to property, ENDBEYE - MESSREE
plant and equipment - (629,750)
Additions during the year FRE 2,876 19,958
Disposal during the year FALE (1,270) -
Unrealised (loss)/gain recognised FNRERHAREE (B18) W
during the year (170,576) 169,192
Exchange difference bE 5 =58 154 (25)
Closing balance FREERR 3,183,500 3,352,316
Net changes in unrealised (losses)/ FEIMIREREHR (B1B) Wex
gains for Level 3 investment R E)FE (170,576) 169,167

* For identification purpose only

* EHRES)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G5B BB iR I RE ()

30. Financial risk management (Continued) 30. e FEEE (&)
(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable (f) 8 A TEERABENERITANG
inputs (Continued) B (&)
Balance of investment properties as at 31 December 2020: RZZBZEF+_A=1+—HEREMENLE
fR -
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue  technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE NHE  RESE FBEBRABE thl /EE
HK$'000
BETT
Investment properties 3,183,500  Income capitalisation  Capitalisation rate: 2.75%-3.90% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 approach the lower the fair value
or details)
REME (FHEF20H BAMEmE BAME : 2.75%F3.90% EArRds - ATEAME
HizEe)
Rental rates: The lower the rents, the lower the
Retail shops: fairvalue

HK$32.2 psf-HK$55.0 psf
Office buildings: HK$32.2 psf-

HK$98.0 psf
Industrial properties: HK$10.0 psf-
HK$29.7 psf
Car parking space: HK$3,326 per space
ik HeWE - ATEIBE
TEE
Y HR322ETEET/TR56.0%TT
VN
FEARI2L2BETEGTARBOET
IE:

FEIRI00ETESFFIR7ET
FEHEN : SEFHHENI6ET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G0 MR ok W aE (1)

30. e FEEE (&)

30. Financial risk management (Continued)

() BEFTEERABENSHTRNMG

(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable

inputs (Continued) 5 (&)
Balances of financial assets at fair value through profit or RZZE-NF+ZA=1T—BERATFEFA
loss and investment properties as at 31 December 2019: BRreEERIREMENLERR -
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE NHE  RERE FAREBAYE thl,/EE
HK$'000
BETL
Financial asset at fair value 1,116 Discounted Internal rate of return: 7.5% N/A
through profit or loss expected proceed  AIERERBHE :7.5%
- Investment in fund from exercising
redemption option
BN THER ABRE TEBOEEE TER
TREE-EeRE TR ESMAETE
Investment properties 3,351,200 Income Capitalisation rate: 2.5%-3.75% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 for capitalisation the lower the fair value
details) approach
&%%%@%%%@% EXERE BAE : 25%%3.75% EMexis - ATEASE
176
Rental rates: The lower the rents, the lower
Retail shops: the fair value
HK$55 psf-HK$85 psf
Office buildings: HK$30.7
psf-HK$100.5 psf
Industrial properties: HK$13.3
psf-HK$31 psf
Car parking space: HK$3,326 per space
ik HeWE - ATEBE
TEE
EAREATEGTAREAET
ARE
FYARI07ETEFFHRI005ETT
IE:
BEARIBIBTEGTARIVET
RSl - BEFESEA3326/8 T
As at 31 December 2019, the financial asset at fair value RZZBE-—NF+ZA=1+—H " FIRATF
through profit or loss under Level 3 fair value measurement B 2B MTNERATEF ARG CEREE

represented the investment in limited partnership and was
not traded in the active market. As at 31 December 2019,
the Directors had determined that the carrying value of the
investment based on discounted expected proceed from
exercising the redemption option represented the fair value

BRBREBZIE - BXWIENERMEHER
5o RZTE—NF+ZA=+—8 R
A BRI ERREREAE 2 TR TERFT
BSRENREARTAEANEREEZREAR
HEFERNATE -

at the end of the reporting period for the investment in

limited partnership.

For details, please refer to Note 9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 6 BB iR I A

(%)

31.Subsidiaries and associates

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and the
Group’s principal associates as at 31 December 2020 and 31

December 2019 are as follows:

.MBARIKRBE AT
#—":2¢+:H

AEEEEBHA RSB

Subsidiaries MEBARE
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of Proportion held
registration and operations issued/registered BHELE
Company (Kind pf le alentity)” share capital Direct Indirect  Nature of business
EMRL AR ERE BEfT/ iR
NEER CEELFER) HiE Ef A EBHE
Great Wall Pan Asia Asset Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$25,560,000 = 100%  Asset management
Management Limited company) o _ senvices
RURLAEREERAT B8 (BRAR) L8 25,560,00087 BEEERE
Great Wall Pan Asia Corporate Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$5,000,000 = 100%  Corporate finance services
Finance Limited company) o o
RIRERERBRAT &2 (BRAR) E1BR5,000,000%7 CRRERS
Great Wall Pan Asia Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$10,000,000 - 100%  Securities Services
Securities Limited (ote (a)) company) o .
REBRTRFARAR (H:2(6) &2 (BRAT) £ 10,000,000/ 7T BB
Lyton Investment Limited The Commonwealth of The Ordinary US$2 = 100%  Property holding
Bahamas (limited liability
company) B \
EﬂA%ﬁul (BRAR) LERET EST]
Macheer Properties Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Property holding
++(lirm'tediiabilit{ compan\j/) B \
REERRES (BRAT LERIET ESET)
Nanchao Yau Tong Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 = 100%  Property holding
++(lim\'te(Lliab'\litX compang) B \
ARARRES (BRAA LERIET S
Sunny Bright Development Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$2 = 100%  Property holding
_ Limited company) o \
HMBEERARAR EE(ARAT) LERET WERE
Sunny Success Development Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$2 = 100%  Property holding
_ Limited company) o ‘
MR RERAR EE(ARRT) LERVET S
Ray Glory Limited Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$1 = 100%  Property holding
company)
BRARAT %mﬂﬁw LERIAT WERE
Shen Zhen Great Wall Pan The PRC (limited liability Registered capital of = 100%  Corporate consultancy
Asia International Equity company) RMB13,298,655 services
Investment Fund Management
_CompanyLimited L \
AR R R A B (BRAA) AMEA B EBERRE
HEEERERDT AR13,298,6557T

Note (a): Great Wall Pan Asia Securities Limited was dissolved on 12 July

2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
G50 BB R I RE (48)

31. Subsidiaries and associates (Continued) 31.MB AR REE AT (&)
Associates BENT
Place of incorporation/
registration and operations Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital attributable to the Group  Nature of business
AT ERREELE REBEERRAE
NEEH CEELFER) BRTRAEE Aol XBME
Dymocks Franchise Systems Hong Kong (limited liability Ordinary HK$7,700,000 45%  Bookshop operation
(China) Limited* company)
Bt (BRAA) L#R7,700,00087 LEEE
Everwell City Limited The British Virgin Ordinary HK$10,001 35.78%  Property holding
Islands (limited liability
company)
ABABREE (BRAR) LER100018T VESEL]

32.

# The financial statements of this company were not audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong or the member firms of
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company and
associates of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries and associates would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Related party transactions

As at the balance sheet date, the Directors regard Great Wall
Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited as the immediate holding
company of the Company, Great Wall International as an
intermediate holding company of the Company and GWAMCC
as the ultimate holding company of the Company.

H ZARZMBEHRERNWIFEHBBEERKE
&Rl =S ATk PricewaterhouseCoopers
International Limited Z A% B /A R1284% °

EERR  UERIIZARBMBAR LA
SEZHERRHAREFAXRAEEAY
g IMEAKEEEFEEALY c EER
A BIEMMB AR FHENSEMT
RiEanITE -

EBLRS

RNiEEH - EEHR Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI)
Holding Limited AR Rl Z BEZERAF]
KRB AR R 2R EIERAR ﬁﬁ‘:F‘l
RINBER/NR T 2 RIKER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G 0 W B ok W ek (8

32. Related party transactions (Continued)

(@) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

subsidiaries

Significant transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

subsidiaries are as follow:

(a) EFERBEERANB AR ZRS

HABRRKEERENBARICEARZIA
T

2020 2019
—BCEF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Lease of investment propertiestoan  FAEREYZ FHEIERA A
intermediate holding company —HeA
— Rental income 16,774 11,183
Rendering of services to an RALARTS T EER A A
intermediate holding company —BEEBERS
- Asset management service 25,667 36,573
Loan from an intermediate REFREERARZER
holding company —MBEXZH (K5#22)
- Interest expense (Note 22) 131,600 133,085
2020 2019
—EB-EF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Loan from an intermediate REFEERATZER
holding company
~ Loan payable —ERER 3,848,434 3,848,434
- Interest payable — RS 386,149 254,549
(b) Key management personnel compensation (b) EEEBEAEBZHE
2020 2019
—ECEF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Salaries and other short-term Fre REMEHESRET
employee benefits 1,660 1,509
Post-employment benefits BIREBEN 10 22
1,670 1,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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33. Subsequent events B.EHEHREE
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has bank borrowing RZZEZZTF+_A=1+—0 ' x5EAR
of HK$901,656,556 repayable by 28 February 2021. On 22 1TfEE 901,656,556 87T ° ]I;Eiﬂ\f?f*
February 2021, an intermediate holding company of the FZAZTN\BRIZEEE - R_T=—F
Company, Great Wall International, has agreed to provide a ZAZT=H  ARRKFEEZERARRN
term loan of HK$901,656,556 to the Group for repaying the EIFRE R E A& E R —2901,656,556
above-mentioned outstanding bank borrowing. The loan IR EBE R - EE LR ERRITE
from Great Wall International is denominated in HK$, interest g o kB RHMBIR E’JEMH?’%?EEHE ﬁﬂ
bearing at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.4% per Tﬁ%%fﬁﬁﬂ%?ﬁg FIZDN1.4% - WEF
annum and is repayable by February 2022. B FRARRHER -

34. Approval of the financial statements 34. MR Z
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the K“/\Eﬁ%iﬁi ERZZE—F=HANBE
Board of Directors on 9 March 2021. EEedE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
4 B 5 R

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA KPR IS
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-BLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
(in HKS millions, unless otherwise stated)  (BEAT * BB EAM) ECER 0k “E-\E “I-tf “EF
OPERATING RESULTS £
Revenue e 130 168 145 123 92
Adjusted operating (loss)/profitt** TRRAE (BR) /B (38) 70 51 44 3
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment RENENTE
properties (Bi)/ W& (1n) 169 401 m 118
Operating (loss)/profit e (BR) /B (208) 239 454 268 150
Share of profits/losses) of associates EEBENTRR/ (B8 58 497 20 0 i)
Income tax expense Fﬁ ﬁ}i A ) (6) (6) (12) @)
Net (loss)/profitattributable to RREGRESREERH LT
Shareholders from continuing operations  (E5#8) /& (320) 487 583 252 308
Net loss)/profitattributable o Shareholders —~ RREMRECRIHELEK 25
from discontinued operations (E)/ & - = - - 1,408
Net loss)/profit attributable to REIE(EF (B / BA

Shareholders (320) 487 583 252 1716

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK EERER
Adjusted operating loss)/profit pershare ~ BRITARAE (F8)/BA|
(inHK cents) () (242) 446 33 283 201
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SRER (B8 /A
(in HK cents) (7&L) (20.38) 31.06 31.22 15.89 109.49
Diluted adjusted operating (oss)/ %@%f?‘“?ﬂ%@ 5
profit per share (in HK cents) Ei8) /BH (& (2.42) 446 3.3 283 201
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share x?%ﬁfﬁ (B8)/R W‘I
(in HK cents) (&) (20.38) 31.06 3.0 15.89 109.49
Dividend per share (in HK cents) SRR (&) - = - -
Net asset value per share (in HKS) SREEFE(ET) 1.68 189 1.58 121 107
FINANCIAL POSITION R
Property, plant and equipment ER Y E 532 632 4 5 2
Total assets legE 7839 8,032 7513 3,363 1715
Loan from an intermediate holding REFEERAFZER
company (3,848) (3.848) (3915) (1,436) -
Loan from anon-controlling Shareholder ~ RE— &3 EHIERE & - - - - -
Totalliabilities BafE (5,198) (5073) (5,041) (1471) (36)
Net assets attributable to Shareholders R EERE 2,641 2959 2473 1892 1679
Number of Shares in issue BEIRAEE 1,567,745,596 1,567,745,596 1,567,745,596 1,967,745,596 1,567,745,596
KEY RATIOS EZE
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit torevenue  ES3ERE (Ei8) / BRIGMEI 2 -29% 4% 35% 36% 34%
Return on average equity TRARRE 1141% 17.93% 26.75% 14.00% 12.32%
Return on average tofal assets THERENRE -4,03% 6.26% 10.73% 991% 11.30%
Gearing AEARLX 63.2% 60.7% 65.5% 41.1% -
Current assets to current iabilities THAEHLRBAR 25% 399% 177% 4956% 4.35%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (Continued)
4 s i (5)

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Continued) REEN S (&)

The financial results for media business for the years ended HZE-Z—+t&K-_FT— F+-_A=+—HIt
31 December 2017 and 2016 were presented as discontinued FERBEK I MKEBE2NADRIEEEE
operations. 1% e

*** Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before other — *** ARG LA FIR T AR EHMRA R E Y E
income and fair value gain on investment properties. N EWES 2 LB RF -
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GLOSSARY
] %

“Board”

[EFg]

“Bye-Laws”
[ARAA ]

“China” or “PRC”
[

“Company”

[ARRA [ RMIREER

“Corporate Governance Code”
[ Ee~Fa ]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Great Wall International”

B=374=00 3

*  For identification purpose only

* EHEE

the board of directors of the Company

RRRIEFE

the Bye-Laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBEEHERT 2 R w48

the People’s Republic of China
RREE A R HAE

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued
Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 583)

RPIRGERBRLAFY  —KRBEREZMRILNERCERA
A] - HEEITRGORBER A ER i (RS - 583)

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules
AR BB+ U PR O K R B R SFAID

(a) director(s) of the Company
PiN/NYST ===

China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Company
Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong
Kong with limited liability and a controlling Shareholder of the
Company
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]

“GFOUD”, “We”, or “our”

[R5k )

“GWAMCC”

[FEENEE]
“HK$”
[T

“Hong Kong”
[&&]

”

“Latest Practicable Date

[RIEERRAITTH A
“Listing Rules
[ Em#RA]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum of Association and
Bye-Laws”
[FEE =R NSNS F N

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

RARRETEZHEBAR]

China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd., a financial
conglomerate engaged in a broad range of integrated financial
services and an ultimate controlling Shareholder of the
Company

PERMEEEERNERAR  —HARRERZGEERBRECE
BERRARR R 2 HBTERKRE

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BREEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REE BRI TR

21 April 2021
—E--fFMA=+—H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (as amended from time to time)

B FTRE 5 E AR A (B TRER])

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by
the Stock Exchange which is independent of and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange
BMRXAEENELRX S (TRENETS) - BB 00 B
FTGEM I 1TE(E

the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the

Company, as amended from time to time
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“Model Code”

“SFC”

ﬁ
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“SFO”

[ 78 75 & B 15 f51 |

“Share(s)”

[ Rt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 3

“Stock Exchange”
[ B2 FA

“Us$”

E

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
FHRBINEE BN ETETAZEZTETESF R HNFREST
)

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BErEFAMEEHERLZE®

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time)

BBEDIFEST BERFLBEGERN (BTEHERT - MARSARMT
HAEH)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the
Company
ARARIARFIEE10E T2 B

holder(s) of Share(s) from time to time

T Z B FAA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMARZAERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

of America

XL ENBERBEDEEEH
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\ . GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OFA P52 5 M7 2 A7 PR ZA )
(Stock Code AL 55 © 583)

T EREBIE 12 SRR BRAT 0 21
21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
www.gwpaholdings.com

* For identification purpose only
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